

## Dealdoc

Development, licensing and marketing agreement for Namenda XR (memantine HCI extended release) and donepezil HCI

Forest Laboratories Adamas Pharmaceuticals

Nov 14 2012

# Development, licensing and marketing agreement for Namenda XR (memantine HCl extended release) and donepezil HCl

Companies: Forest Laboratories
Adamas Pharmaceuticals

Announcement date: Nov 14 2012
Amendment date: Jan 09 2015

Deal value, US\$m: 160 : sum of upfront and future development and FDA approval

milestones

- Details
- Financials
- Termsheet
- Press Release
- Filing Data
- Contract

## **Details**

Announcement date: Nov 14 2012
Amendment date: Jan 09 2015
Start date: Nov 13 2012
Bigpharma

Industry sectors: Bigpharma

Drug delivery
Pharmaceutical

Brand name: Namenda XR
Compound name: Memantine
Asset type: Compound

Therapy areas: Psychiatry » Dementia

Psychiatry » Dementia » Alzheimers

Technology types:

Drug delivery » Oral delivery » Delayed release

Small molecules Development

Deal components: Licensing

Marketing Formulation

Stages of development: Formulation

Geographic focus: North America » United States

## **Financials**

Deal value, US\$m: 160 : sum of upfront and future development and FDA approval

milestones

**Upfront, US\$m:** 65 : upfront payment

20 : development milestone payment20 : development milestone payment

25 : upon FDA acceptance of an NDA for a fixed-dose

memantine-donepezil product covered by the license agreement

Milestones, US\$m: 30 : upon FDA approval of such a product

40 : completion of studies that support the planned New Drug

Application filing on Jan. 2014

25: milestone resulted from acceptance of the New Drug Application for

MDX-8704 on May 2014

n/d : royalties at rates ranging from the low double digits to the

Royalty rates, %: mid-teens on the net sales

Semi-quant royalties: Low teens Mid teens

## **Termsheet**

20 May 2014

Adamas Pharmaceuticals has received a \$25 million milestone payment from Forest Laboratories related to the development of MDX-8704.

MDX-8704, a fixed-dosed combination (FDC) of memantine HCl extended release capsules and donepezil HCl, is being developed as a once daily therapy for the treatment of moderate-to-severe dementia of the Alzheimer's type in the United States.

The \$25 million milestone payment was paid to Adamas as a result of the Food and Drug Administration's (FDA) acceptance of the New Drug Application for MDX-8704.

Pursuant to the license agreement between Forest and Adamas, Forest paid Adamas a \$65 million upfront payment in November 2012 and \$40 million in the fourth quarter of 2013 for work related to the development of MDX-8704.

Subsequent to this most recent \$25 million payment, there is up to a \$30 million milestone payable upon FDA approval.

Also under the terms of the license agreement, Adamas will receive royalties on US net sales of Namenda XR and MDX-8704 beginning five years after their launches.

09 January 2014

Adamas Pharmaceuticals has received \$40 million in milestone payments from Forest Laboratories for MDX-8704.

MDX-8704 is a fixed dosed combination (FDC) of Namenda XR® (memantine HCl extended release capsules) and donepezil HCl being developed as a once daily therapy for the treatment of moderate-to-severe dementia of the Alzheimer's type in the United States.

The milestone payments are for the successful completion of studies that support the planned New Drug Application (NDA) filing with the US FDA for MDX-8704.

## 14 November 2012

Forest Laboratories and Adamas Pharmaceuticals have entered into an agreement for the development and commercialization of a fixed dosed combination of Namenda XR (memantine HCl extended release) and donepezil HCl as a once daily therapy for the treatment of moderate to severe dementia of the Alzheimer's type in the United States.

Forest and Adamas will collaborate on the development of the FDC and Forest will have exclusive US commercialization rights.

Forest is responsible for all development and commercialization activities.

Based on a development plan agreed to by Adamas and the FDA, the FDC is expected to launch in 2015 following FDA approval.

Pursuant to the agreement, Forest will pay Adamas \$65 million upfront and up to \$95 million in future development and FDA approval milestones.

Adamas will receive royalties on US net sales beginning 5 years after launch for FDC products and any additional memantine products for which Adamas' patents are listed in the FDA's Orange Book.

## **Press Release**

January 2015

Adamas Pharmaceuticals (ADMS) Receives \$30 Million Milestone Payment From Actavis (ACT)

EMERYVILLE, Calif., Jan. 8, 2015 (GLOBE NEWSWIRE) -- Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Nasdaq:ADMS) announced today that it has received a \$30 million milestone payment from Forest Laboratories Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of Actavis plc, based on the recent FDA approval of Namzaric<sup>TM</sup>, formerly known as MDX-8704. Adamas developed a fixed-dose combination of memantine hydrochloride extended-release (a NMDA receptor antagonist) and donepezil hydrochloride (an acetylcholinesterase inhibitor) initially, and Namzaric is the first and only such fixed-dose combination approved by the FDA for the treatment of moderate to severe dementia of the Alzheimer's type in patients stabilized on memantine hydrochloride and donepezil hydrochloride. Namzaric is covered by multiple Adamas US patents that extend up to

"Namzaric is the second product covered by Adamas' patents licensed in the US to Forest, that has been approved for patients suffering with Alzheimer's disease," said Gregory T. Went, Ph.D., Chairman and CEO of Adamas. "This milestone achievement provides continuing evidence of the potential of our technology platform to enhance the pharmacokinetics properties of existing drugs -- alone and in fixed-dose combinations. Beyond Namzaric, there are many existing neurology drugs that represent opportunities for substantial therapeutic improvement under the Adamas technology platform either in conjunction with development partners, or as new products or indications that Adamas can develop and launch on its own, as we are doing with ADS-5102 (amantadine HCI)."

#### **About Adamas**

Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is a specialty pharmaceutical company driven to improve the lives of those affected by chronic disorders of the central nervous system. The company achieves this by modifying the pharmacokinetic profiles of approved drugs to create novel therapeutics for use alone or in fixed-dose combination products. Adamas is currently developing its lead wholly-owned product candidate, ADS-5102, for a complication of Parkinson's disease known as levodopa-induced dyskinesia, or LID, and is evaluating other potential indications. The company's portfolio also includes two approved products developed with Forest. The first is a fixed-dose combination product, Namzaric, and the second is a controlled-release product, Namenda XR®. Forest markets both products in the United States under an exclusive license from Adamas. For more information, please visit www.adamaspharma.com.

20 May 2014

Emeryville's Adamas Pharmaceuticals (ADMS) Bags \$25 Million Milestone Payment From Forest Laboratories, Inc. (FRX)

Adamas Pharmaceuticals Receives \$25 Million Milestone Payment From Forest Laboratories EMERYVILLE, Calif., May 20, 2014 /PRNewswire/
-- Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Nasdaq: ADMS) announced today that it has received a \$25 million milestone payment from Forest
Laboratories Holdings Limited related to the development of MDX-8704. MDX-8704, a fixed-dosed combination (FDC) of memantine HCI
extended release capsules and donepezil HCI, is being developed as a once daily therapy for the treatment of moderate-to-severe dementia of
the Alzheimer's type in the United States.

The \$25 million milestone payment was paid to Adamas as a result of the Food and Drug Administration's (FDA) acceptance of the New Drug Application for MDX-8704. Pursuant to the license agreement between Forest and Adamas, Forest paid Adamas a \$65 million upfront payment in November 2012 and \$40 million in the fourth quarter of 2013 for work related to the development of MDX-8704. Subsequent to this most recent \$25 million payment, there is up to a \$30 million milestone payable upon FDA approval. Also under the terms of the license agreement, Adamas will receive royalties on US net sales of Namenda XR® and MDX-8704 beginning five years after their launches.

Leveraging Adamas' know-how and intellectual property, the companies are collaborating on the development of MDX-8704, for which Forest has exclusive US commercialization rights. Forest is also responsible for all US regulatory-related activities. Adamas retains exclusive commercialization rights outside the US. MDX-8704 is covered by a Forest patent and multiple Adamas patents that extend up to 2029.

About Adamas Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is a specialty pharmaceutical company driven to improve the lives of those affected by chronic disorders of the central nervous system (CNS). The company achieves this by modifying the pharmacokinetic profiles of approved drugs to create novel therapeutics for use alone and in fixed-dose combination products. Adamas is currently developing its lead wholly-owned product candidate, ADS-5102, for a complication of Parkinson's disease (PD) known as levodopa-induced dyskinesia (LID) and as a treatment for chronic behavioral symptoms associated with traumatic brain injury (TBI). The company's portfolio also includes a fixed-dose combination product candidate, MDX-8704, being developed with Forest Laboratories, Inc. and an approved controlled-release product Namenda XR®, which Forest developed and is marketing in the United States under an exclusive license from Adamas. For more information, please visit www.adamaspharma.com.

Namenda XR® is a registered trademark of Merz Pharma GmbH & Co. KGaA.

09 January 2014

Adamas Pharmaceuticals Bags \$40 Million From Forest Laboratories, Inc. (FRX) For Alzheimer's Drug NDA Filing

Adamas Pharmaceuticals Earns \$40 Million in Milestone Payments from Forest Laboratories for MDX-8704

EMERYVILLE, Calif., Jan. 9, 2014 /PRNewswire/ -- Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. announced today that it has received \$40 million in milestone payments from Forest Laboratories Holdings Limited (NYSE: FRX) for MDX-8704. MDX-8704 is a fixed dosed combination (FDC) of Namenda XR® (memantine HCl extended release capsules) and donepezil HCl being developed as a once daily therapy for the treatment of moderate-to-severe dementia of the Alzheimer's type in the United States. The milestone payments are for the successful completion of studies that support the planned New Drug Application (NDA) filing with the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for MDX-8704 by Forest in the first half of 2014. These studies are based on a development plan agreed to by Adamas and the FDA prior to its license agreement with Forest. Leveraging Adamas' know-how and intellectual property, the companies are collaborating on the development of the FDC, for which Forest has exclusive US commercialization rights. Forest is responsible for all regulatory-related activities. MDX-8704 is covered by multiple Adamas and Forest patents that extend to 2029.

Pursuant to their license agreement for development and commercialization of MDX-8704, Forest paid Adamas \$65 million upfront in November 2012, and these \$40 million payments are part of up to \$95 million in subsequent development and regulatory approval milestones. In addition, under the terms of the license agreement, Adamas will receive royalties beginning five years after launch on US net sales of FDC products and any additional memantine products for which Adamas' patents are listed in the FDA's Orange Book.

About Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Adamas Pharmaceuticals is dedicated to improving the lives of those affected by central nervous system (CNS) disorders by enhancing the pharmacokinetic profiles of approved drugs to create novel treatments for use alone and as components of fixed-dose combination products. The Company is currently advancing a pipeline of aminoadamantane-based drug candidates for the treatment of Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, and other CNS disorders. The Phase 2/3 EASED study investigating ADS-5102 (amantadine HCI ER) for the treatment of levodopa-induced dyskinesia in Parkinson's disease has been completed and met its primary endpoint. MDX-8704 (memantine HCI ER/donepezil) is a fixed-dose combination product candidate in late-stage investigation for the treatment of dementia associated with Alzheimer's disease. In November 2012, Adamas entered into an agreement with Forest Laboratories, Inc. for the development and commercialization of MDX-8704 in the United States. Adamas plans to advance its product candidates through approval and to commercialize approved products in the United States through a specialty CNS sales force. For more information about Adamas, please visit www.adamaspharma.com.

#### 14 November 2012

Forest Laboratories, Inc. (FRX) and Adamas Pharmaceuticals Form Alliance for Up to \$160 Million

NEW YORK & EMERYVILLE, Calif.--(BUSINESS WIRE)-- Forest Laboratories, Inc. (FRX), an international pharmaceutical company, and Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. announced today that they have entered into an agreement for the development and commercialization of a fixed dosed combination (FDC) of Namenda XR® (memantine HCl extended release) and donepezil HCl as a once daily therapy for the treatment of moderate to severe dementia of the Alzheimer's type in the United States. Under the agreement, Forest and Adamas will collaborate on the development of the FDC and Forest will have exclusive US commercialization rights. Forest is responsible for all development and commercialization activities. Namenda XR® is Forest's FDA approved, once daily formulation of its successful Alzheimer's therapy Namenda®. Based on a development plan agreed to by Adamas and the FDA, the FDC is expected to launch in 2015 following FDA approval. The product will be covered by multiple Adamas patents that extend to 2029. Forest sells Namenda in the U.S. under a 2000 license from Merz & Co. GmbH & Co.

Pursuant to the agreement, Forest will pay Adamas \$65 million upfront and up to \$95 million in future development and FDA approval milestones. Adamas will receive royalties on US net sales beginning 5 years after launch for FDC products and any additional memantine products for which Adamas' patents are listed in the FDA's Orange Book.

"We are pleased to enter into this partnership with Adamas, which will enable us to enhance our life cycle program for Namenda," said Howard Solomon, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President of Forest. "Adamas has made impressive progress with its combination extended release memantine and donepezil program. Forest is the ideal company to complete the development of this product and commercialize it in the US, in light of our successful track record in the field of Alzheimer's disease with Namenda. Over 60% of Namenda patients already take Namenda together with an acetylcholinesterase inhibitor like donepezil, which creates a substantial market opportunity for this fixed dose combination product. Namenda and donepezil work in different ways and studies support that when used together they improve cognition, function, and behavior in some patients with moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease. This new fixed combination, which reduces the pill requirement from three tablets to one and the dosing frequency from two times per day to once per day, can benefit physicians, caregivers, and patients."

Gregory T. Went, Chief Executive Officer of Adamas Pharmaceuticals said: "We are pleased to partner with Forest, the market leader in Alzheimer's products, to bring our fixed dose combination of extended release memantine and donepezil – the first such combination therapy for Alzheimer's disease – to the US market. This collaboration will accelerate this innovative product's development towards a 2014 US NDA filling, and allow Adamas to focus our attention on the ex-US market for the product and to continue the ongoing development of NurelinTM, our late-stage product candidate for the treatment of CNS disorders, including Parkinson's disease."

## About Adamas Pharmaceuticals

Adamas Pharmaceuticals, based in Emeryville, California with operations in Bangalore, India, is the leading developer of aminoadamantane-based therapeutics for CNS disorders. The company's research and development platform is focused on developing controlled release versions and optimized fixed dose combinations of aminoadamantanes to address major dosing and titration challenges that limit the use of currently available therapeutics. Adamas is advancing two programs from this platform. Nurelin (amantadine HCl extended release capsules) is currently in Phase 3 clinical studies, initially for levodopa-induced dyskinesia in patients with Parkinson's disease. A registration program is also underway for the fixed dose combination of memantine HCl extended release and donepezil HCl for Alzheimer's disease. Both products are designed to improve tolerability and clinical efficacy, and to provide superior clinical and health economic benefits. For more information about Adamas, please visit www.adamaspharma.com.

About Forest Laboratories

Forest Laboratories' (FRX) longstanding global partnerships and track record developing and marketing pharmaceutical products in the United States have yielded its well-established central nervous system and cardiovascular franchises and innovations in anti-infective, respiratory, gastrointestinal, and pain management medicine. Forest's pipeline, the most robust in its history, includes product candidates in all stages of development across a wide range of therapeutic areas. Forest is headquartered in New York, NY. To learn more, visit www.FRX.com.

Except for the historical information contained herein, this release contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements involve a number of risks and uncertainties, including the difficulty of predicting FDA approvals, the acceptance and demand for new pharmaceutical products, the impact of competitive products and pricing, the timely development and launch of new products, and the risk factors listed from time to time in Forest Laboratories' Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and any subsequent SEC filings. Forest assumes no obligation to update forward looking statements contained in this release to reflect new information or future events or developments.

10Q abstract - Q4, 2012

On November 14, 2012, the Company announced an agreement with Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (Adamas) for the development and commercialization of a fixed dosed combination (FDC) of Namenda XRTM (memantine HCI extended release) and donepezil HCI which will be a daily therapy for the treatment of moderate to severe dementia of the Alzheimer's type. Pursuant to the agreement, the Company made an upfront payment of \$65 million during the quarter ended December 31, 2012 which was recorded in Research and development expense (R&D). The Company may pay up to \$95 million in future milestones. The Company will have exclusive commercialization rights for this FDC in the United States.

## **Filing Data**

S1 abstract - 2014

In November 2012, we entered in a license agreement with a wholly owned subsidiary of Forest. Subject to the terms of the license agreement, we granted Forest an exclusive license, with the right to sublicense, under the relevant elements of our intellectual property, to commercialize human therapeutics containing memantine in the United States; a co-exclusive license along with us, with the right to sublicense, to develop and manufacture such products in the United States; and a non-exclusive license, with a right to sublicense, to develop and manufacture (but not commercialize) such products outside of the United States solely in support of the development or commercialization of such products within the United States. The license agreement establishes a joint development committee consisting of representatives from us and Forest to oversee the development of a fixed-dose memantine-donepezil product, such as MDX-8704, in the United States with Forest having final decision making authority with certain restrictions. Forest is required to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop such a product in accordance with development and regulatory plans that we and Forest have mutually agreed upon that may be modified by the joint development committee or by Forest pursuant to the terms of the agreement. Forest is responsible for paying all costs associated with such development and reimburses us on a cost-plus basis for work performed by us at its request in support of the development. In addition, Forest is required at its expense to use commercially reasonable efforts to commercialize fixed-dose memantine-donepezil product in the United States.

In connection with the execution of the license agreement, Forest made a non-refundable, upfront payment to us of \$65 million. In the fourth quarter of 2013, Forest made two payments to us of \$20 million each relating to the satisfaction of certain development milestones. In addition, Forest is required to make aggregate milestone payments to us of up to \$55 million upon the occurrence of certain regulatory milestones, including up to \$25 million upon FDA acceptance of an NDA for a fixed-dose memantine-donepezil product covered by the license agreement and up to \$30 million upon FDA approval of such a product. Commencing five years after the initial launch of a fixed-dose memantine-donepezil product in the United States, we are entitled to receive royalties at rates ranging from the low double digits to the mid-teens on the net sales by Forest, its affiliates and any sublicensees of such products in the United States. In addition, commencing in June of 2018, we are entitled to receive low to mid single digit royalties on net sales in the United States by Forest, its affiliates or any of its sublicensees of controlled-release versions of memantine, such as Namenda XR, or any other product covered by the terms of the license agreement. Forest's obligation to pay royalties with respect to fixed-dose memantine-donepezil products continues until the later of (i) 15 years after the commercial launch of the first fixed-dose memantine-donepezil product by Forest in the United States or (ii) the expiration of the Orange Book listed patents for which Forest obtained rights from us covering such product. Forest's obligations to pay royalties with respect to controlled-release versions of memantine or any other product covered by the agreement continue until the expiration of our Orange Book listed patents covering such product. Forest's obligations to pay royalties are subject to reduction in certain circumstances. In addition, Forest shall have no obligation to pay any royalty with respect to any product covered by the license agreement in any quarter in which there is significant competition from generic products, as defined in the agreement, in the United States. If we or our affiliates develop or commercialize the licensed products outside of the United States (other than in Japan) or otherwise enable a third party to do so, and such development or commercialization requires the use of or reference to certain data generated pursuant to the development plan, we will be obligated to make certain payments to Forest.

The license agreement terminates on a product by product basis upon the expiration of all royalty obligations with respect to each product and terminates in its entirety upon the expiration of all royalty obligations with respect to all products covered by the license agreement. Upon expiration of the license agreement with respect to a product, all licenses and other rights granted to Forest by us with respect to that product become fully paid up and irrevocable. In addition, Forest may terminate the license agreement with respect to fixed-dose memantine-donepezil products by delivering to us notice of its intent to cease development and commercialization of such products.

If Forest fails to make certain milestone payments to us by specified dates and within five business days after receiving notice from us of such failure again fails to make the required payment, then the license agreement automatically terminates with respect to fixed-dose memantine-donepezil products. Prior to Forest's payment of all of the milestones payments that may become due under the license agreement, we can seek to terminate the license agreement with respect to fixed-dose memantine-donepezil products in the event that Forest has materially breached its obligation to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop those products, subject to customary notice provisions. Otherwise, our remedy for any breach of the license agreement by Forest is to seek damages or equitable relief, not termination of the license agreement. Furthermore, we have no right to terminate the license agreement with respect to controlled-release version of memantine or other products that are not fixed-dose memantine-donepezil products.

are not fixed-dose memantine-donepezil products.
Contract
LICENSE AGREEMENT
BY AND BETWEEN
FOREST LABORATORIES HOLDINGS LIMITED
AND
ADAMAS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
DATED AS OF NOVEMBER 13, 2012
TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page
ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
1
ARTICLE II
GRANTS OF RIGHTS
15
2.1
Grants of Rights
15
2.2
Rights Retained by the Parties
17
2.3
Section 365(n) of the Bankruptcy Code
17
2.4
Exclusivity; [*]
18
2.5

Ownership of Regulatory Filings; Transfer of Regulatory Filings

18
2.6
Assignment of Contracts
18
ARTICLE III
MANUFACTURING AND TECH TRANSFER
19
3.1
Transfer of Adamas Know-How
19
3.2
Supply of Donepezil [*]
21
3.3
Coordination of Certain Supply
21
3.4
Regulatory Inspection
Regulatory Inspection 21
21
21 ARTICLE IV
21 ARTICLE IV DEVELOPMENT
21 ARTICLE IV DEVELOPMENT 22
21 ARTICLE IV DEVELOPMENT 22 4.1
21 ARTICLE IV DEVELOPMENT 22 4.1 General
21 ARTICLE IV DEVELOPMENT 22 4.1 General
21 ARTICLE IV DEVELOPMENT 22 4.1 General 22 4.2
21 ARTICLE IV DEVELOPMENT 22 4.1 General 22 4.2 Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product
21 ARTICLE IV DEVELOPMENT 22 4.1 General 22 4.2 Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product 22
21 ARTICLE IV DEVELOPMENT 22 4.1 General 22 4.2 Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product 22 4.3
21 ARTICLE IV DEVELOPMENT 22 4.1 General 22 4.2 Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product 22 4.3 Development of Other Products
21 ARTICLE IV DEVELOPMENT 22 4.1 General 22 4.2 Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product 22 4.3 Development of Other Products 26

## ARTICLE V COMMERCIALIZATION 28 5.1 General 28 5.2 Commercialization Updates 28 5.3 Conduct of Commercialization 28 5.4 Promotion of the FDC Products 29 ARTICLE VI FINANCIAL PROVISIONS 29 6.1 Initial License Payments 29 6.2 Development and Commercialization Costs 29 6.3 **Event Milestone Payments** 29 6.4 Product Royalties and Other Payments 30 6.5 Reports; Payments 35

6.6

Books and Records; Audit Rights
35
6.7
Tax Matters
36
6.8
Payment Method and Currency Conversion
37
6.9
Late Payments
37
6.10
Other Amounts Due
38
[*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page
ARTICLE VII
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OWNERSHIP, PROTECTION AND RELATED MATTERS
38
7.1
Joint IP Working Group
38
7.2
Joint Know-How and Patents
38
7.3
Prosecution and Maintenance of Patent Rights
39
7.4
Third Party Infringement of Adamas Patent Rights
43
7.5
Enforcement of Joint Intellectual Property

 $\hbox{@}\,2024$  Biopharma Research Ltd. All rights reserved.

45
7.6
Patent Invalidity Claim
45
7.7
Claimed Infringement
46
7.8
Patent Term Extensions
47
7.9
Patent Marking
47
7.10
Interpretation of Patent Judgments
47
7.11
Certification under Drug Price Competition and Patent Restoration Act
48
7.12
Adamas Product Trademark Rights
49
7.13
Privileged Communications
50
ARTICLE VIII
CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION
51
8.1
Treatment of Confidential Information
51
8.2
Confidential Information

8.3
Registration, Filing and Disclosure of the Agreement
52
8.4
Publications
52
8.5
Press Releases and Other Disclosures
53
8.6
Product Information
54
ARTICLE IX
REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS
54
9.1
Adamas' Representations
54
9.2
Forest's Representations
58
9.3
Adamas Covenants
59
9.4
Forest Covenants
59
9.5
Mutual Covenants
60
9.6
No Warranty
60

ARTICLE X

INDEMNIFICATION
60
10.1
Indemnification in Favor of Adamas
60
10.2
Indemnification in Favor of Forest
61
10.3
General Indemnification Procedures
62
10.4
Insurance
63
10.5
No Consequential or Punitive Damages
63
[*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page
ARTICLE XI
TERM AND TERMINATION
64
11.1
Term
64
11.2
Termination Rights for FDC Products
64
11.3
Damages In Lieu of Termination for Cause
65
11.4

Termination for Cause
65
11.5
Termination for Insolvency
66
11.6
Effect of Termination; Accrued Rights and Obligations
66
11.7
Survival
67
ARTICLE XII
MISCELLANEOUS
67
12.1
Governing Law; Jurisdiction
67
12.2
Dispute Resolution; Arbitration
67
12.3
Waiver
69
12.4
Notices
69
12.5
Entire Agreement
70
12.6
Severability
70
12.7

Assignment

12.8
Counterparts; Exchange by Facsimile
71
12.9
Force Majeure
71
12.10
Third-Party Beneficiaries
72
12.11
Relationship of the Parties
72
12.12
Performance by Affiliates
72
12.13
Further Assurance
72
[*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
iii
LICENSE AGREEMENT
THIS LICENSE AGREEMENT is entered into this 13th day of November, 2012 (the "Effective Date"), by and between Forest Laboratories Holdings Limited, a corporation organized under the laws of the Republic of Ireland, having a business address at Cumberland House, 9th Floor, 1 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda ("Forest"), an indirect, wholly owned subsidiary of Forest Laboratories, Inc. ("Forest Parent"), and Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, having a business address at 2200 Powell Street, Suite 220, Emeryville, California 94608 ("Adamas").
WHEREAS, Adamas has developed rights to Adamas Know-How (as hereinafter defined) and Adamas Patent Rights (as hereinafter defined); and
WHEREAS, Forest desires to obtain a license under the Adamas Patent Rights, Adamas Product Trademark Rights and the Adamas Know-How

to Develop, Manufacture and Commercialize Products (as hereinafter defined), under the terms and conditions set forth herein, and Adamas

The following terms, whether used in the singular or plural, shall have the following meanings:

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties agree as follows:

desires to grant such a license.

ARTICLE I

**DEFINITIONS** 

- 1.1 "Act". Act means both the US Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as amended from time to time, and the regulations promulgated under the foregoing.
- 1.2 "Adamas Donepezil Formulation". Adamas Donepezil Formulation means: (a) that certain [\*] formulation of Donepezil existing as of the Effective Date that is proprietary to Adamas, as transferred by Adamas to Forest after the Effective Date pursuant to Section 3.1(c), and (b) any Adamas Donepezil Formulation Modifications.
- 1.3 "Adamas Donepezil Formulation Modification". Adamas Donepezil Formulation Modification has the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.
- 1.4 "Adamas Ex-US Patent Rights". Adamas Ex-US Patent Rights means all Patent Rights outside the Territory Controlled by Adamas or its Affiliates as of the Effective Date or at any time during the Term that are necessary or useful for the Development or Manufacture of any Product(s).
- 1.5 "Adamas Intellectual Property". Adamas Intellectual Property means the Adamas Know-How and the Adamas Patent Rights.
- 1.6 "Adamas Know-How". Adamas Know-How means subject to Section 2.1(d), all Know-How (a) Controlled by Adamas or its Affiliates as of the Effective Date; or (b) Controlled by Adamas or its Affiliates at any time after the Effective Date during the Term that (in the case
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
- of (b)) is developed, created, conceived or first reduced to practice by or on behalf of Adamas or its Affiliates in connection with the Development, Manufacture or Commercialization of the Product(s); in each case of (a) and (b) above, to the extent necessary for the Development, Manufacture or Commercialization of any Product(s). Without limiting the foregoing, all Know-How listed on Schedule 1.6 are included within Adamas Know-How. For clarity, the Adamas Know-How excludes the [\*]. Any and all Adamas Donepezil Formulations are included as part of the Adamas Know-How, whether or not satisfying the other requirements of this definition.
- 1.7 "Adamas Memantine Patent Rights". Adamas Memantine Patent Rights means those Adamas Patent Rights in the Territory that [\*] and [\*]. The Adamas Memantine Patent Rights as of the Effective Date are listed on Schedule 1.7.
- 1.8 "Adamas Patent Rights". Adamas Patent Rights means subject to Section 2.1(d), all Patent Rights in the Territory that (a) are Controlled by Adamas or its Affiliates as of the Effective Date or at any time during the Term and (b) are necessary or useful for the Development, Manufacture or Commercialization of any Product(s). For clarity, the Parties acknowledge that Adamas owns certain Patent Rights as of the Effective Date that are [\*], but [\*] ("Related Adamas Patent Rights"); consequently, the Parties agree that such Related Adamas Patent Rights are [\*] and that [\*] (except as expressly set forth in Section [\*] or as otherwise expressly provided herein), under this Agreement with respect to such Related Adamas Patent Rights, as long as [\*]. The Adamas Patent Rights shall [\*] and to the extent [\*] and [\*]. For clarity, the Adamas Patent Rights exclude the [\*].
- 1.9 "Adamas Product Trademark Rights". Adamas Product Trademark Rights means: (a) the Trademark Rights with respect to the ARIMENDA™ trade mark that are Controlled by Adamas or its Affiliates; and (b) the domain names Controlled by Adamas incorporating the ARIMENDA™ trade mark as their URL address or any part of such address for domains (other than country-specific domains outside the Territory), in each case, as listed on Schedule 1.9.
- 1.10 "Affiliate". Affiliate means any Person directly or indirectly controlled by, controlling or under common control with, a Party, but only for so long as such control shall continue. For purposes of this definition, "control" (including, with correlative meanings, "controlled by", "controlling" and "under common control with") means, with respect to a Person, possession, direct or indirect, of (a) the power to direct or cause direction of the management and policies of such Person (whether through ownership of securities or partnership or other ownership interests, by contract or otherwise), or (b) at least 50% of the voting securities or other comparable equity interests. For clarity, neither of the Parties shall be deemed to be an "Affiliate" of the other.
- 1.11 "Authorized Generics". Authorized Generics means, with respect to a particular Product being sold in a particular country, a pharmaceutical product that (a) is the same formulation and [\*] the applicable Product, (b) is Commercialized by Forest, its Affiliate or a Third Party that has been granted a right to sell such pharmaceutical product by Forest or its Affiliates or Sublicensees under an NDA for such Product for which Forest, its Affiliate or Sublicensee is the applicant, (c) is [\*] such Product (as sold by Forest and its Affiliates [\*]), and (d) [\*] for such Product (other than [\*]).
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

- 1.12 "Bankruptcy Code". Bankruptcy Code means Title 11 of the US Code, as amended from time to time.
- 1.13 "Business Day". Business Day means a day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which banking institutions in New York, New York or Dublin, Ireland are authorized by Law to remain closed.

- 1.14 "Calendar Quarter". Calendar Quarter means each of the periods ending on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of any Calendar Year.
- 1.15 "Calendar Year". Calendar Year means each calendar year during the Term.
- 1.16 "Change of Control". Change of Control means, with respect to a Party or other Person:
- (a) the bona fide acquisition by any Person or group (within the meaning of Sections 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) of beneficial ownership of any capital stock of such Party (or any direct or indirect parent thereof), if after such acquisition, such Person or group would be the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), directly or indirectly, of securities of such Party or any direct or indirect parent of such Party representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of such Party's then-outstanding securities entitled to vote generally in the election of directors;
- (b) the consummation after approval by a Party's (or any direct or indirect parent's thereof) stockholders of a bona fide merger or consolidation of such Party (or any direct or indirect parent thereof), with any other Person, other than a merger or consolidation which would result in such Party's (or any direct or indirect parent's thereof) voting securities outstanding immediately prior to such consummation continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity) more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of such Party's (or any direct or indirect parent's thereof) voting securities or such surviving entity's voting securities outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation; or
- (c) the bona fide sale, lease, transfer, exclusive license or other disposition, in a single transaction or series of related transactions, by a Party (or any direct or indirect parent thereof) of all or substantially all the assets of such Party.
- 1.17 "Cholinesterase Inhibitor". Cholinesterase Inhibitor means a drug or compound that has as a mode of pharmacological activity the inhibition of any cholinesterase enzyme from breaking down acetylcholine (which such mode of pharmacological activity is not incidental to its primary mode of pharmacological activity).
- 1.18 "Commercialization" or "Commercialize". Commercialization or Commercialize means activities directed to obtaining pricing and reimbursement approvals, marketing, promoting, Manufacturing commercial supplies of, distributing, importing, offering for sale or selling a product. For clarity, Commercialization includes conducting Phase IV Clinical Trials.
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

- 1.19 "Commercially Reasonable Efforts". Commercially Reasonable Efforts means, with respect to an objective, the reasonable, diligent, good faith efforts of a Party (including the efforts of its Affiliates and, in the case of Forest, its Sublicensees) of the type to accomplish such objective that [\*] would normally use to accomplish a similar objective, and, specifically with respect to obligations hereunder relating to a Product, the carrying out of such obligations with those efforts and resources that [\*] would use in Developing or Commercializing its own pharmaceutical products that are of similar market potential as the Product, in each case taking into account product labeling or anticipated labeling, present and future market potential, past performance of the Product, financial return, medical and clinical considerations, the extent of legal exclusivity relating to such Product, present and future regulatory environment and competitive market conditions, all as measured by the facts and circumstances at the time such efforts are due.
- 1.20 "Control" or "Controlled". Control or Controlled means, with respect to any tangible property or intellectual property right or other intangible property, the possession (whether by ownership or license (other than pursuant to this Agreement)) by, (a) in the case of Adamas, Adamas or any of its Affiliates or (b) in the case of Forest, Forest or any of its Affiliates, as applicable, in each case ((a) and (b)) of the ability to grant to the other Party access to such tangible property or access to or a license or sublicense to such intellectual property right or other intangible property, as provided herein without violating the terms of any agreement with any Third Party; provided, however, that any subject matter, tangible property or intellectual property right or other intangible property shall not be considered Controlled by a Party or any of its Affiliates if it was Controlled by a Third Party acquirer of such Party (or an Affiliate of such a Third Party (excluding such Party or its Affiliates as of the Effective Date)) (collectively, the "Acquirer") immediately prior to the date of the closing or consummation of such Change of Control of such Party, nor shall any improvement thereto or other subject matter that was developed by the Acquirer after such Change of Control, in each case, without use of any Confidential Information comprising Know-How of the Party that is subject to the Change of Control (or of an entity that was an Affiliate thereof prior to the Change of Control) or the Confidential Information comprising Know-How of the other Party, in each case, unless such use is [\*]. In addition, if rights to a Party's Know-How were granted to the Acquirer [\*] ("[\*]"), then the use of such Party's Know-How in accordance with such grant (and consistent with the exclusive licenses granted under this Agreement) shall not be deemed [\*] for purposes of the foregoing; provided that such [\*] were granted [\*] that would permit exercise of the licenses [\*] and were not granted [\*] or [\*] from the provisions o
- 1.21 "Cover", "Covering" or "Covered". Cover, Covering or Covered means, with respect to a compound, product, technology, process or method that, in the absence of ownership of or a license granted under a Valid Claim or Patent Right, as the case may be, the manufacture, use, offer for sale, sale or importation of such compound or product or the practice of such technology, process or method would infringe such Valid Claim or Patent Right (or, in the case of a claim in a Patent Right that has not yet issued, would infringe such claim if it were to issue without

modification).

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

4

- 1.22 "CREATE Act". CREATE Act means the Cooperative Research and Technology Enhancement Act of 2004, as codified in 35 U.S.C. §§ 103(c)(2)-(c)(3) or, after March 16, 2013, 35 U.S.C. § 102(c) as set forth in the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act of 2011.
- 1.23 "Detail". Detail means that part of [\*] sales call during which a sales representative of Forest or any of its Affiliates or Sublicensees makes a presentation of the FDC Franchise to a physician or other medical professional with prescribing authority (including a nurse practitioner or physician assistant with prescribing authority) provided, that the [\*]. A "Primary Detail" means a Detail during a sales call in which the FDC Franchise is presented first and a "Secondary Detail" means a Detail during a sales call in which the FDC Franchise is presented second.
- 1.24 "Development" or "Develop". Development or Develop means pre-clinical and clinical drug development activities with respect to Memantine or any Product, including IND-enabling toxicology and other IND-enabling pre-clinical development efforts, stability testing, process development, compound property optimization, formulation development, delivery system development, quality assurance and quality control development, statistical analysis, clinical pharmacology, Manufacturing supplies of compounds and products for pre-clinical and clinical use, clinical studies (including pre- and post-approval studies and investigator sponsored clinical studies, but excluding Phase IV Clinical Trials), regulatory affairs, and Regulatory Approval and clinical study regulatory activities (excluding regulatory activities directed to obtaining pricing and reimbursement approvals).
- 1.25 "Development Plan". Development Plan means the plan for the Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products in the Field as agreed to by the Parties in writing as of the Effective Date (the "Initial Development Plan"), as it may be modified from time to time in accordance with this Agreement. The Initial Development Plan is hereby incorporated into this Agreement by reference.
- 1.26 "DM104". DM104 means that certain clinical study of Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product designated as such in the Development Plan, as may be modified from time to time in accordance with this Agreement, a synopsis of which is set forth in the Development Plan.
- 1.27 "DM105". DM105 means that certain clinical study of Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product designated as such in the Development Plan, as may be modified from time to time in accordance with this Agreement, a synopsis of which is set forth in the Development Plan.
- 1.28 "DM303". DM303 means that certain clinical study of Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product designated as such in the Development Plan, as may be modified from time to time in accordance with this Agreement, a synopsis of which is set forth in the Development Plan.
- 1.29 "DM304". DM304 means that certain clinical study of Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product designated as such in the Development Plan, as may be modified from time to time in accordance with this Agreement, a synopsis of which is set forth in the Development Plan.
- 1.30 "DOJ". DOJ means the US Department of Justice.
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

- 1.31 "Donepezil". Donepezil means that certain compound known as donepezil with a chemical structure specified in Schedule 1.31 and each prodrug, solvate, hydrate, ester, salt, stereoisomer, racemate, tautomer, polymorph and metabolite thereof.
- 1.32 "Donepezil [\*]". Donepezil [\*] means [\*] Donepezil in the Adamas Donepezil Formulation existing as of the Effective Date.
- 1.33 "End of Phase II Meeting". End of Phase II Meeting means that certain end of phase II meeting between Adamas and the FDA with respect to Adamas' IND for the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product[\*].
- 1.34 "End of Phase II Meeting Minutes". End of Phase II Meeting Minutes means the official written minutes of the End of Phase II Meeting as provided to Adamas by the FDA [\*].
- 1.35 "ER Product". ER Product means a Product containing an extended release formulation of Memantine as its sole active ingredient. For clarity, Namenda shall not constitute an ER Product, but Namenda XR shall constitute an ER Product.
- 1.36 "FDA". FDA means the US Food and Drug Administration and any successor agency.
- 1.37 "FDC Franchise". FDC Franchise means (a) an FDC Product or (b) an FDC Product and Namenda XR.
- 1.38 "FDC Product". FDC Product means a fixed dose combination product that contains both Memantine and a Cholinesterase Inhibitor as its sole active ingredients.

- 1.39 "Field". Field means the prevention, treatment, control, mitigation or palliation of diseases or conditions in humans.
- 1.40 "First Commercial Launch". First Commercial Launch means: (a) with respect to Forest, with respect to a Product in the Territory, the first shipment of such Product in commercial quantities for commercial sale by Forest, its Affiliates or its Sublicensees to a Third Party after approval of the NDA therefor by the FDA and (b) with respect to Adamas, with respect to a Product in a particular country or region, the first shipment of such Product in commercial quantities for commercial sale by Adamas, its Affiliates or its (sub)licensees to a Third Party after receipt of Regulatory Approval therefor by the applicable Regulatory Authority in such country or region.
- 1.41 "Forest Intellectual Property". Forest Intellectual Property means the Forest Patent Rights and Forest Know-How.
- 1.42 "Forest Know-How". Forest Know-How means: all Know-How Controlled by Forest or its Affiliates at any time after the Effective Date during the Term that (a) is [\*] or [\*] and [\*] or (b) constitutes [\*]. For clarity, the Forest Know-How shall include all Program Data, [\*] and [\*].
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

6

- 1.43 "Forest Patent Rights". Forest Patent Rights means: (a) all Patent Rights that are Controlled by Forest or its Affiliates at any time after the Effective Date during the Term and that Cover the Forest Know-How and (b) [\*]. For clarity, Forest Patent Rights shall [\*] to the extent [\*].
- 1.44 "FTE". FTE means the equivalent of the work of one (1) employee full time for one (1) Calendar Year (consisting of at least a total of [\*] hours per Calendar Year) of work performed by Adamas directly related to the activities for which reimbursement by Forest is sought hereunder, or a portion thereof on a proportional basis.
- 1.45 "FTE Cost". FTE Cost means, for any period, the product of (a) the actual total FTEs (or applicable portion thereof) during such period, and (b) the applicable FTE Rate.
- 1.46 "FTE Rate". FTE Rate means, with respect to any Adamas employee, [\*] for an FTE during the period during which such FTE was performed, [\*] an employee to perform an activity pursuant to this Agreement for which Adamas will seek reimbursement from Forest at the FTE Cost.
- 1.47 "Generic Competition." Generic Competition, with respect to a Product in a particular country, shall exist, on a Calendar Quarter-by-Calendar Quarter basis, after Generic Launch of one or more Generic Versions of such Product in such country, in any particular Calendar Quarter in which: (a) with respect to Generic Versions approved for sale [\*] (or [\*] approved outside the Territory), the [\*] Generic Version(s) of such Product [\*] in such country is [\*] such Product and such Generic Version(s) [\*]; or (b) with respect to Generic Versions approved for sale [\*] (or [\*] approved outside the Territory), (i) the [\*] Generic Version(s) of such Product [\*] in such country is [\*] such Product and such Generic Version(s) [\*], and (ii) the [\*] such Product in such country during such Calendar Quarter sold by Forest, its Affiliates or Sublicensees or Adamas, its Affiliates or (sub)licensees, as applicable, [\*] such Product [\*] for such Product in such country.
- 1.48 "Generic Launch". Generic Launch means, with respect to a Product, the first commercial sale of a Generic Version of such Product, which sale is not authorized directly (as an Authorized Generic or foreign equivalent thereof) or indirectly (through a chain of distribution) by: (a) with respect to a Product in the Territory, Forest or any of its Affiliates or Sublicensees; or (b) with respect to a Product outside the Territory, Adamas or any of its Affiliates or (sub)licensees.
- 1.49 "Generic Version". Generic Version of a Product in a particular country means any Product, other than a Product sold by or under authority of, directly (as an Authorized Generic or foreign equivalent thereof) or indirectly (through a chain of distribution), Forest or its Affiliates or Sublicensees with respect to a Product in the Territory, or by Adamas or its Affiliates or (sub)licensees with respect to a Product outside the Territory, that: (a) with respect to a Generic Version approved for sale [\*] (or [\*] approved outside the Territory), (i) is approved for sale in such country in reliance on the prior approval of such Product as determined by the applicable Regulatory Authority, or (ii) is [\*] under applicable Laws in such country [\*], or (b) with respect to a Generic Version approved for sale [\*] (or [\*] approved outside the Territory), (i) is approved for sale in such country in reliance on the prior approval of such Product as
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

7

determined by the applicable Regulatory Authority, and (ii) is [\*] under applicable Laws in such country [\*], and (c) is not sold under a Trademark Right Controlled by Forest, its Affiliate or Sublicensee or a Trademark Right Controlled by Adamas, its Affiliate or (sub)licensee, as applicable. Generic Version of a Product expressly excludes any Authorized Generics for such Product.

1.50 "Governmental Authority". Governmental Authority means any US federal, state or local or any foreign government, or political subdivision thereof, or any multinational organization or authority or any authority, agency or commission entitled to exercise any administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, police, regulatory or taxing authority or power, any court or tribunal (or any department, bureau or division thereof), or any

governmental arbitrator or arbitral body.

- 1.51 "IND". IND means an investigational new drug application filed with the FDA with respect to a Product, or an equivalent application filed with the Regulatory Authority of a country other than the US.
- 1.52 "Initial FDC Product". Initial FDC Product means a Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product that combines the following two active ingredients (and no other active ingredients) in the following forms: (a) Memantine formulated as Namenda XR; and (b) Donepezil [\*]. For clarity, the terms of this Section 1.52 are subject to the provisions of Section 4.1.
- 1.53 "Joint Intellectual Property". Joint Intellectual Property means the Joint Know-How and Joint Patent Rights.
- 1.54 "Know-How". Know-How means proprietary or non-public information or materials, whether patentable or not, including (a) ideas, discoveries, inventions, improvements or trade secrets, (b) pharmaceutical, chemical or biological materials, products or compositions, (c) tests, assays, techniques, data, methods, procedures, formulas or processes, (d) technical, medical, clinical, toxicological or other scientific data or other information relating to any of the foregoing, and (e) drawings, plans, designs, diagrams, sketches, specifications or other documents containing or relating to such information or materials.
- 1.55 "Law" or "Laws". Law or Laws means all laws, statutes, rules, regulations, orders, judgments or ordinances of any Governmental Authority.
- 1.56 "Losses". Losses means any and all (a) claims, losses, liabilities, damages, fines, royalties, governmental penalties or punitive damages, deficiencies, interest, awards, judgments, and settlement amounts (including special, indirect, incidental, and consequential damages, lost profits, and Third Party punitive and multiple damages), and (b) in connection with all of the items referred to in clause (a) above, any and all costs and expenses (including reasonable counsel fees and all other expenses reasonably incurred in investigating, preparing or defending any litigation or proceeding, commenced or threatened).
- 1.57 "Major Market". Major Market means with respect to Forest, the United States, and with respect to Adamas, Japan, the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Spain or Italy.
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

8

- 1.58 "Manufacture" or "Manufacturing". Manufacture or Manufacturing means activities directed to producing, manufacturing, processing, filling, finishing, packaging, labeling, quality assurance testing and release, shipping and storage of a product.
- 1.59 "Memantine". Memantine means that certain compound known as memantine with a chemical structure specified in Schedule 1.59 and each [\*] thereof.
- 1.60 "Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product". Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product means a fixed dose combination Product containing Memantine and Donepezil as its sole active ingredients.
- 1.61 "[\*]". [\*] means [\*] or any of [\*].
- 1.62 "[\*] Agreements". [\*] Agreements means that certain [\*] Agreement entered into between [\*], dated [\*], relating to the [\*] for the [\*] ("[\*]Agreement"), and that certain [\*] Agreement entered into between [\*], dated [\*], relating to the [\*] for the [\*], each as amended from time to time consistent with this Agreement ("[\*] Agreement"), in each case as amended, modified or qualified by the [\*].
- 1.63 "Namenda". Namenda means a pharmaceutical product containing [\*] Memantine as its sole active ingredient and Commercialized by or on behalf of Forest under the trademark NAMENDA® as of the Effective Date and any improvements thereto that contain [\*] Memantine as the sole active ingredient and are made by or on behalf of Forest, its Affiliates or Sublicensees on or after such date.
- 1.64 "Namenda XR". Namenda XR means that certain ER Product containing [\*] Memantine as its sole active ingredient that has been Developed by Forest and approved by the FDA as of the Effective Date and any improvements thereto made by or on behalf of Forest, its Affiliates or Sublicensees on or after such date.
- 1.65 "NDA". NDA means a New Drug Application as defined in the Act, filed with the FDA with respect to a Product.
- 1.66 "Net Sales". Net Sales means the gross amounts billed or invoiced by Forest, its Affiliates and Sublicensees to any Third Party that is not a Sublicensee with respect to sales of ER Products or Other Products (in the case of royalties under Section 6.4(b)) or FDC Products (in the case of royalties under Section 6.4(a) or Section 6.4(c)(ii), as the case may be) in the Territory, calculated in the same manner as reported in its audited financial statements, less the sum of the following for the applicable class of Products (i.e., ER Products, Other Products or FDC Products, as the case may be):

[\*].

Net Sales shall not include transfers or dispositions of Products for charitable, pre-clinical, clinical or regulatory purposes that are without material profit.

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

9

- 1.67 "Orange Book". Orange Book means the Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluation published by the FDA's Center for Drug Evaluation and Research, as updated and modified from time to time.
- 1.68 "Other Product". Other Product means any Product, other than an ER Product or FDC Product, but excluding Namenda.
- 1.69 "Party". Party means either Adamas or Forest; "Parties" means both Adamas and Forest.
- 1.70 "Patent Rights". Patent Rights means the rights and interest in and to (a) all issued patents and pending patent applications in any country, including provisional patent applications, in any country; (b) all patent applications that claim, directly or indirectly, priority to any patent or patent applications described in clause (a), including all provisionals, divisionals, continuations, continuations-in-part, patents of addition, renewals, continued prosecution applications and requests for continued examination; (c) any and all patents that have issued or in the future issue from any of the patent applications described in clause (a) or clause (b), including utility models, petty patents and design patents and certificates of invention; and (d) any and all extensions or restorations by existing or future extension or restoration mechanisms, including any re-examination, registrations or confirmation patents, letters of patent and reissues thereof, or other extensions, or restorations of patent terms resulting from any other post-grant proceedings (including, without limitation, any proceedings that will come into effect through full implementation of the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act of 2011, and any supplementary protection certificates and the like), with respect to any of the patents or patent applications described in clause (a), clause (b), or clause (c).
- 1.71 "Payments". Payments means royalties, milestones and other amounts payable by Forest to Adamas pursuant to this Agreement.
- 1.72 "Person". Person means any natural person or any corporation, company, partnership, joint venture, firm, Governmental Authority or other entity, including a Party.
- 1.73 "Phase IV Clinical Trial". Phase IV Clinical Trial means a human clinical trial conducted for purposes of further characterizing and supporting a Product for marketing but not for purposes of seeking Regulatory Approval or of otherwise fulfilling a requirement of a Regulatory Authority.
- 1.74 "Primary Detail Equivalent" or "PDE". Primary Detail Equivalent or PDE means a primary Detail equivalent where (a) a Primary Detail has a value of 1.0 primary Detail equivalent and (b) a Secondary Detail has the value of [\*] primary Detail equivalents.
- 1.75 "Product". Product means any pharmaceutical preparation containing Memantine as a single active ingredient or in combination with one or more other active ingredient(s).
- 1.76 "Product Information". Product Information means (a) all data generated by Adamas or its Affiliates under the Development Plan, (b) all Adamas Know-How that is a trade secret related to a Product and (c) any Adamas Know-How that is patentable.
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

- 1.77 "Program Data". Program Data means collectively, all proprietary data and results that are generated by or on behalf of either Party on any Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product under the Development Plan, including DM104, DM105, DM303 and DM304 studies.
- 1.78 "Regulatory Approval". Regulatory Approval means the granting, whether through lapse of time or otherwise, by the FDA or by a comparable Regulatory Authority of approval to market a drug product in a country in the Territory or other jurisdiction.
- 1.79 "Regulatory Authority". Regulatory Authority means any Governmental Authority, including the FDA, with responsibility for granting licenses or approvals (with the exception of price approvals) necessary for the marketing and sale of pharmaceutical products in a country or region of the Territory.
- 1.80 "Regulatory Plan". Regulatory Plan means the regulatory strategy with respect to the Development of Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product as agreed to by the Parties in writing as of the Effective Date, as it may be modified from time to time in accordance with this Agreement. The Regulatory Plan as agreed as of the Effective Date is attached hereto as Schedule 1.80.
- 1.81 "Sales Year". Sales Year means, with respect to ER Products, FDC Products and Other Products (each, a "Product Category"), each successive twelve (12)-month period in which a Product within such Product Category is sold; provided that, with respect to the first Sales Year for a Product Category, Sales Year means the period commencing on the date of First Commercial Launch of the first Product in such Product

Category and ending on the last day of the fourth full Calendar Quarter after such First Commercial Launch (the "First Sales Year"), and for subsequent Sales Years for such Product, the period of four (4) sequential Calendar Quarters commencing on the day after the expiration of the First Sales Year or the anniversary thereof.

- 1.82 "Senior Executive". Senior Executive means, with respect to Adamas, the [\*] of Adamas [\*], and, with respect to Forest, the [\*] of Forest Parent [\*].
- 1.83 "Sublicensee". Sublicensee means a Third Party that has been granted a right or sublicense by Forest, its Affiliates or (sub)licensees under the rights and licenses granted or assigned to Forest pursuant to Section 2.1 of this Agreement or other rights and licenses pertaining to an FDC Product, which rights include [\*]. Third Parties that are permitted only to (a) distribute and resell a Product, or (b) Manufacture a Product solely for supply to Forest (or its Affiliates or its Sublicensees) (and have no other rights to Develop or Commercialize such Product) are not "Sublicensees". [\*] Sublicensees of Forest or any of its Affiliates [\*] under the [\*], but [\*] Sublicensees of Forest [\*], or [\*] a sublicense under the license granted to Forest under Section 2.1.
- 1.84 "Sublicensing Revenue". Sublicensing Revenue means any cash payment (including upfront fees, milestone payments and royalties) or the fair market value of any other consideration received [\*] in consideration for or otherwise based upon a Transaction. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Sublicensing Revenues shall exclude all amounts received as bona fide consideration: (a) with respect to any [\*]; (b) as loans [\*], and solely for so long as
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

11

such obligation of repayment exists; (c) in consideration of any issuance of equity or debt securities [\*], except to the extent that such payments are in excess of fair market value for such securities (in which case such excess shall be deemed Sublicensing Revenue); (d) as reimbursement of costs and expenses incurred [\*] (except to the extent such amounts exceed market rates, in which case such excess shall be deemed Sublicensing Revenue); (e) for the supply of Products or other materials (except to the extent that such payments exceed the cost of supplying such Products plus a customary margin, in which case such excess shall be deemed Sublicensing Revenue); or (f) in consideration for [\*]; and shall be net of all withholding taxes or other amounts withheld or deducted from the amounts received [\*], provided that if [\*] withholding taxes or other such amounts withheld or deducted from the amount of any such benefit shall be included in Sublicensing Revenue

- 1.85 "Territory". Territory means the United States of America (including its territorial possessions, territories and the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico).
- 1.86 "Third Party". Third Party means any Person other than Adamas or Forest or any of their respective Affiliates.
- 1.87 "Trademark Rights". Trademark Rights means any word, name, symbol, color, shape, designation or device or any combination thereof, including any trademark, service mark, trade name, trade dress, brand name, product configuration, logo, design or business symbol, that functions as an identifier of source, origin, membership, whether or not registered, and all statutory and common law rights therein, and all registrations and applications therefor, together with all goodwill associated with, or symbolized by, any of the foregoing.
- 1.88 "US". US means the United States of America (including its territorial possessions, territories and the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico).
- 1.89 "Valid Claim". Valid Claim means any claim from an issued and unexpired patent that has not been revoked or held unenforceable or invalid by a final decision of a court or other Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction, or that has not been disclaimed, denied or admitted to be invalid or unenforceable through reissue or disclaimer or otherwise.
- 1.90 Additional Definitions. Each of the following definitions is set forth in the Section of this Agreement indicated below:

Definition:	
Section:	
[*]	
Section 6.3(a)(iii)	
Acquirer	
Section 1.20	
[*]	
Section 2.4(b)	

[*]
Section 1.62
Adamas
Preamble
(*)
Section 6.4(d)(iv)
Adamas FDC and ER Patent Rights
Schedule 11.6
Adamas FDC Patent Rights
Schedule 11.6
Adamas IP Infringement Claim
Section 7.4(a)
[*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
12
Definition:
Section:
Adamas Manufacturing Know-How
Section 3.1(c)
Adamas Paragraph IV Claim
Section 7.11(a)
Adamas Patent Challenge
Section 7.3(d)(ii)
rt en
Section 6.4(d)(iv)
Agents
Section 8.1
Alliance Manager
Section 4.2(c)
Antitrust Action
Section 11.2(c)
Antitrust Law
Section 11.2(c)
Approval Milestone
Section 6.3(a)(iv)

Section 9.1(I)
[*]
Section 6.3(a)(i)
Cessation Notice
Section 11.2(a)
Claim
Section 12.2(b)(i)
Confidential Information
Section 8.2
Confidentiality Agreement
Section 8.2
Courts
Section 12.1
[*]
Section 3.3
Effective Date
Preamble
ER Royalty Term
Section 6.4(c)(iii)
Existing Supply Agreement
Section 3.3
FDC Launch Assumptions
Section 5.4
FDC Royalty Term
Section 6.4(c)(i)
First Sales Year
Section 1.81
Forest
Preamble
© COOLD'   D

Arbitrators

Section 2.6

Bayh-Dole Act

Section 12.2(b)(i)

Assignment and Assumption Agreement

Section 6.4(c)(vii)
[*]
Section 9.2(e)
Forest Parent
Preamble
Forest Parties
Section 10.2
Forest Patent Challenge
Section 7.3(b)
Forest Reversion Intellectual Property
Schedule 11.6
Forest Third Party Patent Licenses
Section 6.4(c)(vii)
Indemnified Party
Section 10.3(a)
Indemnifying Party
Section 10.3(a)
Initial Development Plan
Section 1.25
Invalidity Claim
Section 7.5
JAMS
Section 12.2(b)(i)
JDC
Section 4.1
Joint IP Working Group; JIPWG
Section 7.1
Joint Know-How
Section 7.2
Joint Manufacture Committee; JMC
Section 3.3
Joint Patent Rights
Section 7.2

Forest Blocking Patent



Regulatory Filings
Section 2.5
Regulatory Plan
Section 1.80
Regulatory Plan Change
Section 4.2(d)(ii)
Related Adamas Patent Rights
Section 1.8
Reverted FDC Products
Schedule 11.6
Royalty Commencement Date
Section 6.4(c)(iv)
Rules
Section 12.2(b)(i)
Secondary Detail
Section 1.23
[*]
• •
Section 6.3(a)(ii)
Section 6.3(a)(ii)
Section 6.3(a)(ii) Technology Transfer Plan
Section 6.3(a)(ii) Technology Transfer Plan Section 3.1(a)
Section 6.3(a)(ii)  Technology Transfer Plan  Section 3.1(a)  Term
Section 6.3(a)(ii)  Technology Transfer Plan  Section 3.1(a)  Term  Section 11.1
Section 6.3(a)(ii)  Technology Transfer Plan  Section 3.1(a)  Term  Section 11.1  Termination Effective Date
Section 6.3(a)(ii)  Technology Transfer Plan  Section 3.1(a)  Term  Section 11.1  Termination Effective Date  Schedule 11.6
Section 6.3(a)(ii)  Technology Transfer Plan  Section 3.1(a)  Term  Section 11.1  Termination Effective Date  Schedule 11.6  Third Party Claims
Section 6.3(a)(ii)  Technology Transfer Plan  Section 3.1(a)  Term  Section 11.1  Termination Effective Date  Schedule 11.6  Third Party Claims  Section 10.1
Section 6.3(a)(ii)  Technology Transfer Plan  Section 3.1(a)  Term  Section 11.1  Termination Effective Date  Schedule 11.6  Third Party Claims  Section 10.1  Third Party Infringement Claims
Section 6.3(a)(ii) Technology Transfer Plan Section 3.1(a) Term Section 11.1 Termination Effective Date Schedule 11.6 Third Party Claims Section 10.1 Third Party Infringement Claims Section 7.7
Section 6.3(a)(ii) Technology Transfer Plan Section 3.1(a) Term Section 11.1 Termination Effective Date Schedule 11.6 Third Party Claims Section 10.1 Third Party Infringement Claims Section 7.7 Third Party Technology
Section 6.3(a)(ii)  Technology Transfer Plan  Section 3.1(a)  Term  Section 11.1  Termination Effective Date  Schedule 11.6  Third Party Claims  Section 10.1  Third Party Infringement Claims  Section 7.7  Third Party Technology  Section 2.1(d)

Proprietary Non-Donepezil FDC Royalty Term

Section 6.4(c)(ii)

Transferable Contracts

Section 2.6

Triggering Act

Section 6.4(d)(i)

- 1.91 Captions; Certain Conventions; Construction. All headings and captions herein are for convenience only and shall not be interpreted as having any substantive meaning. The Schedules to this Agreement are incorporated herein by reference and shall be deemed a part of this Agreement. Unless otherwise expressly provided herein or the context of this Agreement otherwise requires:
- (a) words of any gender include each other gender;
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

14

- (b) words such as "herein", "hereof" and "hereunder" refer to this Agreement as a whole and not merely to the particular provision in which such words appear;
- (c) words using the singular shall include the plural, and vice versa;
- (d) the words "include," "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "but not limited to", "without limitation", "inter alia" or words of similar import;
- (e) the word "or" shall be deemed to include the word "and" (i.e., shall mean "and/or");
- (f) references to "Article," "Section," "Exhibit," "subsection", "paragraph", "clause" or other subdivision, or to a Schedule, without reference to a document, are to the specified provision or Schedule or Exhibit of this Agreement;
- (g) references to "\$" or "dollars" shall be references to US Dollars; and
- (h) the phrase "have the right" means "have the right, without the obligation", unless expressly stated otherwise.

This Agreement shall be construed as if the Parties drafted it jointly.

ARTICLE II

## **GRANTS OF RIGHTS**

- 2.1 Grants of Rights.
- (a) License Grant by Adamas.
- (i) Adamas hereby grants, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, to Forest (A) a co-exclusive (with Adamas and its Affiliates) right and license under the Adamas Intellectual Property to Develop and Manufacture Products in the Field in the Territory in accordance with Articles III and IV, (B) an exclusive (even as to Adamas and its Affiliates) right and license under the Adamas Intellectual Property to Commercialize Products in the Field in the Territory in accordance with Article V, and (C) a non-exclusive right and license under the Adamas Ex-US Patent Rights and Adamas Know-How to Develop and Manufacture (but not sell or otherwise Commercialize) Products in the Field outside the Territory in accordance with Articles III and IV solely in support of the Development or Commercialization of the Products in the Field in the Territory. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Adamas shall retain rights under the Adamas Intellectual Property and the Adamas Ex-US Patent Rights (X) to Develop Products in the Field in the Territory in accordance with Article IV, and (Y) to Develop and Manufacture the Products anywhere in the world solely in support of the Development or Commercialization of the Products outside the Territory.
- (ii) Adamas hereby grants, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, to Forest (A) an exclusive (even as to Adamas and its Affiliates), non-royalty-bearing right and license, to use the Adamas Product Trademark Rights in connection with the Development,
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

15

Manufacture and Commercialization of the Products in the Field in the Territory in accordance with this Agreement and (B) a non-exclusive, non-royalty-bearing right and license to use the Adamas Product Trademark Rights to Develop and Manufacture the Products in the Field outside the Territory in accordance with this Agreement in support of the Development or Commercialization of the Products in the Field in the

Territory. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Adamas shall retain a non-exclusive, non-royalty-bearing right to use the Adamas Product Trademark Rights (X) to Develop Products in the Field in the Territory in accordance with Article IV, and (Y) to Develop and Manufacture the Products anywhere in the world in support of the Development or Commercialization of the Products outside the Territory. In the event that Forest elects to use an Adamas Product Trademark Right in the Development, Manufacture or Commercialization of a Product, the Parties shall coordinate the use of domain names incorporating such Adamas Product Trademark Right so as to avoid confusion in the Commercialization of such Product in the Territory and outside the Territory. For clarity, Adamas shall retain all right, title and interest in and to the domain names within the Adamas Product Trademark Rights for country-specific domains outside of the Territory (e.g., .uk, .jp, .eu), while Forest shall be granted rights under this Section 2.1(a)(ii) to the domain names within the Adamas Product Trademark Rights in the Territory (e.g., .com, .net, .org). If elected by Forest at any time, Forest shall have the right to terminate the rights and licenses granted by Adamas to Forest under this Section 2.1(a)(ii) upon written notice to Adamas, in which case all rights to the Adamas Product Trademark Rights in the Territory.

- (iii) Adamas hereby grants, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, to Forest a non-exclusive, non-royalty-bearing right and license to use the corporate names of Adamas and its Affiliates as required by Law or as otherwise reasonably required in connection with the performance of Forest's obligations or exercise of its rights hereunder.
- (iv) Sublicenses. Forest shall have the right to grant sublicenses through multiple tiers under the licenses to Adamas Intellectual Property and the Adamas Product Trademark Rights granted to Forest under this Section 2.1(a) to its Affiliates and, [\*], to Third Parties [\*], provided that Forest shall not have the right to grant a sublicense [\*] unless [\*].
- (b) Payment Date; Forest's Election to [\*]. Upon payment by Forest or its designee to Adamas of all Milestone Payments that have or may come due under Section 6.3 (the date Adamas receives the last of such payments, the "Payment Date"), Forest shall have the right (but not the obligation) to request that [\*] and [\*] and [\*] and [\*], and Forest shall make such request by providing written notification to Adamas thereof within [\*] after the Payment Date. In the event Adamas receives such written notification from Forest within [\*] after the Payment Date, Adamas shall: (i) promptly [\*] within [\*] of receipt of written notification from Forest requesting [\*]; and (ii) cooperate fully with Forest [\*] or [\*] and [\*] as contemplated in this Section 2.1(b), including [\*]. For any [\*] and [\*] (either [\*] or [\*], or [\*]), the [\*] shall [\*] following the Payment Date and [\*].
- (c) Possible License from Forest. In the event [\*] Adamas perform any Development activities under this Agreement that would require a license to any Patent Rights, Know-How or Trademark Rights Controlled by Forest or its Affiliates, Forest agrees that Forest
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

16

shall grant Adamas a non-exclusive, royalty-free license under the relevant Patent Rights, Know-How or Trademark Rights Controlled by Forest or its Affiliates, in each case, that are necessary for Adamas to perform the activities requested to be performed under this Agreement solely for such purpose.

- (d) Third Party Technology. With respect to any Patent Rights or Know-How that Adamas or its Affiliate acquires from a Third Party (by license or otherwise) after the Effective Date that would be subject to a license granted to Forest pursuant to this Section 2.1 (collectively, "Third Party Technology"), Adamas shall promptly notify Forest in writing of such Third Party Technology, the associated obligations applicable to Forest (including payment obligations that would be triggered by Forest's exercise of the rights and licenses granted to it under this Section 2.1). Such Third Party Technology shall be included in the Adamas Patent Rights (including the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights, if applicable), Adamas Know-How, and Adamas Intellectual Property, provided that, subject to Section 6.4(c)(vii), Forest shall be responsible for any obligations applicable to Forest under the applicable agreement (including any payment owed to such Third Party by Adamas or its Affiliate that would be triggered by Forest's exercise of the rights and licenses granted to it under this Section 2.1). With respect to Article VII, Forest may exercise the rights set forth in Article VII with respect to such Third Party Technology to the extent consistent with the terms and conditions of the license agreement pursuant to which Adamas or its Affiliate first acquired rights to such Third Party Technology. If Forest has a reimbursement obligation under this Section 2.1(d), Adamas shall provide Forest with documentation of Forest's reimbursement obligations under this Section 2.1(d) and Forest shall pay any such amounts owed within [\*] of receipt thereof. Forest may [\*] Third Party Technology acquired by Adamas or its Affiliate [\*] Adamas thereof at any time [\*]; upon [\*], such Third Party Technology accruing [\*] under this Section 2.1.
- 2.2 Rights Retained by the Parties. Any rights of Adamas or Forest (or their respective Affiliates), as the case may be, not expressly granted to the other Party under the provisions of this Agreement shall be retained by such Party, and no right or license, other than those expressly granted hereunder, under either Party's Know-How, Patent Rights or other subject matter is granted or shall be deemed granted by implication or estoppel. Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary herein, no right or license is granted to either Party herein with respect to, and none of the Forest Intellectual Property, the Forest Reversion Intellectual Property and the Adamas Intellectual Property shall include any Patent Rights or Know-How to the extent specifically Covering or solely relating to, any active ingredients other than (a) Memantine, (b) Donepezil (including the Donepezil [\*]) for use in an FDC Product, or (c) Memantine and Donepezil (or Donepezil [\*]) in combination with one another.
- 2.3 Section 365(n) of the Bankruptcy Code. All rights and licenses granted under or pursuant to any section of this Agreement, including the licenses granted under Section 2.1 to Patent Rights and Know-How (including any data included in the Know-How), are and will otherwise be

deemed to be for purposes of Section 365(n) of the Bankruptcy Code, licenses of rights to "intellectual property" as defined in Section 101(35A) of the Bankruptcy Code. Each Party will retain and may fully exercise all of its respective rights and elections under the

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

17

Bankruptcy Code. The Parties agree that each Party, as licensee of such rights under this Agreement, will retain and may fully exercise all of its rights and elections under the Bankruptcy Code or any other provisions of applicable Law outside the United States that provide similar protection for "intellectual property." The Parties further agree that, in the event of the commencement of a bankruptcy proceeding by or against the licensor Party under the Bankruptcy Code or analogous provisions of applicable Law outside the United States, the licensee Party will be entitled to a complete duplicate of (or complete access to, as the licensee Party deems appropriate) such intellectual property and all embodiments of such intellectual property, which, if not already in the licensee Party's possession, will be promptly delivered to it upon the licensee Party's written request thereof. Any agreements supplemental hereto will be deemed to be "agreements supplementary to" this Agreement for purposes of Section 365(n) of the Bankruptcy Code.

#### 2.4 Exclusivity; [\*].

- (a) Exclusivity. During the Term, subject to Section 2.4(b) below, neither Adamas nor any of its Affiliates shall, alone or in collaboration with any other Person, [\*], or grant a license to any other Person to [\*]; provided, however, that neither this clause (a) (nor any other provision of this Agreement) shall preclude Adamas or its Affiliates from [\*] that [\*], [\*] and [\*], if Adamas or such Affiliate has the legal right to do so.
- (b) [\*], [\*], in the event [\*] Section 2.4(a) with respect to any [\*] or [\*] or [\*]; provided, that (i) [\*] (or [\*]) [\*] and [\*] (unless [\*]) or [\*], and (ii) [\*] that [\*] or [\*], in each case of (i) and (ii), [\*]. In addition, if [\*], then the [\*], in accordance with [\*] shall [\*] pursuant to the foregoing; provided that [\*] that would [\*] and [\*] or in order to [\*]. [\*] shall [\*]. If at any time, any of the foregoing conditions ((i) and (ii)) are not met with respect to [\*], then [\*] shall automatically and thereafter [\*] and the [\*] shall [\*] with respect to [\*].
- 2.5 Ownership of Regulatory Filings; Transfer of Regulatory Filings. As soon as practicable following the Effective Date, Adamas shall (a) assign and transfer to Forest all INDs and other filings with Regulatory Authorities in the Territory (such filings, the "Regulatory Filings") pertaining to any Product in the Field that are Controlled by Adamas or its Affiliates as of such date and (b) deliver to Forest copies of all such Regulatory Filings, including copies of all correspondence with Regulatory Authorities and all written minutes of meetings and memoranda of conversations with Regulatory Authorities, in each case, relating thereto and not previously provided to Forest or its Affiliate. [\*]. Forest shall, as between the Parties, be the owner of all Regulatory Filings (including all INDs) in the Territory for the Products in the Field, provided that Adamas shall have the right to file and own its own IND in the Territory for the Products in connection with the Development of the Product in the Territory by Adamas, its Affiliates or (sub)licensees solely to support the Commercialization of the Products outside the Territory. The exchange of safety information between the Parties relating to the Development of Products in the Territory carried out by each Party under its own Regulatory Filings will be subject to the provisions of Section 4.5.
- 2.6 Assignment of Contracts. As soon as practicable following the Effective Date, Adamas shall assign to Forest those written agreements by and between Adamas and Third Parties set forth on Schedule 2.6 (the "Transferable Contracts") that Forest explicitly requests to
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

18

be assigned to Forest, pursuant to an assignment and assumption agreement to be agreed by the Parties (the "Assignment and Assumption Agreement"); provided that Forest shall make such request within [\*] after the Effective Date. With respect to any Transferable Contract not promptly assigned to Forest under this Section 2.6, the Parties shall coordinate to ensure that Forest obtains the benefits under such contracts as reasonably necessary or useful to perform the Development activities contemplated to be performed by Forest hereunder in a manner consistent with such contracts or to facilitate an agreement directly between Forest and the other party to such Transferable Contract providing such benefits, and [\*]. This Agreement does not constitute an agreement to assign or transfer any Transferable Contract that is not assignable or transferable without the consent of or action by a Third Party or action by a Governmental Authority, to the extent that such consent has not been given or such action has not been taken prior to the Effective Date; provided, however, that Adamas shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to obtain, and Forest shall assist and cooperate with Adamas in connection therewith, all necessary consents to the assignment and transfer thereof. Subject to Section 3.3, Forest shall not be responsible for any obligations under any Adamas contracts with Third Parties related to the Development or Manufacture of Products, other than the Transferable Contracts that are assigned or transferred to Forest pursuant to this Section 2.6 and, with respect to such Transferable Contracts, Forest shall only be responsible for costs incurred by Forest under the Transferable Contracts after the Effective Date or otherwise as expressly set forth in this Agreement or the Assignment and Assumption Agreement. From and after the Effective Date until the assignment of a Transferable Contract to Forest pursuant to this Section 2.6, Adamas shall [\*] such Transferable Contract [\*].

ARTICLE III

#### MANUFACTURING AND TECH TRANSFER

#### 3.1 Transfer of Adamas Know-How.

(a) Initial Transfer of Adamas Know-How. In order to fully enable Forest to practice the Adamas Know-How with respect to Products in accordance with this Agreement and to otherwise exercise the rights granted to it under this Agreement, Adamas shall promptly deliver to Forest as further set forth below copies of Adamas Know-How existing in written form, including [\*], in the media and form that such material exists in Adamas' Control as of the Effective Date to the extent that any such item [\*] to disclose or embody Adamas Know-How, to the extent not previously provided to Forest. Without limiting the foregoing, Adamas shall deliver to Forest copies of all correspondence filed with or received from the United States Patent and Trademark Office in connection with the prosecution of the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights that are in Adamas' Control promptly after the Effective Date and in a timely manner [\*]. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Adamas shall not be obligated to transfer to Forest any quantities of GMP-grade materials other than pursuant to Section 3.2 below. The content and mode of transfers of Adamas Know-How to Forest shall be conducted, in accordance with this Section 3.1 and a technology transfer plan and budget to be reasonably agreed by the Parties within [\*] of the Effective Date (the "Technology Transfer Plan"), within [\*] after the Effective Date (and Adamas' obligations under this Section 3.1 apply whether or not a Technology Transfer Plan is agreed). Without limitation to the foregoing, with respect to the Adamas Know-How related to Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products, the Parties shall coordinate any such

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

19

transfer of Adamas Know-How to enable each Party to carry out the Development activities with respect to the Development of Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products assigned to such Party under the Development Plan. The foregoing transfers of Adamas Know-How to Forest shall [\*]. Without limitation of the foregoing, during such [\*] period, Adamas shall deliver to Forest copies of all Adamas Know-How [\*] as of the Effective Date, including copies of any relevant portions of the documents, files and other written or graphic materials disclosing or embodying Adamas Know-How specified to be transferred to Forest during such [\*] period as agreed pursuant to the Technology Transfer Plan, if any, to the extent not previously provided to Forest, and shall make employees of Adamas who are familiar with such Adamas Know-How reasonably available to [\*] in accordance with the Technology Transfer Plan. Adamas' failure to deliver to Forest [\*] in the Adamas Know-How (i.e., [\*]) during such [\*] period shall not constitute a breach of this Agreement if Adamas delivers such document to Forest promptly following Adamas' becoming aware of the omission.

- (b) Additional Transfer of Adamas Know-How. In the event that Forest desires additional transfer assistance from Adamas beyond the [\*] period set forth in Section 3.1(a) (though this period of additional assistance shall last only until [\*]), upon Forest's reasonable request or as new Adamas Know-How becomes available, Adamas shall deliver to Forest [\*] or as reasonably requested by Forest all Adamas Know-How, and Adamas shall [\*] Adamas [\*] Adamas Know-How [\*] at such times, and in the case of [\*], to be agreed upon by the Parties as reasonably necessary [\*] to transfer such Adamas Know-How to Forest to enable Forest to understand and implement the Adamas Know-How with respect to the Products in accordance with this Agreement. In addition, promptly after [\*], Adamas shall deliver to Forest copies of all [\*] (including [\*]) to the extent not previously provided to Forest. Forest shall [\*].
- (c) Transfer of Adamas Manufacturing Know-How. Specifically without limiting the foregoing, upon Forest's request, Adamas shall transfer or arrange for the transfer to Forest: (i) the Adamas Donepezil Formulation existing as of the Effective Date; (ii) the then-current Manufacturing process Controlled by Adamas that is necessary to enable Forest to Manufacture [\*]; (iii) the formulation and then-current Manufacturing process Controlled by Adamas for the Manufacturing of [\*]; and (iv) the then-current Manufacturing process for [\*] (collectively, the "Adamas Manufacturing Know-How"). The Adamas Manufacturing Know-How shall be deemed Adamas Know-How under this Agreement. Forest shall reimburse Adamas for Adamas' FTE Costs and any reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket costs, in each case incurred directly in connection with the technology transfer in accordance with this Section 3.1(c).
- (d) Confidentiality of Adamas Know-How. Forest expressly acknowledges and agrees that Adamas Know-How shall remain Adamas' Confidential Information throughout the Term (unless any of Section 8.2(a) through (d) apply), and the use and disclosure of such Confidential Information shall be governed under the terms and conditions of Article VIII hereunder. Specifically and without limiting the foregoing, Forest shall not disclose any Adamas Know-How: (i) [\*] unless and only to the extent [\*]; or (ii) to any other Third Party except solely in furtherance of the Development, Manufacture and Commercialization of the Products in the Territory under this Agreement on behalf of Forest, its Affiliates and Sublicensees, in each case of (i) and (ii), only if such disclosure is under written confidentiality and non-use obligations
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

20

binding upon [\*] recipient of any Adamas Know-How: (A) to prevent any further disclosure by [\*] recipient of such Adamas Know-How; and (B) to restrict the use of such Adamas Know-How, [\*] solely in furtherance of the Development, Manufacture and Commercialization of the Products in the Territory under this Agreement on behalf of Forest, its Affiliates and Sublicensees.

- 3.2 Supply of Donepezil [\*]. Prior to the earlier of: (a) the [\*] anniversary of the Effective Date, which such period shall be extended to the [\*] anniversary of the Effective Date for so long as Forest is negotiating in good faith an agreement for the supply of Donepezil [\*]; and (b) the assignment of the applicable Transferable Contracts relating to the Manufacture and supply of Donepezil [\*] to Forest pursuant to Section 2.6, Adamas shall, upon Forest's reasonable request (including for any studies to be performed by Forest hereunder), obtain Donepezil [\*] from the applicable Third Party supplier(s) and supply such Donepezil [\*] to Forest for use in performing the Development Plan or any other use hereunder. Forest shall pay to Adamas [\*] for such Donepezil [\*]. Adamas shall not be liable with respect to such supply for amounts in excess of amounts that Adamas recovers from any such Third Party supplier with respect to any failure regarding such supply (to the extent caused by such Third Party supplier); provided that Adamas shall use reasonable efforts to recover any such amounts from such Third Party supplier(s).
- 3.3 Coordination of Certain Supply. Promptly after the Effective Date, the Parties shall establish a joint working group to oversee and coordinate the Parties' activities with respect to the supply of [\*] for each Party's respective territory (the "Joint Manufacture Committee" or "JMC"), including coordination of supply, chemistry, manufacturing, and controls (CMC) information, and Third Party suppliers of [\*] to the benefit of each Party. The JMC shall review and determine, [\*] how to coordinate supply of the [\*] either under existing arrangements with Third Party suppliers of [\*] ("Existing Supply Agreements") or under new arrangements with such Third Party suppliers, in light of each Party's requirements in its respective territory. For clarity, the JMC shall not have the power to [\*]. If the JMC determines to [\*], or to otherwise [\*] in a manner that would result in [\*], or if [\*] or otherwise [\*], which [\*] results in [\*], then the Parties shall [\*]. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties agree to use good faith efforts to cooperate to [\*].
- 3.4 Regulatory Inspection. In connection with a request from a Regulatory Authority related to obtaining and maintaining Regulatory Approval with respect to a Product, each Party shall permit the other Party, or an authorized representative of the other Party reasonably acceptable to such Party, to enter the relevant facilities of such Party and its Affiliates during normal business hours and upon reasonable advance notice to inspect and verify compliance with applicable regulatory and other requirements as well as with this Agreement, with respect to all matters relating to the Development of the Products under this Agreement. Each Party shall give the other Party or its authorized representative, all necessary and reasonable assistance for a full and correct carrying out of the inspection. Such inspection shall not relieve a Party of any of its obligations under this Agreement.
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

21

## ARTICLE IV

## DEVELOPMENT

- 4.1 General. From and after the Effective Date, except as otherwise expressly provided in Section 2.1 above or this ARTICLE IV (or the Development Plan), Forest shall have the sole right to conduct Development of the Products in the Field in the Territory. Forest shall, directly or indirectly through its Affiliates or Sublicensees, use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to Develop and obtain Regulatory Approval for a Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product in the Field in the Territory in accordance with the Development Plan and the Regulatory Plan, including the conduct of the DM303 and DM304 studies. In exercising such efforts, Forest shall first use the Initial FDC Product as the first FDC Product, unless it determines in good faith that: (a) [\*] an alternative formulation of Donepezil; or (b) [\*] an alternative formulation of Donepezil (or if [\*]); or (c) [\*] an alternative formulation of Donepezil instead of such Adamas Donepezil Formulation. If Forest desires to use an alternative formulation of Donepezil for one or more of the foregoing reasons, then prior to implementing such alternative formulation, Forest shall notify Adamas in writing and shall discuss in good faith with Adamas any such proposed change, and Forest shall consider in good faith any commercially reasonable proposal by Adamas for overcoming such reasons, prior to effecting any change in formulation; provided, however, that [\*] an alternative formulation of Donepezil if [\*] would [\*] set forth in the Development Plan for the Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product. [\*] or [\*] or [\*] under this Section 4.1, whether or not [\*], shall be deemed an "Adamas Donepezil Formulation Modification." Forest hereby represents and warrants that, as of the Effective Date, it is [\*], and has [\*] pertaining to, [\*]. The Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products for Commercialization in the Field in the Territory (including all regulatory interactions with the FDA and the appointment of all contract research organizations engaged in connection with the Develop or Manufacture the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products) shall be managed by a Joint Development Committee (the "JDC"), subject to the terms of this Agreement. Adamas and its Affiliates may not conduct Development of a Product in the Field in the Territory for Commercialization of such Product in the Field in the Territory except as explicitly set forth in this Agreement or as otherwise determined by the JDC. The conduct of Development of any Product for Commercialization in the Territory in the Field other than any Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product shall [\*].
- 4.2 Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products.
- (a) Joint Development Plan. All Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products for Commercialization in the Territory in the Field shall be conducted in accordance with the Development Plan [\*]. The Development Plan shall set forth the activities to be performed by each Party with respect to the Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products for Commercialization in the Territory in the Field. The Development Plan may be amended by the JDC from time to time in good faith and as reasonably necessary or useful for the Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products; provided that the JDC shall not [\*] except [\*] and the JDC shall not [\*]. In the event that the Development Plan does not specify which Party shall be responsible for a particular Development activity, the JDC shall assign the activity to one of the Parties. Each Party shall act in a manner consistent with the Development Plan and with the Regulatory Plan. Forest shall, [\*] in connection with

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

22

activities assigned to Adamas in the Development Plan, which Development activities shall include activities assigned to Adamas under a certain letter agreement between Adamas and Forest, dated [\*] (the "Letter Agreement"). The following shall apply to Adamas' activities under such Letter Agreement: (i) until [\*] the cessation of any ongoing activities under the Letter Agreement, Adamas shall continue to conduct such activities; (ii) such activities are deemed to be conducted under the Development Plan and subject to the foregoing reimbursement by Forest to Adamas; and (iii) such reimbursed amounts shall consist of: (A) the amounts consistent with the budget set forth in the Letter Agreement; (B) the amounts incurred by or on account of Adamas [\*] with respect to such activities; and (C) the amounts incurred by Adamas for its FTEs and consultants as required to support the activities set forth in subsection (A) and/or (B) above; provided, however, that any amounts in (B) or (C) shall be only for activities specifically requested by Forest, and the Parties shall cooperate in good faith to agree on a written budget therefor within [\*] Business Days after the Effective Date. If Adamas is assigned any activities other than those set forth in the Letter Agreement, the Parties shall agree in advance to a budget and such expenses shall be reimbursable to the extent consistent with the budget. If [\*] or [\*] the activities assigned to Adamas under this Section 4.2(a) (including the activities described in the Letter Agreement), Adamas shall [\*]. Each Party shall conduct or cause to be conducted all activities assigned to it under the Development Plan in accordance with applicable Law and best industry practices.

- (b) Joint Development Committee. The Parties hereby establish the JDC to oversee and coordinate the Parties' activities with respect to the Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product in the Field in the Territory as follows:
- (i) Composition of the Joint Development Committee; Decision Making. The Development Plan activities shall be conducted under the oversight of the JDC comprised of three (3) named senior representatives of Forest and three (3) named senior representatives of Adamas. Each Party shall notify the other within [\*] after the Effective Date of the appointment of its representatives to the JDC. Each Party may change its representatives to the JDC from time to time in its sole discretion, effective upon notice to the other Party of such change. These representatives shall have appropriate technical credentials, experience and knowledge, and ongoing familiarity with Development Plan activities as well as sufficient authority to take actions on behalf of a Party to the extent permitted under this Agreement. Additional representatives or consultants may from time to time, by mutual consent of the Parties, be invited to attend JDC meetings. Alliance Managers shall be invited to attend all JDC meetings. The JDC shall be chaired [\*]. Each Party shall have collectively one (1) vote in all decisions and the Parties shall attempt to make decisions by consensus. In the event the JDC cannot reach consensus on any matter within the scope of its oversight, disputes shall be referred to the Parties' respective Senior Executives. If the Senior Executives cannot resolve the dispute within [\*] after the dispute has been referred to them, then Forest shall have the final decision-making authority with respect to such dispute, except that Forest shall not have any final decision-making authority with respect to which shall be [\*]. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Forest shall not exercise such final decision-making authority in any manner that (A) [\*] unless [\*] and [\*], or (B) is inconsistent with this Agreement. Each Party shall bear its own expenses related to the attendance of such meetings by its representatives.
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

- (ii) Meetings; Disbandment. [\*], the JDC shall meet in accordance with a schedule established by mutual written agreement of the JDC representatives, but no less frequently than [\*] unless otherwise agreed by the Parties. The location for meetings of the JDC shall alternate between Adamas and Forest facilities in the US (or such other location as may be agreed by the Parties). Alternatively, the JDC may meet by means of teleconference, videoconference or other similar communications equipment. [\*], or [\*], the JDC shall disband [\*] the Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products for Commercialization in the Field in the Territory, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- (iii) Scope of Joint Development Committee Oversight. The JDC's oversight responsibilities shall [\*]. Within such scope and subject to the other provisions of this Section 4.2, the JDC may take any action reasonably necessary for the Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products for Commercialization in the Territory in the Field (including obtaining Regulatory Approval therefor) in accordance with this Agreement. Such actions may include, but are not limited to (A) conferring regarding the status of Development Plan activities; (B) reviewing and approving amendments to the Development Plan; (C) approving any contract research organization or other service provider engaged by Adamas to Develop Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products for Commercialization in the Territory in the Field, to the extent such entities are not so engaged prior to the Effective Date; (D) establishing any changes to the Regulatory Plan for the Development of Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products in accordance with Section 4.2(d); (E) establishing guidelines and strategies for publications involving Products; and (F) addressing such other matters relating to the Development of Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products in the Field for Commercialization in the Territory in the Field as are specified in this Agreement to be brought before the JDC. Each Party shall keep the JDC informed as to its activities under the Development Plan, but shall have the right to make day-to-day operational decisions in performing activities assigned to it under the Development Plan, provided that those decisions are not contrary to the Development Plan and that any protocols for studies to be conducted under the Development Plan shall be subject to review and approval of the JDC. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the JDC shall

have no authority to (X) determine [\*], (Y) make any decision expressly allocated herein to either or both Parties, or (Z) amend or interpret any provision of this Agreement, other than the Development Plan pursuant and subject to this Section 4.2.

- (c) Alliance Managers. In addition to the JDC, Adamas and Forest each acknowledge and agree that it would be beneficial to each to have a representative with a general understanding of the Development, Manufacturing and Commercialization issues relating to Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products to act as an alliance manager ("Alliance Manager") and shall appoint such a person promptly after the Effective Date. It is envisioned that the Alliance Managers will serve as a single point of contact within each Party with responsibility for facilitating communication and collaboration between the Parties hereunder. The Alliance Managers shall work together to manage and facilitate the resolution (in accordance with the terms of this Agreement) of business issues between the Parties that arise in connection with this Agreement.
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

24

- (d) Regulatory Plan.
- (i) The Parties acknowledge that the Regulatory Plan is based upon the Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product [\*] to support [\*] for such Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product, and the Parties intend to conduct the Initial Development Plan, using the efforts specified in Section 4.1, to submit [\*] based upon the results of such conduct of the Initial Development Plan.
- (ii) In the event that [\*] any modification to the Regulatory Plan that would result in [\*] or [\*], [\*] or [\*] for the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product (excluding [\*]), as compared with the Regulatory Plan in existence as of the Effective Date (a "Regulatory Plan Change"), the JDC may amend the Regulatory Plan accordingly in good faith and [\*]. In the event any Regulatory Plan Change requires [\*], for the [\*] Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product, the JDC shall [\*].
- (iii) In addition to a Regulatory Plan Change, Forest may amend the Regulatory Plan in good faith and [\*]; provided that [\*] (A) such amendment by Forest (unless it results from a Regulatory Plan Change) or (B) [\*], in each case ((A) or (B)) shall [\*].
- (e) Regulatory Responsibilities.
- (i) Generally. The Parties' joint regulatory strategy with respect to the Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products for Commercialization in the Field in the Territory is as specified in the Regulatory Plan and further detailed in the Development Plan. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 4.2(e), [\*] all substantive submissions and communications made to Regulatory Authorities in the Territory (including the FDA) with respect to any Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product shall be subject to the prior approval of the JDC in writing and shall be provided to the JDC at least [\*] (or less time as may be required by Regulatory Authorities in the Territory) prior to the intended date of submission or communication.
- (ii) Interaction with Regulatory Authorities. Forest shall be responsible for[\*] (subject to the oversight of the JDC [\*]), interactions with Regulatory Authorities in the Territory (including the FDA) with respect to the Development of the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products for Commercialization in the Territory in the Field. Notwithstanding the foregoing, [\*], Forest shall promptly provide Adamas with prior written or email notice of all meetings, conferences and discussions scheduled with the FDA concerning all Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products (including advisory committee meetings and any other meeting of experts convened with the FDA concerning the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products) within [\*] after Forest or its Affiliate first receives notice of the scheduling of such meeting, conference or discussion (or within such shorter period as may be practicable and necessary in order to give Adamas a reasonable opportunity to attend such meetings, conferences and discussions). Adamas shall be entitled to have representatives of Adamas (or its Affiliates) with appropriate expertise [\*] at all such meetings, conferences or discussions with the FDA relating to Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products, which at a minimum shall mean that Adamas and its Affiliates shall have the right to have [\*]. Forest shall provide Adamas with reasonable advance notice, as set forth above, of all such meeting, conferences or discussions with the FDA and
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

25

advance copies of all substantive submissions and written communications to the FDA in advance of such meetings, conferences or discussions, as well as any written correspondence received by Forest from the FDA with respect to such meetings, conferences or discussions. Forest shall promptly forward to Adamas copies of all minutes thereof and summaries of all such meetings, conferences and discussions with the FDA, including copies of all contact reports produced by or on behalf of Forest or its Affiliates. Forest shall consider in good faith Adamas' reasonable proposals or comments to any substantive submissions or communications made by Forest to Regulatory Authorities in the Territory (including the FDA) with respect to the Development of Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products for Commercialization in the Territory in the Field [\*] Adamas' proposal or comments with respect to any such submissions or communications made by Forest to Regulatory Authorities in the Territory.

- (f) Exchange of Information Regarding Development; Use of Program Data. Each Party shall provide the other Party, at each meeting of the JDC until the JDC is disbanded in accordance with Section 4.2(b)(ii), with all material information and data relating to its Development of Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products for Commercialization in the Territory in the Field. In addition, from time to time, each Party shall provide to the other Party all material information and data relating to such Party's Development of Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products for Commercialization in the Territory in the Field upon the other Party's reasonable request. In addition to its rights under and pursuant to Section 4.5, Adamas shall have the right to use such information received from Forest or its Affiliates to comply with all applicable Laws, including requirements by Regulatory Authorities. However, without limiting its rights under and pursuant to Section 4.5, Adamas shall not have the right to use any Program Data (i) in a manner that would [\*], without [\*] (including any [\*] in connection therewith) or (ii) in support of any Regulatory Approvals in the Field in the Territory; provided, however, that Adamas shall have the right to use Program Data for such purpose in clause (ii) in a manner consistent with this Agreement if [\*] and [\*]. Nothing in this Section 4.2(f) shall be construed as an implied license to any intellectual property rights of Forest, its Affiliates or any Third Party. As and to the extent set forth in Section [\*], the use of Program Data to support Regulatory Approval or Commercialization of any Product [\*] shall [\*] with respect to such Product.
- 4.3 Development of Other Products. As between the Parties, Forest shall have the sole right, at its sole cost and expense, to Develop Products other than the Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products for Commercialization in the Field in the Territory. The Development of such Products in the Field in the Territory shall [\*]. All interactions with Regulatory Authorities in the Territory, including the FDA, with respect to any Product in the Field of Forest or its Affiliates other than Memantine-Donepezil FDC Products in the Field shall [\*].
- 4.4 Avoiding Conflicting Development Activities.
- (a) Prohibition. Each Party shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates to not, and shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cause each of its and its Affiliates' licensees and (sub)licensees to not, conduct any Development activity regarding the Products that could reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse impact on the Development or Commercialization of the Products in the other Party's respective Major Market(s) (i.e., in the case of Forest, with respect to a Product in the Field in the United States, and in the case of Adamas, with respect to a Product in the Field in Japan, the United Kingdom, France, Germany,
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

26

Spain or Italy); provided that [\*] shall not be deemed itself to be a material adverse impact on such Development or Commercialization of the Products. Each Party shall require each of its and its Affiliates' (sub)licensees that are conducting Development of Products to be subject to the provisions of this Section 4.4(a) (or analogous provisions with substantially the same terms set forth in this Section 4.4(a)). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the restrictions and obligations set forth in this Section 4.4(a) shall only apply to the extent that [\*] or [\*].

- (b) Development Updates.
- (i) [\*], Adamas shall provide Forest with a summary of all [\*] to be conducted by Adamas or any of its Affiliates, licensees or (sub)licensees and provide copies of all material information and data within the Adamas Know-How in the possession of Adamas as of such time and relating to the Development of any such Product that would [\*] by Adamas, its Affiliates, licensees or (sub)licensees [\*]. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, [\*] for so long as Adamas or its Affiliates, licensees or (sub)licensees continues to Develop such Product for Commercialization [\*], Adamas shall provide Forest with [\*], in each case to the extent it has the right to provide such information; provided, however, that Adamas shall
- (ii) [\*], Forest shall provide Adamas with [\*] to be conducted by Forest or any of its Affiliates or Sublicensees regarding any FDC Product for Commercialization in the Field in the Territory and provide copies of all material information and data within the Forest Know-How in the possession of Forest and relating to the Development of any such FDC Product by Forest, its Affiliates or Sublicensees for Commercialization within the Territory. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, [\*] for so long as Forest or its Affiliates or Sublicensees continue to Develop such FDC Product for Commercialization [\*], Forest shall provide Adamas with [\*], in each case to the extent it has the right to provide such information; provided, however, that Forest shall [\*]. Adamas' use of any Program Data received from Forest shall be subject to Section 4.2(f).
- (c) Coordination of Development Activities within the Territory. The Parties will work together in good faith to avoid conflicts between their respective Development activities for Products within the Territory and, if applicable, between their respective Development activities for the Products outside of the Territory, including coordinating each Party's use of clinical trial sites in the Development of the Products.
- 4.5 Pharmacovigilance and Recalls. Upon request by either Party to the extent required by Law, the Parties shall enter into a pharmacovigilance agreement containing reasonable and customary terms no less stringent than those required by FDA (or any applicable Regulatory Authority outside the Territory) governing the Parties' respective responsibilities relating to the exchange of safety information and data with respect to some or all Products (as required by Law). Forest shall determine whether to conduct and shall be responsible for conducting any recall or withdrawal of a Product sold by or on behalf of Forest, its Affiliates and Sublicensees in the Field in the Territory. Forest shall be responsible for all of its costs and expenses associated with any recall or withdrawal of Products pursuant to this Section 4.5; provided, however that to the extent any such recall or withdrawal resulted from Adamas' breach of its obligations hereunder or the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Adamas or any of its Affiliates, Adamas shall bear the expense of such recall or withdrawal.

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

27

#### ARTICLE V

#### COMMERCIALIZATION

- 5.1 General. From and after the Effective Date, Forest shall have the sole right, at its sole cost and expense, to Commercialize the Products in the Field in the Territory in accordance with this Agreement. During the Term, Forest shall, directly or indirectly through its Affiliates or Sublicensees, use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to Commercialize a Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product in the Field in the Territory. Without limiting the foregoing, Forest agrees to [\*] in good faith and in a manner that [\*] for [\*].
- 5.2 Commercialization Updates. For any Calendar Year prior to the end of the ER Royalty Term, FDC Royalty Term or Proprietary Non-Donepezil FDC Royalty Term, as applicable, in which Forest or its Affiliates or Sublicensees is Commercializing a Product in the Field in the Territory, Forest shall, on [\*] basis, provide Adamas with a reasonably detailed report describing such Commercialization activities completed since the last report and planned for the next [\*], no later than [\*]. Following the receipt of the first approval by the FDA of an NDA for the first Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product in the Field in the Territory, the Parties shall meet [\*] during each Calendar Year to discuss the Commercialization of the Products in the Field [\*].
- 5.3 Conduct of Commercialization.
- (a) Each Party shall not, and shall cause its Affiliates not to, and shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cause each of its and its Affiliates' licensees and (sub)licensees not to, conduct any Commercialization activity regarding any Products in its respective territory that could reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse impact on the Development or Commercialization of any Products in the other Party's respective Major Market(s) (i.e., in the case of Forest, with respect to a Product in the Field in the United States, and in the case of Adamas, with respect to a Product in the Field in Japan, the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Spain or Italy). Each Party shall require each of its and its Affiliates' licensees and (sub)licensees in its territory that are conducting Commercialization of any Products to be subject to the provisions of this Section 5.3(a) (or analogous provisions with substantially the same terms set forth in this Section 5.3(a)) with respect to the other Party's territory. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) neither Party shall be subject to any such restriction or obligation with respect to [\*]; and (ii) such restrictions and obligations shall only apply to the extent that [\*] or [\*]. Without limiting Section 5.2, each Party shall provide the other Party, upon such other Party's reasonable request, with [\*] by such first Party or any of its Affiliates, licensees or (sub)licensees, in each case to the extent such first Party has the right to provide such information; provided, however, that each Party shall [\*]. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, [\*] for so long as a Party or its Affiliates, licensees or (sub)licensees continues to Commercialize any Product in which the other Party has an economic interest under this Agreement, such Party shall [\*].
- (b) Each Party agrees not to, and agrees to cause it Affiliates not to and agrees to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cause its and its Affiliates' distributors, licensees and Sublicensees (in the case of Forest) or (sub)licensees (in the case of Adamas) not to, promote or sell Products intended for its respective territory in, or otherwise encourage sales of Products
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

28

into, the other Party's territory, subject to [\*] and [\*]. To the extent either Party becomes aware of such promotion or sales of Products into the other Party's territory, the Party who becomes aware shall promptly notify the other Party of such promotion or sale. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this clause (b) shall be construed to [\*] or [\*] or [\*] as to which [\*]. For clarity, the foregoing shall not be construed to [\*].

- (c) The Parties acknowledge and agree that Forest has been granted exclusive rights under the Adamas Intellectual Property to Commercialize the Products in the Field in the Territory under the licenses in Section 2.1, and Adamas has retained the exclusive rights under the Adamas Intellectual Property to Commercialize the Products in the Field outside the Territory, and the restrictions set forth in this Section 5.3 are in furtherance of the Parties' respective rights in the Territory and outside of the Territory.
- 5.4 Promotion of the FDC Products. The Parties acknowledge and agree, that based on their assumptions as of the Effective Date regarding (a)[\*], in each case with respect to the first FDC Product and (b) [\*] (collectively, the "FDC Launch Assumptions"), Forest, its Affiliates and Sublicensees, collectively shall [\*]. If [\*], [\*] Commercially Reasonable Efforts diligence obligation set forth in Section 5.1 with respect to Commercialization of the FDC Products prior to [\*] of the First Commercial Launch of the first FDC Product. In the event of a material change in any of the FDC Launch Assumptions, as compared with the relevant conditions as of the Effective Date, such that it would no longer constitute Commercially Reasonable Efforts for Forest to undertake [\*], Forest [\*]; provided that [\*] to [\*] with respect to the Commercialization of a FDC Product in the Field in the Territory. Upon Adamas' request, Forest shall review and discuss with Adamas the nature of any [\*] and any basis for any [\*]. Any disagreement between the Parties as to whether [\*] and [\*] with respect to the Commercialization of a FDC Product [\*] shall be [\*]. If Forest fails to meet [\*] for any FDC Product, Adamas shall have the right to [\*] and [\*], including [\*] in accordance with [\*]. In connection with any [\*], each Party shall have the right to [\*] with respect to the [\*] or [\*].

### ARTICLE VI

## FINANCIAL PROVISIONS

- 6.1 Initial License Payments. Forest shall make a non-refundable, non-creditable payment to Adamas of Sixty-Five Million Dollars (\$65,000,000) no later than five (5) Business Days after the Effective Date.
- 6.2 Development and Commercialization Costs. Except as otherwise expressly provided in Sections 4.1 or 4.2, each Party shall be responsible for its costs in connection with its Development of Products hereunder, and Forest shall be solely responsible for its costs in Commercializing Products in the Field in the Territory.
- 6.3 Event Milestone Payments.
- (a) Forest shall make the milestone payments, as specified below (each, a "Milestone Payment"), to Adamas, based on the achievement of the corresponding milestone event specified below (each, a "Milestone Event"). Forest shall notify Adamas in writing promptly after the achievement of such Milestone Event and, subject to Section 6.3(b), pay to
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

29

Adamas the corresponding Milestone Payment within [\*] of the achievement of such Milestone Event.

Milestone Event

Milestone Payment

(i)

The completion of final study report for [\*]

\$20,000,000

(ii)

The completion of a study report [\*] to support the submission of an NDA for an FDC Product [\*]

\$20,000,000

(iii)

[\*]

- 1. \$[\*] if [\*]; or
- 2. \$[\*] if [\*].

(iv)

The receipt of the first approval by the FDA of an NDA for an FDC Product ("Approval Milestone")

- 1. \$[\*] if [\*]; or
- 2. \$[\*] if [\*].

For purposes of the foregoing: only one Milestone Payment shall be paid for the achievement of each corresponding Milestone Event under this Section 6.3(a), with the maximum total Milestone Payments (if scenario 1 applies in both cases of the Acceptance Milestone and the Approval Milestone) totaling \$95,000,000 regardless of the number of acceptances or approvals for the FDC Products and no milestone payments shall be due for any other Product. For the purpose of milestones (i) and (ii) above, Forest agrees that it shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to [\*] as soon as practicable but in any event within [\*].

- (b) In the event [\*], then: (i) Forest shall [\*] under [\*] or [\*] when [\*] until the earlier of (1) the [\*] or (2) [\*], provided that if [\*], [\*] shall [\*]; and (ii) Forest shall [\*] and [\*]. In the event Forest [\*] or [\*] by the earlier of (1) the [\*] or (2) the [\*], then, if Adamas [\*] and Forest [\*], this Agreement shall [\*] with respect to [\*].
- 6.4 Product Royalties and Other Payments.
- © 2024 Biopharma Research Ltd. All rights reserved.

applicable terms of this Agreement, Forest shall pay royalties on aggregate Net Sales in the Territory of FDC Products by Forest and its Affiliates and Sublicensees, as follows:
Portion of Sales Year Net Sales of FDC Products in the Territory
(for the portion during the FDC Royalty Term)
Royalty Rate
Less than or equal to \$[*]
[*]
%
Greater than \$[*]
[*]
%
[*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
30
(b) Royalties on ER Products and Other Products. During the ER Royalty Term, subject to Section 6.4(c), Forest shall pay royalties on aggregate Net Sales in the Territory of ER Products and Other Products by Forest and its Affiliates and Sublicensees, as follows:
Portion of Sales Year Net Sales of ER Products and Other
Products in the Territory (for the portion during the ER Royalty
Term)
Royalty Rate
Less than or equal to \$[*]
[*]
%
Greater than \$[*]
[*]
%
(c) Royalty Term and Adjustments.
(i) Forest's royalty obligations to Adamas with respect to Net Sales of FDC Products in the Territory under Section 6.4(a) shall commence upon the Royalty Commencement Date (as defined in Section 6.4(c)(iv) below) for the first FDC Product in the Territory and shall continue thereafter, on a Product-by-Product basis, until the later of: (A) fifteen (15) years after First Commercial Launch of the first FDC Product in the Field in the Territory; and (B) the expiration of the last-to-expire Valid Claim of an Adamas Patent Right, including any Adamas Memantine Patent Right, that is listed in the Orange Book for such FDC Product in the Territory, except that in no event shall any royalty be due in any Calendar Quarter in which there is Generic Competition with respect to the applicable FDC Product in the Field in the Territory (the "FDC Royalty Term"). Upon expiration of Forest's royalty obligations with respect to an FDC Product under Section 6.4(a), the licenses granted by Adamas to Forest with respect to such FDC Product under Section 2.1(a)(i) and Section 2.1(a)(ii) shall become fully-paid, perpetual and irrevocable with respect to such FDC Product.
(ii) Notwithstanding Section 6.4(a) above, with respect to any FDC Product that contains, as its sole active ingredients. Memantine and a

proprietary Cholinesterase Inhibitor owned or Controlled by Forest or its Affiliates, other than Donepezil (a "Proprietary Non-Donepezil FDC Product"), in lieu of the royalty under Section 6.4(a), Forest shall pay Adamas [\*] of the Net Sales of such Proprietary Non-Donepezil FDC Products in the Territory, and such payment obligation shall commence upon the Royalty Commencement Date and shall continue, on a Product-by-Product basis, for so long as there is at least one Valid Claim of an Adamas Patent Right, including an Adamas Memantine Patent

(a) Royalties on FDC Products. Subject to Section 6.4(c)(ii) below, during the FDC Royalty Term, subject to Section 6.4(c) and any other

Right, in each case, that is listed in the Orange Book for such Proprietary Non-Donepezil FDC Product, as applicable, in the Territory, except that in no event shall any royalty be due in any Calendar Quarter in which there is Generic Competition with respect to the applicable Product in the Territory (the "Proprietary Non-Donepezil FDC Royalty Term"). Upon expiration of Forest's royalty obligations with respect to a particular Proprietary Non-Donepezil FDC Product hereunder, the licenses granted by Adamas to Forest under Section 2.1(a)(i) and Section 2.1(a)(ii) shall become fully-paid and shall remain perpetual and irrevocable with respect to such Proprietary Non-Donepezil FDC Product, respectively.

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

31

- (iii) Forest's royalty obligations to Adamas with respect to Net Sales of ER Products and Other Products in the Territory under Section 6.4(b) shall commence on the Royalty Commencement Date in the Field in the Territory and shall continue, on a Product-by-Product basis, for so long as there is at least one Valid Claim of an Adamas Patent Right, including an Adamas Memantine Patent Right, in each case, that is listed in the Orange Book for such ER Product or Other Product, as applicable, in the Territory, except that in no event shall any royalty be due in any Calendar Quarter in which there is Generic Competition with respect to the applicable ER Product or Other Product, as the case may be, in the Territory (the "ER Royalty Term"). Upon expiration of Forest's royalty obligations with respect to a particular ER Product or Other Product under Section 6.4(b), the licenses granted by Adamas to Forest under Section 2.1(a)(i) and Section 2.1(a)(ii) shall become fully-paid and shall remain perpetual and irrevocable with respect to such ER Product or Other Product, respectively.
- (iv) The "Royalty Commencement Date" shall mean: (A) with respect to an ER Product and Other Product, the date that is five (5) years after the First Commercial Launch of the first ER Product or Other Product, whichever is earlier, in the Field in the Territory; and (B) with respect to an FDC Product, the date that is five (5) years after the First Commercial Launch of the first FDC Product in the Field in the Territory.
- (v) Orange Book Listing. The Parties shall cooperate in good faith in determining which Adamas Patent Rights will be listed in the Orange Book for each Product (other than Namenda), and the Parties agree that [\*] in the Orange Book for each Product [\*]. Notwithstanding the foregoing, [\*] shall have the right to [\*] a particular Adamas Patent Right in the Orange Book for a particular Product [\*]: (A) there is [\*] listing such Adamas Patent Right; or (B) listing such Adamas Patent Right would be [\*], provided that [\*] shall [\*] at least thirty (30) days prior to [\*] and shall [\*], further provided that [\*] shall [\*] for the purpose of [\*] under this Agreement.
- (vi) [\*] Payments by Forest. Forest shall [\*] sales of an FDC Product [\*] payable to Adamas pursuant to Section 6.4(a) or Section 6.4(c)(ii), as applicable, [\*] Net Sales of such FDC Product after the applicable Royalty Commencement Date; provided, however, [\*] the royalties on sales of such FDC Product paid to Adamas for any particular Calendar Quarter [\*], provided, further, that any royalties [\*] with respect to such Net Sales of such FDC Product after the Royalty Commencement Date [\*] sales of such FDC Product paid to Adamas in such Calendar Quarter [\*]. Forest hereby represents and warrants that, [\*], there shall [\*] with respect to the Net Sales of the FDC Products in the Field in the Territory[\*].
- (vii) Blocking Patents. If [\*] cannot Manufacture or Commercialize an FDC Product in the Field in the Territory without infringing Patent Rights other than Patent Rights Controlled by Forest or its Affiliate (including those [\*]) and not licensed to Forest hereunder, which Patent Rights Covers such FDC Product, unless it obtains a license to such patent from a Third Party (other than [\*]) (a "Forest Blocking Patent") and pays a royalty under such license (including in connection with settlement of a patent infringement claim in accordance with Section 7.7), or (B) becomes subject to a final court or other binding order or ruling requiring the payment of a royalty to a Third Party with respect to a Forest Blocking Patent in order to Manufacture or Commercialize an FDC Product in the Field in the Territory (collectively, "Forest Third Party Patent Licenses"), [\*] of any royalties paid under Forest Third
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

32

Party Patent Licenses by Forest, its Affiliates or Sublicensees on Net Sales of such FDC Products after the applicable Royalty Commencement Date shall be fully creditable against royalties payable to Adamas hereunder with respect to such FDC Product; provided, however, that in no event shall such credit, together with any offset under Section 6.4(c)(vi), cause the royalties paid to Adamas with respect to such FDC Product for any particular Calendar Quarter to be reduced to less than [\*] of the amount that would otherwise be payable to Adamas for such Calendar Quarter pursuant to Section 6.4(a) or Section 6.4(c)(ii), as applicable, provided, further, that any such royalty paid on sales of such FDC Product after the Royalty Commencement Date under Forest Third Party Patent Licenses by Forest that is not used by Forest in a particular Calendar Quarter to reduce royalties on sales of such FDC Product paid to Adamas in such Calendar Quarter may be carried over to subsequent Calendar Quarters until fully used in accordance with this Section 6.4(c)(vii).

- (viii) Authorized Generics. In the event Forest, either by itself or through its Affiliates or Sublicensees, Commercializes one (1) or more products that are Authorized Generics with respect to a Product, then Forest shall pay to Adamas royalties on the Net Sales of such Authorized Generics in an amount [\*].
- (d) Consideration [\*].

- (i) Payments. (A) In the event that (x) [\*] grants, sells or transfers to any Third Party rights, or otherwise enables such Third Party, to Develop or Commercialize any Product in the Field [\*] and (y) [\*], in connection with or pursuant to such Transaction, (1) [\*] or [\*], unless [\*] have the right to [\*], without [\*] and [\*] or [\*] in order to [\*] or [\*], or (2) [\*], unless [\*] would [\*] without [\*], but excluding in each case ((1) and (2)) [\*] (any of the foregoing [\*], a "Triggering Act"), then [\*] of Sublicensing Revenues received [\*] from such Third Party for the Transaction that is reasonably allocated to such Product (which payment shall be made within [\*] after the receipt of the corresponding Sublicensing Revenue from the Third Party); and (B) in the event that [\*] Triggering Act, [\*] of such Product in such countries [\*] (where such [\*] shall be calculated [\*], but [\*], rather than [\*] and [\*]) (which payment shall be made within [\*] after the [\*]). For clarity, [\*] Sublicensing Revenue sharing obligation under clause (A) above shall not apply to any amounts received [\*] with respect to [\*], and [\*] clause (B) above shall [\*]. In the event that any payments required to be made [\*] pursuant to this Section 6.4(d)(i) are subject to additional withholding tax, [\*] to obtain any tax benefit (including through the use of foreign tax credit) with respect to any amounts withheld or deducted for purposes of calculating Sublicensing Revenue and to defend such benefit in a tax audit (and the amount of any such benefit shall be included in Sublicensing Revenue).
- (ii) Payment Term. [\*] shall commence on the First Commercial Launch [\*] Product that would give rise to a payment obligation [\*] and shall continue thereafter on a Product-by- Product basis and country-by-country basis until [\*] such first Product in the Field [\*], except that in no event shall [\*] in which there is [\*] the applicable Product in the applicable country.
- (iii) [\*] Payments and other Third Party Payments [\*]. [\*] any amounts otherwise payable [\*] pursuant to this Section 6.4(d) on a Product-by-Product basis an amount equal to [\*] of any amounts paid [\*] as consideration for a grant of rights from [\*] with respect to
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

the applicable Product [\*]; provided, however, that in no event shall such offset, together with any offset under Section 6.4(d)(iv), cause the amounts due [\*] pursuant to this Section 6.4(d) for any particular Calendar Quarter for any country to be reduced (A) in any case of Section 6.4(d)(i)(A), to less than [\*] of the amount that would otherwise be payable [\*] for such Calendar Quarter for such country pursuant to such clause, or (B) in any case of Section 6.4(d)(i)(B), to less than [\*] of the amount that would otherwise be payable [\*] for such Calendar Quarter pursuant to such clause; and provided, further, that any [\*] Payments that are not able to be used [\*] Calendar Quarter as deductions under this Section 6.4(d) due to the foregoing limits on deductions [\*] in accordance with this Section 6.4(d)(iii)(A) or (B), as applicable. [\*]. In addition, to the extent that any amounts paid [\*] are required to be paid [\*] or [\*] or [\*] or [\*] or [\*], [\*] may deduct [\*] of such amounts from any payments [\*] under this Section 6.4(d), [\*] shall [\*] when calculating the Sublicensing Revenue and royalty floor amounts under Section 6.4(d)(iii)(A) and (B) above.

- (iv) Blocking Patents. If [\*] without infringing Patent Rights other than Patent Rights [\*], which Patent Rights Cover such Product unless it obtains a license to such patent from a Third Party (other than [\*]) (an "[\*]") and pays a royalty under such license (including in connection with settlement of a patent infringement claim in accordance with Section 7.7), or (B) becomes subject to a final court or other binding order or ruling requiring the payment of a royalty to a Third Party with respect to [\*] (collectively, "[\*]"), [\*] of any royalties [\*] on net sales of such Product [\*] under Section 6.4(d)(i)(B) shall be [\*] under Sections 6.4(d)(i)(A) and (B) with respect to such Product; provided, however, that in no event shall such offset, together with any offset under Section 6.4(d)(iii), cause the amounts [\*] pursuant to Section 6.4(d)(i) for any particular Calendar Quarter for any country to be reduced (A) in any case of Section 6.4(d)(i)(A), to less than [\*] of the amount that would otherwise be payable [\*] for such Calendar Quarter pursuant to such clause; provided, further, that any such royalty paid under [\*] in such Calendar Quarter [\*] in accordance with this Section 6.4(d)(iv).
- (e) Acknowledgement of Blended Royalty.
- (i) The Parties hereby acknowledge and agree that royalties may become payable by Forest to Adamas hereunder for Products for which there are no Valid Claims of an Adamas Patent Right, including any Adamas Memantine Patent Right, and that such royalties are in consideration of each of the following, separately and together: (A) Adamas' expertise and Know-How relating to the Products and (B) licenses granted to Forest with respect to the Adamas Know-How that is not within the claims of any Adamas Patent Right, including any Adamas Memantine Patent Right. The Parties agree that the royalty rates set forth in Section 6.4(a), (b) and (c) reflect an efficient and reasonable blended allocation of the value provided by Adamas to Forest.
- (ii) The Parties hereby acknowledge and agree that [\*] hereunder for Products are in consideration of the [\*] if and when applicable in connection with the applicable Product. The Parties agree that the [\*] reflect an appropriate allocation of the value provided [\*].
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

- 6.5 Reports; Payments.
- (a) Within [\*] after the end of each Calendar Quarter during which there are Net Sales giving rise to a payment obligation under Section 6.4(a), 6.4(b), 6.4(c)(ii) or 6.4(c)(viii), Forest shall submit to Adamas a report identifying, for each Product for which a royalty is due thereupon, the Net

Sales for such Product in the Territory for such Calendar Quarter, the applicable royalty rate, any royalty payable to Adamas and the basis for any reduction in royalties pursuant to any subsection of Section 6.4; provided that the first such report (and the associated payment) with respect to a Product Category shall not be due until after the end of the first full Calendar Quarter after the First Commercial Launch of the first Product in such Product Category and shall cover the period from such First Commercial Launch until the end of such first full Calendar Quarter. Concurrently with each such report, Forest shall pay to Adamas all royalties payable by it under Section 6.4. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Forest shall have the right to deduct from any amounts otherwise owed to Adamas under Section 6.4(a), 6.4(b), 6.4(c)(ii), or 6.4(c)(viii) any damages that Forest has been awarded under Section 12.2(b)(ii) or (b)(iii) as a result of Adamas' breach of this Agreement that have not then been paid by Adamas or previously deducted under this sentence. Prior to the time that a royalty report is due under this Section 6.5(a) above for a particular Product, Forest shall provide Adamas with reports for each half Calendar Year setting forth its Net Sales of such Product during such half Calendar Year, within [\*] after the end of such half Calendar Year.

- (b) Within [\*] after the end of each Calendar Quarter during which there are net sales of Products (which shall be determined in the same manner as Net Sales as described in Section 6.4(d)) [\*], [\*] a report identifying such net sales of such Products [\*] under Section 6.4(d)(i)(B) for such Calendar Quarter, the applicable royalty rate, any royalty payable [\*] any reduction in royalties pursuant to any subsection of Section 6.4, or the amount of [\*] described in Section 6.4(d)(i)(A) for such Calendar Quarter. Concurrently with each such report, [\*] payable by it in accordance with Section 6.4(d).
- 6.6 Books and Records; Audit Rights.
- (a) Forest shall keep complete and accurate records of the underlying revenue and expense data relating to the calculations of Net Sales and Payments, including those required by Sections 6.4(a), (b), and (c). Adamas shall have the right, once annually at its own expense, to have an independent, certified public accounting firm, selected by Adamas and reasonably acceptable to Forest, review any such records of Forest in the location(s) where such records are maintained by Forest upon reasonable notice (which shall be no less than [\*] prior notice) and during regular business hours and under reasonable obligations of confidence, for the sole purpose of verifying the basis and accuracy of Payments made or due under Sections 6.4(a), (b), and (c) or otherwise under this Agreement within the [\*] period preceding the date of the request for review. The report of such accounting firm shall be limited to a certificate stating whether any report made or Payment submitted by Forest during such period is accurate or inaccurate and the actual amounts of Net Sales, and royalties or other Payment due, for such period. Should such inspection lead to the discovery of a discrepancy to Adamas' detriment, Forest shall pay within [\*] after its receipt from the accounting firm of the certificate the amount of the discrepancy plus interest calculated in accordance with Section 6.9. Adamas shall pay the full cost of the review unless the underpayment of royalties is greater than [\*] of the amount due for
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

35

the applicable period, in which case Forest shall pay the reasonable cost charged by such accounting firm for such review. Any overpayment by Forest revealed by an examination shall be fully creditable against future Payments.

- (b) [\*] shall [\*] relating to the calculations [\*] under Section 6.4(d)(i)(B) (as calculated pursuant to Section 6.4(d)) and the Sublicensing Revenue payments required [\*] under Section 6.4(d)(i)(A). [\*] shall have the right, once annually at its own expense, to have an independent, certified public accounting firm, selected by [\*] and reasonably acceptable to [\*], review any such records [\*] in the location(s) where such records are maintained [\*] upon reasonable notice (which shall be no less than [\*] prior notice) and during regular business hours and under reasonable obligations of confidence, for the sole purpose of verifying the basis and accuracy of payments made under Section 6.4(d) within the [\*] period preceding the date of the request for review. The report of such accounting firm shall be limited to a certificate stating whether any report made or payment [\*] during such period is accurate or inaccurate and the actual amounts of [\*] for which [\*] under Section 6.4(d)(i)(B) (calculated in accordance with Section 6.4(d)), royalties due, and Sublicensing Revenue payments [\*] under Section 6.4(d)(i)(A) for such period. Should such inspection lead to the discovery of a discrepancy [\*] shall pay within [\*] after its receipt from the accounting firm of the certificate the amount of the discrepancy plus interest calculated in accordance with Section 6.9. [\*] shall pay the full cost of the review unless the underpayment of royalties or other amounts due is greater than [\*] of the amount due for the applicable period, in which case [\*] shall pay the reasonable cost charged by such accounting firm for such review. Any overpayment by [\*] revealed by an examination shall be fully creditable against future payments [\*].
- 6.7 Tax Matters. No payments required to be made hereunder shall be reduced on account of any taxes unless required by Law. [\*]. The Parties shall cooperate in good faith to obtain the benefit of any relevant tax treaties to minimize as far as reasonably possible any taxes that may be levied on any Payments or payments received by Forest. Each Party shall deduct or withhold from the payments made to the other Party any taxes that it is required by Law to deduct or withhold. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if either Party is entitled under any applicable tax treaty to a reduction of the rate of, or the elimination of, applicable withholding tax, it may deliver to the other Party or the appropriate Governmental Authority (with the assistance of the other Party to the extent that this is reasonably required and is expressly requested in writing) the prescribed forms necessary to reduce the applicable rate of withholding or to relieve the other Party of its obligation to withhold tax, and the other Party shall apply the reduced rate of withholding tax, or dispense with withholding tax, as the case may be, provided that such other Party has received evidence of the first Party's delivery of all applicable forms (and, if necessary, its receipt of appropriate governmental authorization) at least [\*] prior to the time that the payment to the first Party is due. If, in accordance with the foregoing, the paying Party withholds any amount, it shall make timely payment to the proper taxing authority of the withheld amount, and send to the other Party proof of such payment within [\*] following

that latter payment. Forest represents and warrants that, to its knowledge, no withholding tax will be due on the payments made by Forest pursuant to Section 6.1, 6.3 or 6.4 based on the jurisdictions of the Parties and Law, in each case, in effect as of the Effective Date. In the event that either Party assigns this Agreement to an Affiliate or Third Party and, as a result of such assignment, payments made hereunder are subject to additional withholding tax, such assigning Party shall be

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

36

responsible for the resulting additional withholding taxes; provided, that if the non-assigning Party derives a tax benefit (including through the use of foreign tax credit) determined on a with and without basis as a result of such additional withholding, then the non-assigning Party shall promptly reimburse the assigning Party for the amount of such benefit; provided further that the non-assigning Party shall take all actions necessary to obtain any tax benefit (including through the use of foreign tax credit) with respect to such additional withholding taxes and to defend such benefit in a tax audit.

6.8 Payment Method and Currency Conversion. All payments made pursuant to this Agreement shall be made in US dollars in immediately available funds via either a bank wire transfer, an ACH (automated clearing house) mechanism, or any other means of electronic funds transfer, in the case of payments to Adamas, to Adamas' bank account at [\*], or to such other bank account as Adamas shall designate in a notice at least ten (10) days before the payment is due, or, in the case of payments to Forest's bank account at [\*] or to such other bank account as Forest shall designate in a notice at least ten (10) days before the payment is due. Each Party's wiring instructions are set forth on Schedule 6.8. For the purposes of determining the amount of any consideration payable [\*], the amount of any such consideration in any foreign currency shall be converted into another currency in accordance with the prevailing rates of exchange for the relevant month for converting such first currency into such other currency used by such paying Party's internal accounting systems, which are independently audited on an annual basis. Upon request by the non-paying Party, the paying Party shall disclose the bases for the rates of exchange used for purposes of assuring that such rates reflect prevailing rates of exchange.

6.9 Late Payments. If a Party shall fail to make a timely payment pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the other Party shall provide written notice of such failure to the non-paying Party (a "Late Payment Notice"), and interest shall accrue on the past due amount starting on the date of the Late Payment Notice as follows:

(a) for amounts [\*] or fewer days past due, the rate applied shall be the [\*] US dollar LIBOR rate effective for the date that payment was due (as published in the Wall Street Journal), computed for the actual number of days after the date of the Late Payment Notice that the payment was past due; and

(b) for amounts greater than [\*] past due, the rate applied shall be the [\*] US dollar LIBOR rate effective for the date that payment was due (as published in the Wall Street Journal) plus [\*] per annum, computed for the actual number of days after the date of the Late Payment Notice that the payment was past due; provided, however, in the event of any dispute with respect to any amount payable by a Party under this Agreement, such Party, at its option, may (i) pay such disputed amount to the other Party and if the dispute is resolved in favor of the paying Party, then within [\*] after the resolution of such dispute, the non-paying Party shall reimburse the paying Party for the amount of such payment plus interest at the [\*] US dollar LIBOR rate effective for the date that the paying Party made such payment (as published in the Wall Street Journal) plus [\*] per annum, computed for the actual number of days after the date the paying Party made such payment until the date the non-paying Party reimburses the paying Party or (ii) elect to withhold payment during the pendency of the dispute, in which case if the dispute is resolved against such Party this Section 6.9(b) shall apply.

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

37

6.10 Other Amounts Due. Unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, all amounts required to be paid by a Party under this Agreement shall be paid by such Party within [\*] after receipt of an invoice therefor.

ARTICLE VII

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OWNERSHIP, PROTECTION

### AND RELATED MATTERS

7.1 Joint IP Working Group. Promptly following the Effective Date, the Parties shall establish a joint working group consisting of at least one (1) designee of Adamas and at least one (1) designee of Forest, each of which shall have experience in the prosecution, enforcement and defense of intellectual property rights in the pharmaceutical field (the "Joint IP Working Group" or "JIPWG"). Each Party may change its designee(s) on the JIPWG upon written notice to the other Party. The JIPWG shall be responsible for coordinating all material activities and material communications relating to the prosecution, maintenance and enforcement of the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights in the Territory and for coordinating all other material communications between the Parties with respect to the Adamas Patent Rights that are not Adamas Memantine

Patent Rights and the Forest Patent Rights. The JIPWG shall strive to reach consensus with respect to such matters; provided, however, that, in the event that consensus cannot be reached, (a) subject to any applicable provisions of Section 7.3, [\*] the applicable Adamas Patent Right, including any Adamas Memantine Patent Right, or Forest Patent Right, as the case may be, shall [\*] with respect to such prosecution and maintenance and (b) [\*] any Adamas IP Infringement Claim or Invalidity Claim shall [\*] with respect to such action; in each case as more fully described in, and subject to, this ARTICLE VII.

7.2 Ownership of Know-How and Patents. Subject to the rights and obligations of the Parties hereunder: (a) [\*] shall own all Know-How (and all Patent Rights in such Know-How) that is developed, created, conceived or first reduced to practice by employees or agents or subcontractors of [\*] or its Affiliates in carrying out any Development activity pursuant to ARTICLE IV of this Agreement during the Term, with or without employees or agents or subcontractors of [\*] or its Affiliates, that [\*] (such Know-How, the "Joint Know-How" and such Patent Rights, the "Joint Patent Rights"), on a worldwide basis, and (b) [\*] shall own all [\*], on a worldwide basis. For clarity, without limitation of any rights of [\*] hereunder, [\*] shall have the right to practice the Joint Know-How and the Joint Patent Rights for any purpose, and to license others to do the same, without obtaining the consent of or accounting to [\*]. For clarity, Joint Know-How shall exclude any [\*]. The determination of whether any invention is conceived or reduced to practice by or on behalf of a Party or an Affiliate thereof for the purpose of determining whether it constitutes Joint Know-How shall, for purposes of this Agreement, be made in accordance with the laws of inventorship under the US patent laws as such laws exist as of the Effective Date. Each Party hereby assigns to the other Party such of its right, title and interest in any Know-How developed, created, conceived or first reduced to practice under this Agreement as necessary to effect the ownership rights set forth above. [\*] shall execute and deliver to [\*], without additional compensation, all documents that are necessary to assign and otherwise transfer the [\*] to [\*] as is necessary to assign and otherwise transfer the [\*] to [\*] as is necessary to fully effect the

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

38

ownership thereof by [\*]. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary [\*], [\*] shall not [\*] any [\*], except that [\*] may [\*] included in [\*] to the extent legally required or necessary [\*] for Products, but in no event shall [\*] for the purpose of [\*], including any [\*] and any [\*].

- 7.3 Prosecution and Maintenance of Patent Rights.
- (a) Prosecution of Adamas Memantine Patent Rights.
- (i) Prosecution and Maintenance. [\*] prepare, file, prosecute and maintain (including with respect to related interference, derivation, re-issuance, re-examination, opposition and other post-grant proceedings) the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights in the Territory. Adamas and Forest shall cooperate through the JIPWG in connection with the continued prosecution and maintenance [\*] of the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights, and the JIPWG shall discuss and shall strive to agree upon a strategy for the prosecution and maintenance [\*] of the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights. Subject to this Section 7.3(a)(i), if consensus cannot be reached by the JIPWG with respect to any matter relating to the prosecution and maintenance of the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights in the Territory, including whether to file a patent application in the Territory, [\*] shall have the final decision-making authority regarding such prosecution and maintenance; provided that [\*] shall consider in good faith [\*] reasonable proposals or comments as part of such filing, prosecution and maintenance. At all times during the Term, [\*] shall have the right to review and comment on the documentation, filings and communications to or from the US Patent and Trademark Office (or any successor agency) (including reasonable access thereto) related to the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights, and [\*] shall keep [\*] reasonably informed of the status of all pending patent applications that pertain to the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights. [\*]: (1) [\*] shall incorporate [\*] reasonable proposals or comments as part of such filing, prosecution or maintenance, and (2) [\*] shall use for the filing and prosecution of the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights patent counsel [\*], which [\*] patent counsel for the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights [\*]; provided, however, in the event that [\*] reasonably believes that [\*] is [\*] the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights, [\*] shall have the right to elect to change patent counsel to patent counsel [\*], such [\*]. On and after the Effective Date, such [\*] patent counsel shall [\*], and [\*] with respect to such filing and prosecution. If, [\*], [\*] decides to abandon any Adamas Memantine Patent Rights, [\*] shall, at its sole expense, have the option to continue to prosecute and maintain such Patent Rights, in which case such Patent Rights shall [\*], but, for clarity, shall [\*]. If, [\*], [\*] decides to abandon any Adamas Memantine Patent Rights, [\*] shall, at its sole expense, have the option to continue to prosecute and maintain such Patent Rights [\*], provided that (1) any such prosecution and maintenance by [\*] shall [\*] with respect to the other Adamas Memantine Patent Rights; (2) [\*] shall (A) keep [\*] reasonably informed of the status of all pending patent applications that pertain to such Adamas Memantine Patent Rights, (B) incorporate [\*] reasonable proposals or comments as part of such filing, prosecution or maintenance, and (C) use for the filing and prosecution of such Adamas Memantine Patent Rights patent counsel [\*]; and (3) for clarity, such Adamas Memantine Patent Rights shall [\*]. If (A) the prosecuting Party's intended position in the prosecution or maintenance of an Adamas Memantine Patent Right would be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on the non-prosecuting Party's interest in and rights to the [\*] (including the licenses granted hereunder), the [\*] (in case of [\*] an Adamas Memantine Patent Right), or the Commercialization of the Products in the Field in the non-

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

prosecuting Party's territory and (B) the non-prosecuting Party notifies the prosecuting Party of its objection to such prosecution or maintenance position, the Parties shall meet and discuss the non-prosecuting Party's objection in good faith and use reasonable efforts to determine a mutually agreeable prosecution or maintenance strategy, provided that if the Parties fail to agree and the non-prosecuting Party maintains its objection, [\*].

- (ii) General Provisions. With respect to [\*] prosecution and maintenance of the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights under Section 7.3(a)(i), [\*] and its Affiliates will not take (and shall not grant to any Third Party the right to take) any action (including by reissue or reexamination) to [\*] any Adamas Memantine Patent Rights to any of its Affiliates or a Third Party, [\*] shall (A) condition [\*] upon an express written agreement of such Affiliate or Third Party to be bound by the restrictions of Section 7.3(a) to the same extent as [\*], (B) be responsible for such Affiliate's or Third Party's compliance with such restrictions, (C) promptly provide to [\*] written evidence of compliance with the obligation set forth in Section 7.3(a)(ii)(A), and (D) cooperate with [\*] regarding the enforcement of such restrictions.
- (b) No Challenge. Except to the extent required under applicable Law, if: (i) Forest or any of its Affiliates or Sublicensees (including [\*] under this Agreement), or (ii) [\*], [\*] or any [\*] (if [\*] under this Agreement), intentionally commences, participates in, solicits, actively supports or encourages any challenge to the validity or enforceability of any Patent Rights in the Territory within the Adamas Patent Rights (including the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights) before any Governmental Authority, or causes or requests a review of the same by any such Governmental Authority (a "Forest Patent Challenge") and does not effectively withdraw and eliminate such Forest Patent Challenge within [\*] after written notice by Adamas to Forest, then, effective upon the end of such [\*] period: (A) [\*] set forth in [\*] shall [\*] with respect to [\*] and [\*] with respect to [\*]; (B) any [\*] shall [\*]; and (C) [\*] shall [\*] of the [\*] and any [\*]. For clarity, if [\*] an Adamas Patent Rights that [\*] as a result of a Forest Patent Challenge, then [\*], such [\*] will [\*] for purposes of [\*] hereunder. During the Term, Adamas shall provide Forest from time to time with a list of Patent Rights constituting the Adamas Patent Rights (including the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights) in the Territory to enable Forest to comply with the terms of this Section 7.3(b). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Forest shall have the right to [\*] for the sole purpose of [\*] compliance with the terms of this Section 7.3(b). Further, unless and until an Adamas Patent Right is included on such list, the provisions of this Section 7.3(b) shall not apply to such Adamas Patent Right.
- (c) Prosecution of Adamas Patent Rights; Related Adamas Patent Rights.
- (i) Adamas shall have the sole right, but not the obligation, at its cost and expense, to prepare, file, prosecute and maintain (including with respect to related interference, derivation, re-issuance, re-examination, opposition and other post-grant proceedings) the Adamas Patent Rights (other than the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights) anywhere in the world. Adamas shall keep Forest informed as to prosecution matters with respect to Adamas Patent Rights, to the extent such Adamas Patent Rights [\*], through the JIPWG, and Adamas shall consider in good faith any comments provided by Forest with respect to such prosecution matters. In the event any such Adamas Patent Right [\*], Adamas shall [\*]. [\*] shall [\*]. If Adamas' intended position in the prosecution or maintenance of the Adamas
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended

40

Patent Rights pursuant to this Section 7.3(c)(i) would be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on the Commercialization of the Products in the Field in the Territory and Forest notifies Adamas of its objection to such prosecution or maintenance position, the Parties shall meet and discuss such objection in good faith and use reasonable efforts to determine a mutually agreeable prosecution or maintenance strategy, provided that if the Parties fail to agree and Forest maintains its objection, [\*].

- (ii) If Adamas' intended position in the prosecution or maintenance of the Related Adamas Patent Rights would be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on the Commercialization of the Products in the Field in the Territory and Forest notifies Adamas of its objection to such prosecution or maintenance position, the Parties shall meet and discuss such objection in good faith and use reasonable efforts to determine a mutually agreeable prosecution or maintenance strategy, provided that if the Parties fail to agree and Forest maintains its objection, [\*].
- (d) Prosecution of Forest Patent Rights.
- (i) Forest shall have the sole right, but not the obligation, at its cost and expense, to prepare, file, prosecute and maintain (including with respect to related interference, derivation, re-issuance, re-examination, opposition and other post-grant proceedings) the Forest Patent Rights (other than the [\*] as to which [\*], [\*] as described in [\*]) anywhere in the world. Forest will keep Adamas reasonably informed with respect to the prosecution and maintenance of the Forest Patent Rights through the JIPWG, and Forest shall consider in good faith any comments provided by Adamas with respect to such prosecution matters. If Forest's intended position in the prosecution or maintenance of the Forest Patent Rights pursuant to this Section 7.3(d)(i) would be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on effect on the Commercialization of the Products in the Field outside the Territory and Adamas notifies Forest of its objection to such prosecution or maintenance position, the Parties shall meet and discuss such objection in good faith and use reasonable efforts to determine a mutually agreeable prosecution or maintenance strategy, provided that if the Parties fail to agree and Adamas maintains its objection, [\*].
- (ii) No Challenge. Except to the extent required under Law, in the event that Adamas or any of its Affiliates or (sub)licensees intentionally commences, solicits or encourages any challenge to the validity or enforceability of any Patent Rights in the Territory owned or Controlled by Forest that Cover a Product before any Governmental Authority, or causes or requests a review of the same by any such Governmental

Authority (an "Adamas Patent Challenge") and does not effectively withdraw and eliminate such Adamas Patent Challenge within [\*] after written notice by Forest to Adamas, then, effective upon the end of such [\*] period, (A) [\*] set forth in [\*] shall [\*], (B) any [\*] shall [\*], and (C) [\*] shall [\*] of the [\*] and any [\*]. During the Term, Forest shall provide Adamas from time to time with a list of Patent Rights Controlled by Forest and subject to this Section 7.3(d)(ii) to enable Adamas to comply with the terms of this Section 7.3(d)(ii). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Adamas shall have the right to [\*] for the sole purpose of [\*] compliance with the terms of this Section 7.3(d)(ii). Further, unless and until a Patent Right is included on such list, the provisions of this Section 7.3(d)(ii) shall not apply to such Patent Right. In the event Forest or any of its Affiliates or (sub)licensees initiates any claim, suit or proceeding that asserts or

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

41

enforces any Patent Rights owned or Controlled by Forest in the Territory against Adamas or any of its Affiliates or (sub)licensees with respect to any product other than a Product, then Adamas (or its Affiliate or (sub)licensee, as applicable) shall have the right to defend such claim, suit or proceeding with respect to such product (subject to the other provisions of this Agreement), notwithstanding this Section 7.3(d)(ii), and the foregoing [\*] shall not apply by reason of such defense.

- (iii) Forest shall not, and shall ensure that its Affiliates shall not, and shall not enable any licensees, collaborators or Sublicensees to, without the prior written consent of Adamas, file, prosecute or maintain any Patent Right with respect to the Forest Know-How outside the Territory that [\*], or [\*] or [\*], or [\*] in accordance with [\*] or [\*] or [\*] under this Agreement, either [\*] or [\*].
- (e) Prosecution of Joint Patent Rights. If [\*] decides not to file or to abandon any Joint Patent Right, [\*] shall, at its sole expense, have the option to file or continue to prosecute and maintain such Joint Patent Right [\*], and [\*] shall consider in good faith any comments provided by [\*] with respect to such prosecution matters; provided, however, that if [\*] any such Joint Patent Right [\*] for [\*], [\*] prosecute any such Joint Patent Rights pursuant to this Section 7.3(e). Any Joint Patent Right prosecuted and maintained by [\*] pursuant to this Section 7.3(e) shall [\*] and shall [\*] and [\*], as applicable. If [\*] intended position in the prosecution or maintenance of the Joint Patent Rights pursuant to this Section 7.3(e) would be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on the Commercialization of the Products in the Field [\*] and [\*] notifies [\*] of its objection to such prosecution or maintenance position, the Parties shall meet and discuss such objection in good faith and use reasonable efforts to determine a mutually agreeable prosecution or maintenance strategy, provided that if the Parties fail to agree and [\*] maintains its objection, [\*].
- (f) Cooperation. The Parties shall coordinate so that, to the extent practicable, there are separate patent applications for the Forest Patent Rights [\*], on the one hand, and the Adamas Patent Rights, including Adamas Memantine Patent Rights, on the other.
- (g) Notices and Encumbrances. Each Party shall execute and file those notices and other filings as the other Party shall reasonably request be made from time to time with the US Patent and Trademark Office (or any successor agency or any corresponding Governmental Authority outside the Territory) with respect to the rights granted to the other Party under this Agreement, with associated reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket costs and expenses to be reimbursed promptly by the requesting Party.
- (h) CREATE Act. The Parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement is a "joint research agreement" as defined in the CREATE Act (or, after March 16, 2013, 35 U.S.C. § 100(h)). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this ARTICLE VII, each Party may at any time make an election under the CREATE Act when exercising its rights under this ARTICLE VII without the prior written consent of the other Party. In the event a Party makes an election under the CREATE Act in accordance with this Section 7.3(h), the other Party shall cooperate and coordinate its activities with the electing Party with respect to any submissions, filings or other activities in support thereof. Without limiting the foregoing, each Party may use
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

42

the contents of Schedule 7.3(h) in exercising its rights hereunder with respect to any such election under the CREATE Act.

- 7.4 Third Party Infringement of Adamas Patent Rights.
- (a) Notice. Each Party shall promptly report in writing to the other Party during the Term any known or suspected (i) infringement of any of the Adamas Patent Rights by a Product in the Field in the Territory, or (ii) unauthorized use or misappropriation of any of the Adamas Know-How with respect to a Product in the Field in the Territory (each case, except with respect to any Adamas Paragraph IV Claim subject to Section 7.11, an "Adamas IP Infringement Claim"), of which such Party becomes aware, and shall provide the other Party with all available evidence supporting such Adamas IP Infringement Claim. Adamas shall also promptly report in writing to Forest during the Term any infringement of any Forest Patent Right by an FDC Product or any unauthorized use or misappropriation with respect to an FDC Product of any Forest Know-How anywhere in the world, in each case of which Adamas becomes aware.

- (b) Initial Right to Enforce. Subject to Sections 7.4(c) through 7.4(f), Forest shall have the first right, but not the obligation, to initiate a suit, or take other appropriate action that it believes is reasonably required to protect (i.e., prevent or abate actual or threatened infringement or misappropriation of) or otherwise enforce the Adamas Intellectual Property relating to a Product in the Field in the Territory, with respect to an Adamas IP Infringement Claim; provided that the provisions of Section 7.6 shall govern the right to defend any challenge to the validity or enforceability of any Adamas Patent Right brought in connection with such action. Any such suit by Forest shall be brought either in the name of Adamas or its Affiliate, the name of Forest or its Affiliate, or jointly by Forest, Adamas and their respective Affiliates, as may be required by the Law of the forum and Adamas shall join any action brought by Forest pursuant to this Section 7.4(b) if requested by Forest, at Forest's expense, and otherwise shall have the right to participate, at its sole expense, in such action. Adamas shall execute such legal papers and cooperate in the prosecution of any such suit as may be reasonably requested by Forest; provided that Forest shall promptly reimburse Adamas' reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable outside counsel fees and expenses) actually and reasonably incurred by Adamas in connection with such cooperation. In respect of any enforcement action brought by Forest pursuant to this Section 7.4(b), except to the extent prohibited by Laws or a court order, Forest shall (i) keep Adamas reasonably informed regarding Forest's actions with respect to the enforcement of the Adamas Intellectual Property and (ii) promptly provide Adamas with copies of all documents and other materials filed by any party to such enforcement action with the court before which such enforcement action is pending. [\*], Forest shall [\*] Adamas' reasonable proposals or comments with respect to such enforcement. [\*], Forest shall [\*] Adamas' reasonable proposals or comments with respect to such enforcement.
- (c) Step-In Right. [\*], if Forest does not initiate a suit or take other appropriate action that it has the initial right to initiate or take with respect to an Adamas IP Infringement Claim pursuant to Section 7.4(b) within [\*] of a Party providing notice of such Adamas IP Infringement Claim under Section 7.4(a), then Adamas may, in its discretion, provide Forest with notice of Adamas' intent to initiate a suit or take other appropriate action. If Adamas provides such notice and Forest does not initiate a suit within [\*] after receipt of such notice
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

from Adamas, then Adamas shall, subject to Section 7.4(d), have the right to initiate a suit or take other appropriate action that it believes is reasonably required to protect or enforce the Adamas Intellectual Property; provided that the provisions of Section 7.6 shall govern the right to defend any challenge to the validity or enforceability of any Adamas Patent Right brought in connection with such action. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if [\*] a suit or taking other action to protect or enforce the Adamas Intellectual Property pursuant to this Section 7.4(c) that [\*], [\*] enforce such Adamas Intellectual Property pursuant to this Section 7.4(c); provided, however, that [\*] an enforcement action with respect to the Adamas Intellectual Property based on considerations of [\*] under this Agreement. Any suit by Adamas shall be either in the name of Adamas or its Affiliate, the name of Forest or its Affiliate, or jointly by Forest, Adamas and their respective Affiliates, as may be required by the Law of the forum. Forest shall join any action brought by Adamas pursuant to this Section 7.4(c) if requested by Adamas, at Adamas' expense, and otherwise shall have the right to participate, at its sole expense, in such action. Forest shall execute such legal papers and cooperate in the prosecution of any such suit as may be reasonably requested by Adamas; provided that Adamas shall promptly reimburse all reasonable. documented, out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable outside counsel fees and expenses) actually and reasonably incurred by Forest in connection with such cooperation. In respect of any enforcement action brought by Adamas pursuant to this Section 7.4(c), Adamas shall (i) keep Forest reasonably informed regarding Adamas' actions with respect to the enforcement of the Adamas Patent Rights or Adamas Know-How in respect of such Adamas IP Infringement Claim and (ii) promptly provide Forest with copies of all documents and other materials filed by any party to such enforcement action with the court before which such enforcement action is pending. Adamas' step-in rights to initiate suit under this Section 7.4(c) with respect to the [\*] shall [\*].

- (d) Restrictions on Enforcement. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if (A) the enforcing Party's intended position in any enforcement action with respect to an Adamas IP Infringement Claim or settlement thereof under Section 7.4(b) or 7.4(c), in either case, would be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on the non-enforcing Party's interest in and rights to the Adamas Intellectual Property (including the licenses granted hereunder), or the Commercialization of the Products or in the case of [\*], other products that [\*] in the Field in the non-enforcing Party's respective territory and (B) the non-enforcing Party notifies the enforcing Party of its objection to such enforcement position, the Parties shall meet and discuss the non-enforcing Party's objection in good faith and use reasonable efforts to determine a mutually agreeable enforcement position, provided that if the Parties fail to agree and the non-enforcing Party maintains its objection, [\*]. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, this Section 7.4(d) shall [\*].
- (e) Conduct of Certain Actions; Costs. The Party initiating suit with respect to an Adamas IP Infringement Claim shall, subject to Sections 7.4(b) and 7.4(d), have the sole and exclusive right to select counsel for, and otherwise control, any suit initiated by it pursuant to Section 7.4(b) or 7.4(c). The initiating Party shall assume and pay all of its own out-of-pocket costs incurred in connection with any litigation or proceedings initiated by it pursuant to Sections 7.4(b) and 7.4(c), including the fees and expenses of the counsel selected by it. The non-initiating Party shall have the right to participate, but not control, and be represented in, any such suit by its own counsel at its own expense.
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

- (f) Recoveries. Any damages, settlements, accounts of profits, or other financial compensation recovered from a Third Party by the Party that assumes control over enforcing any Adamas IP Infringement Claim shall be allocated between the Parties as follows:
- (i) first, the Party that assumes control over enforcing such Adamas IP Infringement Claim shall retain an amount equal to its actual reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable outside counsel fees and expenses) actually and reasonably incurred in pursuing such Adamas IP Infringement Claim;
- (ii) second, to the extent the remaining amount is sufficient, the Party that assumes control over enforcing such Adamas IP Infringement Claim shall promptly pay to the other Party the other Party's actual reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable counsel fees and expenses) actually and reasonably incurred in connection with enforcement of such Adamas IP Infringement Claim, to the extent not paid already pursuant to Section 7.4(b) or 7.4(c), or 7.11(b) as applicable; and
- (iii) third, any remaining amount recovered shall be allocated between the Parties as follows: (A) with respect to any amounts related to FDC Products, other than Proprietary Non-Donepezil FDC Products, [\*] to Forest and [\*] to Adamas, (B) with respect to any amounts related to ER Products or Other Products, [\*] to Forest and [\*] to Adamas, and (C) with respect to any amounts related to Proprietary Non-Donepezil FDC Products, [\*] to Forest and [\*] to Adamas.
- 7.5 Enforcement of Joint Intellectual Property. [\*] shall have the sole right, but not the obligation, to initiate a suit or take other appropriate action that it believes is reasonably required to protect or otherwise enforce and defend the Joint Intellectual Property with respect to any infringement of or unauthorized use or misappropriation of such Joint Intellectual Property anywhere in the world (including in connection with a Paragraph IV Claim or foreign equivalent); provided, however, that [\*] shall not enforce the Joint Intellectual Property outside the Territory against (a) [\*] or its Affiliates or (b) [\*] or its Affiliates' respective (sub)licensees of a Product with respect to their activities with respect to any Product. [\*] shall execute such legal papers and cooperate in the enforcement of any such suit against a Third Party as may be reasonably requested by [\*]; provided that [\*] shall promptly reimburse all reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable outside counsel fees and expenses) actually and reasonably incurred by [\*] in connection with such cooperation.
- 7.6 Patent Invalidity Claim. Each of the Parties shall promptly notify the other in the event of any challenge of invalidity or unenforceability by any Third Party against an Adamas Memantine Patent Right of which it becomes aware, including any nullity, revocation, reexamination or compulsory license proceeding (each, an "Invalidity Claim"). Adamas and Forest will cooperate through the JIPWG with respect to developing a strategy for the defense of any Invalidity Claim. [\*] shall have the first right, but not the obligation, to defend against any such action against an Adamas Memantine Patent Right in the Territory, in its own name, and the costs of any such defense shall be at [\*] expense; provided that [\*] shall have the right to review and comment on the documentation, filings and communications related to such defense and, provided further that, [\*] shall [\*] [\*] reasonable proposals or comments with respect to such documentation, filings and communications; and [\*] shall [\*] Adamas' proposals or comments
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

- [\*], [\*], upon request of [\*], agrees to join in any such action and to cooperate reasonably with [\*]; provided that [\*] shall promptly reimburse all reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable outside counsel fees and expenses) actually and reasonably incurred by [\*] in connection with such cooperation. [\*], if [\*] does not defend against any such action involving such Adamas Memantine Patent Right within [\*] of a request from [\*] to do so, then [\*] shall have the right, but not the obligation, to defend such action and any such defense shall be at [\*] expense. [\*], upon request of [\*], agrees to join in any such action and to cooperate reasonably with [\*], provided that [\*] shall promptly reimburse all reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable outside counsel fees and expenses) actually and reasonably incurred by [\*] in connection with such cooperation. [\*] right to defend against any such action involving an Adamas Memantine Patent Right under this Section 7.6 shall [\*]. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if (A) the defending Party's intended position in the defense of any Invalidity Claim would be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on the non-defending Party's interest in and rights to the Adamas Intellectual Property (including the licenses granted hereunder) or the Commercialization of the Products in the Field in the non-defending Party's respective territory and (B) the non-defending Party notifies the defending Party of its objection to such intended position with respect to the defense of such Invalidity Claim, the Parties shall meet and discuss the non-defending Party's objection in good faith and use reasonable efforts to determine a mutually agreeable position, provided that if the Parties fail to agree and the non-defending Party maintains its objection, [\*] in the defense of such Invalidity Claim. This Section 7.6 shall apply mutatis mutandis with respect to the Adamas Patent Rights that are not Adamas Memantine Patent Rights if the Invalidity Claim arises in connection with the enforcement of an Adamas IP Infringement Claim pursuant to Section 7.4 or an Adamas Paragraph IV Claim pursuant to Section 7.11, with the Party who is controlling such enforcement having the first right to defend against such Invalidity Claim.
- 7.7 Claimed Infringement.
- (a) If a Third Party asserts that a Patent Right or other intellectual property right owned or otherwise controlled by it is infringed by the Development, Manufacture or Commercialization of a Product, excluding Namenda (a "Third Party Infringement Claim"), the Party first made aware of such a claim shall promptly provide the other Party written notice of such claim along with the related facts in reasonable detail.

(b) As between the Parties, Forest shall have the sole right, but not the obligation, to defend and resolve any Third Party Infringement Claim that is asserted against Forest or any of its Affiliates or Sublicensees (including, subject to Section 7.7(e), by entering into any settlement agreement with such Third Party); provided that the provisions of Section 7.4 shall govern the right to assert a counterclaim of infringement of any Adamas Patent Rights in connection with such defense, and the costs of any such defense or resolution shall be at Forest's expense (except as otherwise provided in ARTICLE X). If Forest is required, based on a final judgment in any such Third Party Infringement Claim against Forest or settlement thereof, to pay a royalty or other amount with respect to the Development, Manufacture or Commercialization of a Product in the Field in the Territory, such amounts may be offset as set forth in Section 6.4(c)(vii) with respect to such Product, as applicable.

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

46

- (c) As between the Parties, Adamas shall have the sole right, but not the obligation, to defend and resolve any Third Party Infringement Claim that is asserted against Adamas or any of its Affiliates (including, subject to Section 7.7(e), by entering into any settlement agreement with such Third Party); provided that the provisions of Section 7.4 shall govern the right to assert a counterclaim of infringement of any Adamas Patent Rights in connection with such defense, and the costs of any such defense or resolution shall be at Adamas' expense (except as otherwise provided in ARTICLE X). [\*]
- (d) With respect to any Third Party Infringement Claim that is asserted against both Adamas or any of its Affiliates or (sub)licensees, on the one hand, and Forest or any of its Affiliates, on the other hand, Adamas and Forest shall cooperate through the JIPWG with respect to developing and coordinating a strategy for the defense of any such Third Party Infringement Claim (including, subject to Section 7.7(e), by entering into any settlement agreement with such Third Party) and shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to comply with any such strategy developed by the JIPWG; provided that each Party shall have the sole right to defend and resolve of any Third Party Infringement Claim that is asserted against it or its Affiliates at its discretion.
- (e) Neither Party shall enter into a settlement with respect to a Third Party Infringement Claim without the prior consent of the other Party if (i) such settlement would adversely affect or diminish the rights and benefits of the other Party under this Agreement, or impose any new obligations or adversely affect any rights or obligations of the other Party under this Agreement or (ii) in connection with such settlement, a Party makes an admission regarding the infringement, validity or enforceability of such Third Party's Patent Rights that would be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on the Commercialization of the Products in the Field in the other Party's respective territory.
- 7.8 Patent Term Extensions. [\*] seek patent term extensions or supplemental patent protection, including supplementary protection certificates, in the Territory in relation to the Products [\*]. Adamas and Forest shall cooperate in connection with all such activities, and [\*], its agents and attorneys will give due consideration to all timely suggestions and comments of [\*] regarding any such activities; provided that [\*].
- 7.9 Patent Marking. If reasonably requested by Adamas, with respect to the Adamas Patent Rights, Forest shall comply with the patent marking statutes in the Territory with respect to a Product that is sold in the Territory by Forest, its Affiliates or its Sublicensees.
- 7.10 Interpretation of Patent Judgments. If any claim in a patent under the Adamas Patent Rights, including any Adamas Memantine Patent Right, or Forest Patent Rights becomes the subject of a judgment, decree or decision of a court, tribunal, or other authority of competent jurisdiction in the Territory, which judgment, decree, or decision is or becomes final (there being no further right of review) and adjudicates the validity, enforceability, scope or infringement of the same, the construction of such claim in such judgment, decree or decision shall be followed thereafter in the Territory in determining whether a Product is subject to a royalty hereunder, not only as to such claim but also as to all other claims in the Territory to which such construction reasonably applies. If at any time there are two or more conflicting final judgments, decrees, or decisions with respect to the same claim, the decision of the higher tribunal shall thereafter
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

47

control, but if the tribunals be of equal rank, then the final judgment, decree, or decision more favorable to such claim shall control unless and until the majority of such tribunals of equal rank adopt or follow a less favorable final judgment, decree, or decision, in which event the latter shall control.

- 7.11 Certification under Drug Price Competition and Patent Restoration Act.
- (a) Notice. If a Party becomes aware of any certification filed pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 355(b)(2)(A) or 355(j)(2)(A)(vii)(IV) or its successor provisions (a "Paragraph IV Claim") claiming that any Adamas Patent Rights Covering a Product in the Field in the Territory are invalid or otherwise unenforceable, or that infringement of any Adamas Patent Right will not arise from the manufacture, use, import or sale of a Product by a Third Party in the Field in the Territory (a "Adamas Paragraph IV Claim"), such Party shall promptly notify the other Party in writing within five (5) Business Days after its receipt thereof.

- (b) Control of Response; Recoveries. [\*] shall have the first right, but not the obligation, to initiate and control patent infringement litigation for an Adamas Paragraph IV Claim; provided that the provisions of Section 7.6 shall govern the right to defend any challenge to the validity or enforceability of any Adamas Patent Right brought in connection with such action. Any suit by [\*] shall be brought either in the name of Adamas or its Affiliate, the name of Forest or its Affiliate, or jointly by Forest, Adamas and their respective Affiliates, as may be required by the Law of the forum and [\*] shall join any action brought by [\*] pursuant to this Section 7.11 if requested by [\*], at [\*] expense, and otherwise shall have the right to participate, at its sole expense, in such action. [\*] shall execute such legal papers and cooperate in the prosecution of such suit as may be reasonably requested by [\*]; provided that [\*] shall promptly reimburse [\*] reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable outside counsel fees and expenses) actually and reasonably incurred by [\*] in connection with such cooperation. In respect of any patent infringement litigation for such Adamas Paragraph IV Claim controlled by [\*], [\*] shall (i) keep [\*] reasonably informed regarding [\*] actions with respect to such action and (ii) promptly provide [\*] with copies of all documents and other materials filed by any party to such infringement litigation for such Adamas Paragraph IV Claim with the court before which such infringement action is pending. [\*] shall [\*] reasonable proposals or comments with respect to such documents and materials; and [\*] shall [\*] reasonable proposals or comments. If [\*] elects not to assume control over litigating any Adamas Paragraph IV Claim, [\*] shall notify [\*] as soon as practicable but in any event not later than [\*] before the first action required to litigate such Adamas Paragraph IV Claim so that [\*] may, but shall not be required to, assume sole control over litigating such Adamas Paragraph IV Claim using counsel of its own choice. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if [\*] a patent infringement litigation for such Adamas Paragraph IV Claim pursuant to this Section 7.11(b) that [\*] and [\*], [\*] litigation for such Adamas Paragraph IV Claim; provided, however, that [\*] with respect to such Adamas Paragraph IV Claim based on considerations of [\*] under this Agreement. Any suit by [\*] shall be either in the name of Adamas or its Affiliate, the name of Forest or its Affiliate, or jointly by Forest, Adamas and their respective Affiliates, as may be required by the Law of the forum. [\*] shall join any action brought by [\*] pursuant to this Section 7.11 if requested by [\*], at [\*] expense, and otherwise shall have the right to participate, at its sole expense, in such action. [\*] shall execute such legal papers and cooperate in the
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

prosecution of such suit as may be reasonably requested by [\*]; provided that [\*] shall promptly reimburse all reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable outside counsel fees and expenses) actually and reasonably incurred by [\*] in connection with such cooperation. In respect of any patent infringement litigation for such Adamas Paragraph IV Claim for which [\*] assumes control under this Section 7.11(b), [\*] shall (1) keep [\*] reasonably informed regarding [\*] actions with respect to such action and (2) promptly provide [\*] with copies of all documents and other materials filed by any party to such infringement litigation for such Adamas Paragraph IV Claim with the court before which such infringement action is pending. Any compensation recovered as a result of such litigation shall be allocated as set forth in Section 7.4(f) above. In the case of a conflict between this Section 7.11 and Section 7.4 with regard to any action covered by this Section 7.11, this Section 7.11 shall control.

- (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if (i) the litigating Party's intended position in any infringement litigation for an Adamas Paragraph IV Claim or settlement thereof under this Section 7.11 would be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on the non-litigating Party's interest in and rights to the Adamas Intellectual Property (including the licenses granted hereunder) or the Commercialization of the Products in the Field in the non-litigating Party's respective territory and (ii) the non-litigating Party notifies the litigating Party of its objection to such position, the Parties shall meet and discuss the non-litigating Party's objection in good faith and use reasonable efforts to determine a mutually agreeable position, provided that if the Parties fail to agree and the non-litigating Party maintains its objection, [\*] with respect to such Adamas Paragraph IV Claim. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, this Section 7.11(c) shall [\*].
- 7.12 Adamas Product Trademark Rights.
- (a) Prosecution of Adamas Product Trademark Rights. [\*] the prosecution and maintenance of the Adamas Product Trademark Rights in the Territory. [\*] shall cooperate with [\*] with respect to such prosecution and maintenance, subject to [\*] reimbursement of [\*] reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable outside counsel fees and expenses) actually and reasonably incurred by [\*] in connection with such cooperation. [\*] shall have the right to review and comment on the documentation, filings and communications to or from the US Patent and Trademark Office (or any successor agency) (including reasonable access thereto) related to the Adamas Product Trademark Rights.
- (b) Enforcement and Defense of Adamas Product Trademark Rights.
- (i) Each Party shall provide to the other Party prompt written notice of any actual or threatened infringement of the Adamas Product Trademark Rights in the Territory and of any actual or threatened claim that the use of the Adamas Product Trademark Rights in the Territory infringes, dilutes, misappropriates, or otherwise violates the rights of any Third Party. Each Party agrees to cooperate fully with the other Party with respect to any enforcement action or defense commenced pursuant to this Section 7.12; provided that the Party controlling such enforcement action or defense shall reimburse the reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable outside counsel fees and expenses) actually and reasonably incurred by the other Party in connection with such cooperation. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Forest shall have no obligation under this Section 7.12(b)(i) unless it elects to use the Adamas Product Trademark Rights.

- (ii) Forest shall have the sole right, but not the obligation, to initiate a suit, or take other appropriate action that it believes is reasonably required to protect (i.e., prevent or abate actual or threatened infringement or misappropriation of) or otherwise enforce the Adamas Product Trademark Rights relating to a Product in the Field in the Territory. Any such suit by Forest shall be brought either in the name of Adamas or its Affiliate, the name of Forest or its Affiliate, or jointly by Forest, Adamas and their respective Affiliates, as may be required by the Law of the forum. For this purpose, Adamas shall join such suit, if requested by Forest, and execute such legal papers and cooperate in the prosecution of such suit as may be reasonably requested by Forest; provided that Forest shall promptly reimburse Adamas' reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable outside counsel fees and expenses) actually and reasonably incurred by Adamas in connection with such cooperation. [\*] any damages, settlements, accounts of profits, or other financial compensation recovered from a Third Party as a result of Forest's enforcement of the Adamas Product Trademark Rights pursuant to this Section 7.12(b).
- (c) Third Party Claims. [\*] defend against any alleged, threatened, or actual claim by a Third Party that the use or registration of the Adamas Product Trademark Rights in the Territory infringes, dilutes, misappropriates, or otherwise violates any Trademark Rights or other right of that Third Party or constitutes unfair trade practices or any other like offense, or any other claims as may be brought by a Third Party in connection with such use of the Adamas Product Trademark Rights with respect to a Product in the Territory. Any compensation recovered as a result of such litigation shall be allocated as set forth in Section 7.4(f) above. [\*] shall have the right to participate and be in, but not control, any such suit [\*] under this Section 7.12(c) by its own counsel at its own expense. In the event that [\*] does not take appropriate action to defend and resolve such suit [\*], which suit is covered by this Section 7.12(c), then [\*] may, in its discretion, provide [\*] with notice of [\*] intent to defend such suit. If [\*] provides such notice and [\*] does not initiate or continue, as applicable, the defense of such suit within [\*] after receipt of such notice, then [\*] shall have the right to defend and resolve such suit.
- 7.13 Privileged Communications. In furtherance of this Agreement, it is expected that Forest and Adamas will, from time to time, disclose to one another privileged communications with counsel, including opinions, memoranda, letters and other written, electronic and verbal communications. Such disclosures are made with the understanding that they shall remain confidential in accordance with ARTICLE VIII, that they will not be deemed to waive any applicable attorney-client or attorney work product or other privilege and that they are made in connection with the shared community of legal interests existing between Adamas and Forest, including the community of legal interests in avoiding infringement of any valid, enforceable patents of Third Parties and maintaining the validity of Adamas Patent Rights and Forest Patent Rights. In the event of any litigation (or potential litigation) subject to this ARTICLE VII, the Parties shall, upon either Party's request, enter into a reasonable and customary joint defense agreement.
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

50

### ARTICLE VIII

# CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

8.1 Treatment of Confidential Information. During the Term and for [\*] thereafter, each Party shall maintain Confidential Information (as defined in Section 8.2) of the other Party in confidence, and shall not disclose, divulge or otherwise communicate such Confidential Information to others (except for agents, directors, officers, employees, consultants, subcontractors, licensees, partners, Affiliates and advisors (collectively, "Agents") under obligations of confidentiality) or use it for any purpose other than in connection with the Development, Manufacture or Commercialization of Products in accordance with this Agreement, and each Party shall exercise Commercially Reasonable Efforts to prevent and restrain the unauthorized use and disclosure of such Confidential Information by any of its Agents, which efforts shall be at least as diligent as those generally used by such Party in protecting its own confidential and proprietary information. Each Party will be responsible for a breach of this ARTICLE VIII by its Agents. Forest may disclose Confidential Information of Adamas, and Adamas may disclose Confidential Information of Forest (including any [\*]) (a) to Governmental Authorities in order to respond to inquiries, requests or investigations by Governmental Authorities and (b) subject to Section 4.2(f), otherwise to the extent reasonably necessary in order to fulfill its obligations or exercise its rights under Section 4.2(f) and 4.5 under this Agreement (but for clarity, except pursuant to [\*] use Confidential Information of [\*] for purposes related to [\*]). In addition, Forest may disclose Confidential Information of Adamas (x) to the extent reasonably necessary or useful to obtain or maintain INDs or Regulatory Approvals for any Product consistent with Forest's rights under this Agreement; (y) to outside consultants, scientific advisory boards, managed care organizations, and non-clinical and clinical investigators to the extent reasonably necessary or reasonably useful to Develop, Manufacture or Commercialize any Product in a manner consistent with Forest's rights under this Agreement; or (z) to the extent reasonably useful to Develop, Manufacture or Commercialize any Product in a manner consistent with Forest's rights under this Agreement. With respect to any disclosure of the other Party's Confidential Information pursuant to this Section 8.1, each Party shall obtain the same confidentiality obligations from any Third Parties (excluding Governmental Authorities) to which it discloses the Confidential Information of the other Party as it obtains with respect to its own similar types of confidential information.

8.2 Confidential Information. "Confidential Information" means all trade secrets or other proprietary information, know-how, including any proprietary data and materials (whether or not patentable or protectable as a trade secret), regarding a Party's or its Affiliate's or licensor's

technology, products, business, financial status or prospects or objectives regarding the Products that is disclosed by a Party to the other Party; provided, that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the [\*] shall be the Confidential Information of [\*]. All information disclosed prior to the Effective Date by either Party or its Affiliates pursuant to the confidentiality agreement between Adamas and Forest Parent dated as of [\*], as amended through the Effective Date (the "Confidentiality Agreement") shall be deemed "Confidential Information" of such Party. For clarity, all data and information regarding Products generated after the Effective Date by Forest or by Third Parties on behalf of Forest, its Affiliates or their Sublicensees, including Forest Know-How [\*] shall be deemed "Confidential Information" of Forest, and all data and information regarding Products generated after the Effective Date by Adamas or by Third Parties

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

51

on behalf of Adamas, its Affiliates or their (sub)licensees [\*], including Adamas Know-How, shall be deemed "Confidential Information" of Adamas. Notwithstanding the foregoing, there shall be excluded from the foregoing definition of Confidential Information any of the foregoing that:

- (a) was known by the receiving Party or its Affiliate prior to disclosure by the disclosing Party or its Affiliate hereunder or under the Confidentiality Agreement (as evidenced by the receiving Party's or such Affiliates' written records or other competent evidence);
- (b) either before or after the date of the disclosure to the receiving Party is lawfully disclosed to the receiving Party by a Third Party without any violation of any obligation to the other Party; provided that the foregoing exclusion [\*]; or
- (c) either before or after the date of the disclosure to the receiving Party, becomes published or generally known to the public through no fault or omission on the part of the receiving Party or its Agents; or
- (d) is independently developed by or for the receiving Party without reference to or reliance upon the disclosing Party's Confidential Information as demonstrated by contemporaneous written records of the receiving Party.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the receiving Party may disclose the disclosing Party's Confidential Information if it is required to be disclosed to comply with applicable Laws, to defend or prosecute litigation or to comply with governmental regulations or the regulations or requirements of any stock exchange, provided that the receiving Party promptly provides prior notice of such disclosure to the other Party and uses Commercially Reasonable Efforts to avoid or minimize the degree of such disclosure.

- 8.3 Registration, Filing and Disclosure of the Agreement. The terms of this Agreement are confidential and shall not be disclosed by either Party except pursuant to this Section 8.3 and Section 8.5. To the extent a Party determines in good faith that it is required by applicable Law to publicly file, register or notify this Agreement with a Governmental Authority, including public filings pursuant to securities Laws or securities exchange rules, such disclosing Party shall provide the proposed redacted form of this Agreement to the other Party with a reasonable amount of time prior to filing or disclosure for the other Party to review and approve such draft, such approval not to be unreasonably conditioned, withheld or delayed. The Party making such filing, registration, notification or disclosure shall submit this Agreement in a manner consistent with the agreed redaction and shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to seek confidential treatment for the redacted terms, to the extent such confidential treatment is applicable and reasonably available consistent with applicable Law. Each Party shall be responsible for its own legal and other external costs in connection with any such filing, registration or notification. In the event that Forest consents to any disclosure of the terms of this Agreement that would otherwise be prohibited under this Section 8.3, such disclosure must be pursuant to obligations of confidentiality no less stringent than set forth in this Agreement.
- 8.4 Publications. The Parties recognize the desirability of publishing and publicly disclosing the results of clinical trials of pharmaceutical products. Accordingly, subject to this
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

52

Section 8.4 and coordination through designated representatives of each Party, each Party shall be free to publicly disclose the results of clinical trials that it sponsors involving Products, subject to [\*] prior review by the other Party for protection of its Confidential Information, in a manner consistent with all applicable Laws. For purposes of this Section 8.4, [\*] shall be deemed the sponsor of any clinical trial conducted under the Development Plan. In addition, if a Party intends to publish articles in scientific or medical journals or to make public presentations of the results of such clinical trials, such Party shall provide to the other Party through the designated representatives of each Party at its earliest opportunity with any such proposed abstracts, manuscripts or summaries of presentations. The Party receiving such abstract, manuscript or summary shall respond promptly through its designated representative, and in any event no later than [\*] after receipt of such proposed publication or presentation, with its comments, including any Confidential Information of such Party to be removed prior to publication or presentation. The Party making such publication or presentation agrees to remove any Confidential Information identified by the other Party as to which it does not have a right of disclosure hereunder, and will give due regard to comments furnished by such other Party and such comments shall not be unreasonably rejected. All publications involving Products made pursuant to this Section 8.4 shall be in accordance with any guidelines or

strategies promulgated by the JDC and shall include appropriate acknowledgement consistent with standard scientific practice of any contributions of each Party to the results being publicly disclosed (including acknowledgement to Adamas with respect to the design of DM104, DM105, DM303, and DM304). Notwithstanding the foregoing, [\*] publicly disclose the results of clinical trials that [\*] compliance with any guidelines or strategies promulgated by the JDC.

8.5 Press Releases and Other Disclosures. The Parties hereby each approve the form of joint press release set forth in Schedule 8.5 and shall cooperate in the release thereof as soon as practicable after the Effective Date. The Parties also recognize that each Party may from time to time desire to issue additional press releases and make other public statements or public disclosures regarding the subject matter of this Agreement. In such event, the Party desiring to issue an additional press release or make such a public statement or disclosure shall provide the other Party with a copy of the proposed press release, statement or disclosure for review and approval in advance (except that neither Party shall have any obligation to disclose Confidential Information except to the extent required or permitted pursuant to this ARTICLE VIII). No other public statement or public disclosure concerning the existence or terms of this Agreement shall be made, either directly or indirectly, by either Party, without first obtaining the written approval of the other Party. Once any public statement or disclosure has been approved in accordance with this Section 8.5, then either Party may appropriately communicate information contained in such permitted statement or disclosure. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 8.5, Schedule 8.5 or of this ARTICLE VIII, a Party may (a) disclose the existence and terms of this Agreement where required, as reasonably determined by the disclosing Party, by applicable Law, by applicable stock exchange regulation or by order or other ruling of a competent court, (b) disclose the existence and terms of this Agreement under obligations of confidentiality to agents, advisors and contractors, and to potential agents, advisors, and contractors, and (c) publicly announce any of the matters set forth in Schedule 8.5, provided that the announcing Party provides the other Party with a copy of the proposed text of such announcement sufficiently in advance of the scheduled release or publication thereof to afford such other Party a reasonable opportunity to review and comment upon the proposed text. In an

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

53

effort to facilitate the Parties' disclosure of the existence and terms of this Agreement to certain Third Parties (under obligations of confidentiality at least as strict as those contained in this Article VIII) not otherwise permitted by this Section 8.5, the Parties agree to use the following staged process in disclosing the existence and terms of this Agreement to existing and potential acquirers, partners and investors. Each Party may initially disclose to potential acquirers, partners and investors (under obligations of confidentiality) an agreed redacted version of this Agreement, which the Parties shall jointly prepare and use good faith efforts to agree to promptly after the Effective Date; provided, that if either Party seeks to disclose the existence and terms of this Agreement to potential acquirers, partners and investors prior to the Parties' agreeing on a redacted version of this Agreement in a manner not permitted by this Section 8.5, [\*]. Following disclosure of the agreed redacted version of this Agreement to any potential acquirers, partners and investors, if such potential acquirers, partners and investors proceed to an advanced stage of diligence and evaluation of the applicable Party (and in any event after the execution of such transaction), subject to providing the other Party with [\*] prior written notice (which such notice shall include the name of such potential acquirer, partner or investor, provided that the other Party agrees in writing to maintain the confidentiality of the fact that such Person is a potential acquirer, partner or investor of such Party, and to not use the knowledge of such fact for any purpose other than maintaining an internal record as to which Third Party has had access to an unredacted version of this Agreement), such Party shall have the right to disclose an unredacted version of the Agreement to such Third Party.

8.6 Product Information. Adamas recognizes that by reason of, inter alia, Forest's status as an exclusive licensee pursuant to the grants under Section 2.1(a), Forest has an interest in Adamas' retention in confidence of the Product Information. Accordingly, during the Term, except pursuant to its exercise of rights under Section 4.2(f), Adamas shall maintain the Product Information in confidence, and shall not disclose, divulge or otherwise communicate the Product Information to others (except for its Agents under obligations of confidentiality) or use it for any purpose other than in connection with the Development, Manufacture or Commercialization of Products in accordance with this Agreement, and Adamas shall exercise Commercially Reasonable Efforts to prevent and restrain the unauthorized use and disclosure of the Product Information by any of its Agents, which efforts shall be at least as diligent as those generally used by Adamas in protecting its own confidential and proprietary information, except to the extent (a) such disclosure would be permitted under clause (a) or (b) of Section 8.1 or the last sentence of Section 8.2 if the Product Information were Confidential Information of Forest or (b) the Product Information becomes published or generally known to the public through no fault or omission on the part of Adamas or its Agents.

### ARTICLE IX

### REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS

- 9.1 Adamas' Representations. Except as set forth on Schedule 9.1, Adamas hereby represents and warrants as of the Effective Date as follows:
- (a) Adamas has the corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement has been duly and validly authorized and approved by all necessary corporate action on the part of Adamas. Adamas has taken all other action required by Law, its certificate
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

of incorporation or by-laws or any agreement to which it is a party or by which it or its assets are bound, to authorize such execution, delivery and performance. Assuming due authorization, execution and delivery on the part of Forest, this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Adamas, enforceable against Adamas in accordance with its terms.

- (b) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Adamas and the performance by Adamas contemplated hereunder will not violate any US Law or, to Adamas' knowledge, any Law of any Governmental Authority outside the US.
- (c) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the performance hereof by Adamas requires Adamas or any of its Affiliates to obtain any permit, authorization or consent from any Governmental Authority or from any other Person, and such execution, delivery and performance by Adamas or any of its Affiliates will not result in the breach of or give rise to any termination of, rescission, renegotiation or acceleration under or trigger any other rights under any agreement or contract to which Adamas or any of its Affiliates may be a party except any that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to adversely affect Forest's rights under this Agreement or the ability of Adamas to perform its obligations under this Agreement.
- (d) To Adamas' knowledge, there is no actual or threatened infringement by a Third Party of any of the Adamas Patent Rights or Adamas Product Trademark Rights in the Territory, or any other actual infringement or threatened infringement in the Territory by a Third Party that would adversely affect Forest's rights under this Agreement. To Adamas' knowledge, the practice of the Adamas Manufacturing Know-How or the Development, Manufacture, use, sale, offer for sale or importation by Forest of (i) a Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product (but only with respect to the combination of Memantine and Donepezil as active ingredients in such Product and not with respect to any aspect of such Product other than the combination of such active ingredients, such as the formulation or manufacturing process of such Product or its components) or (ii) the Initial FDC Product, in each case in accordance with this Agreement, does not and will not infringe or constitute a misappropriation or other violation of the rights of any Third Party in the Territory existing as of the Effective Date to which Forest does not have a license as of the Effective Date. To Adamas' knowledge, the issued patents encompassed within Adamas Patent Rights are valid and enforceable patents and no Third Party has challenged the validity or enforceability of such patents (including through the institution or written threat of institution of interference, nullity, revocation or similar invalidity proceedings before the US Patent and Trademark Office), and Adamas has not received a written opinion of counsel setting forth a reasonable basis for such a claim by a Third Party.
- (e) The Adamas Patent Rights and Adamas Product Trademark Rights have been filed and are being maintained in accordance with the procedures of the respective offices in which they are filed in the Territory, including the US Patent and Trademark Office, and all applicable fees have been paid.
- (f) To Adamas' knowledge, each of the Adamas Patent Rights properly identifies each and every inventor of the claims thereof as determined in accordance with Law in the Territory.
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

- (g) To Adamas' knowledge, each Person who has or has had any ownership rights in or to any Adamas Patent Rights, Adamas Know-How or the Adamas Product Trademark Rights has assigned and has executed an agreement assigning its entire right, title and interest in and to such Adamas Patent Rights, Adamas Know-How or Adamas Product Trademark Rights, as the case may be, to Adamas.
- (h) Schedule 1.7 includes: (i) to Adamas' knowledge, a complete and correct list of all pending or issued Adamas Patent Rights, and (ii) a complete and correct list of all pending or issued Adamas Memantine Patent Rights, in each case Controlled by Adamas or its Affiliates as of the Effective Date.
- (i) Adamas is the sole and exclusive legal and beneficial owner of, and Controls, all the Adamas Patent Rights and all Adamas Product Trademark Rights, in each case, that exist as of the Effective Date and is entitled to grant the licenses and other rights granted by Adamas herein. To Adamas' knowledge, all assignments to Adamas of ownership rights relating to the Adamas Patent Rights, Adamas Know-How and the Adamas Product Trademark Rights are valid and enforceable. Adamas has not previously assigned, transferred, conveyed or otherwise encumbered its right, title and interest in the Adamas Intellectual Property and the Adamas Product Trademark Rights in the Territory or otherwise in a manner that conflicts with any license, assignment or other rights granted to Forest hereunder.
- (j) There is no action, claim, demand, suit, proceeding, arbitration, grievance, citation, summons, subpoena, inquiry or investigation of any nature, civil, criminal, regulatory or otherwise, in law or in equity, pending against or, to Adamas' knowledge, threatened against Adamas in the Territory in connection with any Adamas Patent Rights, Adamas Know-How, Adamas Product Trademark Rights or against or relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (k) To Adamas' knowledge, the conception, development and reduction to practice of (i) the Adamas Patent Rights and (ii) the Adamas Know-How existing as of the Effective Date, in each case (clause (i) and (ii)) have not constituted or involved the misappropriation of trade secrets or other rights or property of any Person.

- (I) The Adamas Patent Rights and Adamas Know-How (i) were not conceived, discovered, developed or otherwise made in connection with any research activities funded, in whole or in part, by the federal government of the United States or any agency thereof; and (ii) are not otherwise subject to the provisions of the Patent and Trademark Law Amendments Act of 1980, as amended, codified at 35 U.S.C. §§200-212, as amended, as well as any regulations promulgated pursuant thereto, including in 37 C.F.R. part 401 (the "Bayh-Dole Act").
- (m) No payments to Third Parties for rights under Third Party Technology would be owed with respect to the Adamas Intellectual Property as a result of the Parties' activities hereunder under agreements existing as of the Effective Date to which Adamas or any of its Affiliates is a party.
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

- (n) All written information, documentation and other materials furnished or made available by Adamas upon the request of Forest during Forest's period of diligence prior to the Effective Date are true, complete and correct copies of what they purport to be (as redacted for purposes of confidentiality).
- (o) To Adamas' knowledge, all Development activities conducted by Adamas with respect to the Products prior to the Effective Date have been and are being conducted in material compliance with experimental protocols, procedures and controls pursuant to generally accepted professional scientific standards, and applicable Law, including applicable requirements of "good laboratory practices" and "good clinical practices," as applicable, as defined by the FDA. Adamas has not received any written notices from the FDA or any other Regulatory Authority requiring the termination, suspension or material modification of any clinical trials of the Products that have been or are currently being conducted by Adamas.
- (p) Adamas has prepared, maintained and retained all Regulatory Filings for the Products in accordance in all material respects with all applicable Laws.
- (q) Adamas has obtained all required consents from any Person (including any Third Party manufacturer) necessary to transfer the Adamas Manufacturing Know-How to Forest.
- (r) There are no Trademark Rights (other than the corporate names of Adamas) associated with any Product under Development by Adamas other than the Adamas Product Trademark Rights.
- (s) Neither Adamas nor, to the knowledge of Adamas, any of its directors, officers, employees, agents or subcontractors has been convicted of any crime or engaged in any conduct that has resulted, or would reasonably be expected to result, in debarment by the FDA under 21 U.S.C. § 335a or any similar state Law.
- (t) Schedule 9.1(t) sets forth a complete list of all of the material contracts relating to the Products to which Adamas (or its Affiliate) is a party.
- (u) Adamas has disclosed or provided access to Forest, as redacted for purposes of confidentiality, all material information known to Adamas regarding Adamas' Development, Manufacturing and Commercialization of the Products in the Field in the Territory, including all regulatory information regarding the Products in the Field in the Territory (including all adverse information with respect to the safety and efficacy of the Products) known to Adamas or its Affiliates as of the Effective Date and made available to Forest, as redacted for purposes of confidentiality, a full and complete copy of the End of Phase II Meeting Minutes, which minutes include all approval requirements for the NDA for the Initial FDC Product specified by the FDA at or in connection with the End of Phase II Meeting.
- (v) Adamas has no Affiliates as of the Effective Date other than Adamas India, Ltd. and Adamas Singapore, Ltd.
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

- (w) Adamas has disclosed to Forest all material non-public information known to Adamas and its Affiliates with respect to the safety and efficacy of each Product under development by Adamas as of the Effective Date that is not generally related to pharmaceutical products that contain Memantine or Donepezil as an active pharmaceutical ingredient.
- (x) Adamas has made available to Forest all material regulatory documentation owned or possessed by Adamas regarding or related to the Products in the Field in the Territory. Adamas has prepared, maintained or retained all such material regulatory documentation required to be maintained or reported pursuant to and in accordance with the applicable requirements of "good laboratory practices" and "good clinical practices," as applicable, as defined by the FDA, to the extent required, and applicable Law, and such regulatory documentation does not contain any materially false or misleading statements.
- 9.2 Forest's Representations. Except as set forth in Schedule 9.2, Forest hereby represents and warrants as of the Effective Date as follows:

- (a) Forest has the corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement has been duly and validly authorized and approved by all necessary corporate action on the part of Forest. Forest has taken all other action required by Law, its certificate of incorporation or by-laws or any agreement to which it is a party or by which it or its assets are bound to authorize such execution, delivery and (subject to obtaining all necessary governmental approvals with respect to the continued Development and Commercialization of Products) performance. Assuming due authorization, execution and delivery on the part of Adamas, this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Forest, enforceable against Forest in accordance with its terms.
- (b) The execution and delivery of this Agreement by Forest and Forest's performance hereunder will not violate (subject to obtaining all necessary governmental approvals with respect to the continued Development, Manufacture and Commercialization of Products) any Law in the Territory or, to Forest's knowledge, any Law of any Governmental Authority outside the Territory.
- (c) There is no action, claim, demand, suit, proceeding, arbitration, grievance, citation, summons, subpoena, inquiry or investigation of any nature, civil, criminal, regulatory or otherwise, in law or in equity, pending or, to the knowledge of Forest, threatened against Forest in connection with or relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (d) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the performance hereof by Forest requires Forest or any of its Affiliates to obtain any permit, authorization or consent from any Governmental Authority (subject to obtaining all necessary governmental approvals with respect to the continued Development and Commercialization of Products) or from any other Person, and such execution, delivery and performance by Forest or any of its Affiliates will not result in the breach of or give rise to any termination of, rescission, renegotiation or acceleration under or trigger any other rights under any agreement or contract to which Forest or any of its Affiliates may be a party, except any that would not, individually or in
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

the aggregate, reasonably be expected to adversely affect Adamas' rights under this Agreement or the ability of Forest to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

- (e) The copy of [\*] the consummation of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement attached hereto as Schedule 9.2(e) is a true and correct copy of such [\*].
- (f) Neither Forest nor, to the knowledge of Forest, any of its directors, officers, employees, agents or subcontractors has been convicted of any crime or engaged in any conduct that has resulted, or would reasonably be expected to result, in debarment by the FDA under 21 U.S.C. § 335a or any similar state Law.
- (g) To Forest's knowledge, the Development, Manufacture, use, sale, offer for sale or importation by Forest of a Memantine-Donepezil FDC Product (but only with respect to the combination of Memantine and Donepezil as active ingredients in such Product and not with respect to any aspect of such Product other than the combination of such active ingredients, such as the formulation or manufacturing process of such Product or its components) does not and will not infringe or constitute a misappropriation or other violation of the rights of any Third Party in the Territory to which Forest does not have a license as of the Effective Date.
- (h) The [\*] in a manner that, as compared to the [\*], has an adverse effect on the rights of Adamas hereunder (including the scope of the Patent Rights and Know-How that [\*] under [\*]). The [\*], and [\*], in each case in a manner that would have an adverse effect on such rights of Adamas.
- (i) If and to the extent that [\*], the scope of the intellectual property rights [\*] that [\*] to Develop, Manufacture and Commercialize [\*] shall [\*] intellectual property rights [\*] to Develop, Manufacture and Commercialize [\*].
- 9.3 Adamas Covenants. Adamas covenants and agrees during the Term that:
- (a) Adamas shall not grant to any Third Party any rights that would conflict with Forest's rights hereunder.
- (b) Adamas shall not assign, transfer, convey or otherwise encumber its right, title and interest in the Adamas Intellectual Property in a manner that conflicts with any rights or licenses granted to Forest hereunder.
- (c) Adamas shall notify Forest if any of its directors or officers (or any of its employees, agents or subcontractors if such employee, agent or subcontractor is or was involved in the Development of any Product on behalf of Adamas or its Affiliates) is convicted of any crime or engaged in any conduct that results, or would reasonably be expected to result, in debarment by the FDA under 21 U.S.C. § 335a or any similar state Law.
- 9.4 Forest Covenants. Forest covenants and agrees during the Term that:
- (a) Forest shall not grant to any Third Party any rights that would conflict with Adamas' rights hereunder (including under Schedule 11.6 upon a reversion of the FDC Products).

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

59

- (b) Forest shall not assign, transfer, convey or otherwise encumber its right, title and interest in the Forest Intellectual Property in a manner that conflicts with any rights granted to Adamas hereunder (including under Schedule 11.6 upon a reversion of the FDC Products).
- (c) Forest shall not [\*] in a manner that would adversely affect the rights of Adamas hereunder (including under [\*]).
- (d) Within [\*] following the Effective Date, if requested by Adamas, Forest shall [\*], other than [\*], to the extent [\*] are reasonably required by Adamas in order to [\*], and Forest shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to [\*].
- (e) Forest shall notify Adamas if any of its directors or officers (or any of its employees, agents or subcontractors if such employee, agent or subcontractor is or was involved in the Development of any Product for which Forest has a payment obligation to Adamas under this Agreement) is convicted of any crime or engaged in any conduct that results, or would reasonably be expected to result, in debarment by the FDA under 21 U.S.C. § 335a or any similar Law.
- 9.5 Mutual Covenants. Each Party shall conduct, and shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cause its contractors and consultants to conduct, all of their activities contemplated under this Agreement in accordance with all applicable Laws of the country in which such activities are conducted, including applicable requirements of "good laboratory practices", "good clinical practices" and "good manufacturing practices", as applicable, as defined by the FDA.

9.6 No Warranty. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT, NEITHER PARTY MAKES ANY REPRESENTATION AND EXTENDS NO WARRANTY OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED.

#### ARTICLE X

### INDEMNIFICATION

- 10.1 Indemnification in Favor of Adamas. Forest shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Adamas Parties from and against any and all Losses incurred, suffered or sustained by any of the Adamas Parties or to which any of the Adamas Parties becomes subject as a result of any Third Party claim, action, suit, proceeding, liability or obligation (collectively, "Third Party Claims") arising out of, relating to or resulting from:
- (a) any misrepresentation or breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by Forest in this Agreement; or
- (b) the Development, Manufacture or Commercialization of Products by or on behalf of Forest, its Affiliates or Sublicensees anywhere in the world at any time (including the conduct of Development activities by Adamas or its Affiliates pursuant to the Development Plan as directed by Forest); or
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

60

- (c) any claim under any Transferable Contract, if transferred to Forest, arising from any act or omission by Forest or its Affiliates or Sublicensees that occurs on or after the date such Transferable Contract was assigned to Forest; or
- (d) the negligence or willful misconduct of any of the Forest Parties (as hereinafter defined) in connection with Forest's performance of this Agreement; or
- (e) any claim of product liability related to Products marketed, sold or otherwise Commercialized by or on behalf of Forest, its Affiliates or Sublicensees

For purposes of this ARTICLE X, "Adamas Parties" means Adamas, its Affiliates and their respective licensors, agents, directors, officers, licensees, sublicensees and employees.

The indemnification obligations set forth in this Section 10.1 shall not apply to the extent that any Loss is the result of (i) a breach of this Agreement by Adamas or (ii) with respect to any Adamas Party, any negligence or willful misconduct of such Adamas Party.

- 10.2 Indemnification in Favor of Forest. Adamas shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Forest Parties from and against any and all Losses incurred, suffered or sustained by any of the Forest Parties or to which any of the Forest Parties becomes subject, as a result of any Third Party Claim arising out of, relating to or resulting from:
- (a) any misrepresentation or breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement made by Adamas in this Agreement; or

- (b) the Development, Manufacture or Commercialization of the Products by or on behalf of Adamas, its Affiliates, licensees or (sub)licensees anywhere in the world at any time (excluding the conduct of Development activities by Adamas or its Affiliates pursuant to the Development Plan, as directed by Forest); or
- (c) any claim under any Transferable Contract, if transferred to Forest, arising from any act or omission by Adamas, its Affiliates, licensees or (sub)licensees that occurred before the date such Transferable Contract was assigned to Forest; or
- (d) the negligence or willful misconduct of any of the Adamas Parties in connection with Adamas' performance of this Agreement; or
- (e) any claim of product liability related to Products marketed, sold or otherwise Commercialized by or on behalf of Adamas, its Affiliates, licensees or (sub)licensees.

For purposes of this ARTICLE X, "Forest Parties" means Forest, its Affiliates and their respective licensors (including [\*]), agents, directors, officers, licensees, sublicensees and employees.

The indemnification obligations set forth in this Section 10.2 shall not apply to the extent that any Loss is the result of (i) a breach of this Agreement by Forest, or (ii) with respect to any Forest Party, any negligence or willful misconduct of any Forest Party.

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

61

- 10.3 General Indemnification Procedures. Except as otherwise provided herein:
- (a) A Person seeking indemnification pursuant to this ARTICLE X (an "Indemnified Party") (i) shall give prompt notice to the Party from whom such indemnification is sought (the "Indemnifying Party") of the commencement or assertion of any Third Party Claim (which, in no event, includes any claim by any Forest Party or any Adamas Party) in respect of which indemnity may be sought hereunder, (ii) shall give the Indemnifying Party such information with respect to any indemnified matter as the Indemnifying Party may reasonably request, and (iii) shall not make any admission concerning such Third Party Claim, unless such admission is required by applicable Law or legal process, including in response to questions presented in depositions or interrogatories. Any admission made by the Indemnified Party or the failure to give such notice shall relieve the Indemnifying Party of any liability hereunder only to the extent that the ability of the Indemnifying Party to defend such Third Party Claim is prejudiced thereby (and no admission required by applicable Law or legal process shall be deemed to result in prejudice). Except with respect to any Third Party Claim that is a Third Party Infringement Claim, the process for the defense of which shall be governed by Section 7.7, the Indemnifying Party shall have the right to assume and conduct the defense of such Third Party Claim, with counsel selected by the Indemnifying Party and reasonably acceptable to the Indemnified Party, only if such Indemnifying Party concedes that such Indemnified Party shall be indemnified from and against such Third Party Claim pursuant to this ARTICLE X or if the Indemnified Party agrees in writing. Subject to the initial and continuing satisfaction of the terms and conditions of this ARTICLE X, the Indemnifying Party shall have full control of such Third Party Claim, including settlement negotiations and any legal proceedings. If the Indemnifying Party does not assume the defense of such Third Party Claim in accordance with this Section 10.3, the Indemnified Party may defend the Third Party Claim. If both Parties are Indemnifying Parties with respect to the same Third Party Claim (other than Third Party Claims that are also Third Party Infringement Claims, which are governed by Section 7.7), the Parties shall determine by mutual agreement, within twenty (20) days following their receipt of notice of commencement or assertion of such Third Party Claim (or such lesser period of time as may be required to respond properly to such claim), which Party shall assume the lead role in the defense thereof. Should the Indemnifying Parties be unable to mutually agree on which of them shall assume the lead role in the defense of such Third Party Claim, both Indemnifying Parties shall be entitled to participate in such defense through counsel of their respective choosing.
- (b) Any Indemnified Party or Indemnifying Party not managing the defense of a Third Party Claim shall have the right to participate in (but not control), at its own expense, the defense. The Indemnifying Party managing the defense shall not be liable for any litigation cost or expense incurred, without its consent, by the Indemnified Party where the action or proceeding is under the control of such Indemnifying Party.
- (c) The Indemnifying Party shall not consent to a settlement of, or the entry of any judgment against an Indemnified Party arising from any such Third Party Claim to the extent such Third Party Claim involves equitable or other non-monetary relief from the Indemnified Party. No Party shall, without the prior written consent of the other Party or the Indemnified Party, enter into any compromise or settlement that commits the other Party or the Indemnified Party to take, or to forbear to take, any action.
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

62

(d) The Parties shall cooperate in the defense or prosecution of any Third Party Claim and shall furnish such records, information and testimony, and attend such conferences, discovery proceedings, hearings, trials and appeals, as may be reasonably requested in connection therewith; provided, however, that the Indemnifying Party shall reimburse the Indemnified Party for any reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket expenses actually and reasonably incurred in connection with any such cooperation.

- (e) Any indemnification hereunder shall be made net of any insurance proceeds actually recovered by the Indemnified Party from unaffiliated Third Parties; provided, however, that if, following the payment to the Indemnified Party of any amount under this ARTICLE X, such Indemnified Party recovers any such insurance proceeds in respect of the claim for which such indemnification payment was made, the Indemnified Party shall promptly pay an amount equal to the amount of such proceeds (but not exceeding the amount of such net indemnification payment) to the Indemnifying Party.
- (f) The Parties agree and acknowledge that the provisions of this ARTICLE X represent the Indemnified Party's exclusive recourse for any Losses incurred, suffered or sustained by such Indemnified Party arising out of, relating to or resulting from any Third Party Claims for which indemnification is provided to the Indemnified Party under this ARTICLE X.
- 10.4 Insurance. During the Term and thereafter for so long as a Third Party Claim may be brought for which Forest must indemnify Adamas pursuant to Section 10.1, or for which Adamas must indemnify Forest pursuant to Section 10.2, each Party shall obtain or maintain, at its sole cost and expense, product liability insurance for the Products in amounts that are reasonable and customary in the pharmaceutical industry or, in case the case Forest, and Adamas following a Change of Control if Adamas' Acquirer is self insured, a comparable program of self-insurance. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each Party shall maintain comprehensive general liability insurance, including product liability insurance, to cover its activities and, unless its Affiliates and (sub) licensees maintain comparable coverage, the activities of its Affiliates and (sub)licensee, with respect to Products. Each Party shall provide satisfactory evidence of adequate insurance coverage to the other Party upon the request of such other Party prior to the Effective Date and, upon the written request of such other Party, concurrent with any renewal or replacement of such coverage.
- 10.5 No Consequential or Punitive Damages. EXCEPT IN THE CASE OF ANY BREACH OF SECTION 2.4 OR ARTICLE VIII OR AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED BELOW, NEITHER PARTY WILL BE LIABLE FOR INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, SPECIAL, EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, INCLUDING LOST PROFITS, MILESTONES OR ROYALTIES, ARISING FROM OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, REGARDLESS OF ANY NOTICE OF SUCH DAMAGES. NOTHING IN THIS SECTION 10.5 IS INTENDED TO LIMIT OR RESTRICT THE INDEMNIFICATION RIGHTS OR OBLIGATIONS OF EITHER PARTY UNDER THIS AGREEMENT WITH RESPECT TO THIRD PARTY CLAIMS, OR REMEDIES TO A PARTY IN THE CASE OF INFRINGEMENT OR MISAPPROPRIATION OF ITS INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS OR CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION BY THE OTHER PARTY (INCLUDING UNDER SECTION 3.1(D)), OR THE WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, INTENTIONAL BREACH OR FRAUD OF THE OTHER PARTY. NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, IN THE
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

EVENT THAT EITHER PARTY SEEKS LOST ROYALTY DAMAGES OR OTHER SIMILAR DAMAGES UNDER SECTION 6.3 OR 6.4 OF THIS AGREEMENT FROM THE OTHER PARTY ARISING FROM THE OTHER PARTY'S BREACH OF THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING SECTION 5.4, THE LIMITATION OF LIABILITY UNDER THIS SECTION 10.5 SHALL NOT APPLY TO SUCH DAMAGES IF THEY ARE ESTABLISHED, QUANTIFIABLE AND DIRECTLY ARISE FROM SUCH BREACH.

ARTICLE XI

### **TERM AND TERMINATION**

- 11.1 Term. The term of this Agreement (the "Term") shall commence on the Effective Date and, unless earlier terminated as provided in this ARTICLE XI, shall continue in full force and effect, on a Product-by-Product basis until there is no remaining royalty obligation in the Territory with respect to such Product, at which time this Agreement shall expire in its entirety with respect to such Product. Upon expiration of this Agreement with respect to all Products, this Agreement shall be considered expired in its entirety. Upon expiration of this Agreement with respect to a Product, from that time forward, the licenses and other rights granted to Forest in Article 2 shall become fully paid-up and remain irrevocable with respect to such Product.
- 11.2 Termination Rights for FDC Products.
- (a) If Forest has not paid to Adamas [\*] the Milestone Payments under [\*] by the earlier of (i) the [\*] or (ii) the [\*], then, if Adamas notifies Forest in writing of such failure to pay and Forest has not made this payment within [\*] of receipt of such notice, this Agreement shall automatically terminate with respect to all FDC Products at the end of such [\*] and the provisions of Section 11.6 below shall apply.
- (b) If Forest elects to permanently cease its Development or Commercialization of the FDC Products in the Field in the Territory, Forest shall provide written notice to Adamas of its intent to do so ("Cessation Notice"). If such Cessation Notice is delivered prior to the expiration of the FDC Royalty Term, then upon delivery of such Cessation Notice, this Agreement shall automatically terminate as of the date of the Cessation Notice with respect to all FDC Products and the provisions of Section 11.6 below shall apply.
- (c) In the event a Governmental Authority brings a suit, claim, action, investigation, or proceeding, whether judicial or administrative, challenging any of the rights granted, transferred, or assigned to either of the Parties under Article II of this Agreement as a violation of any Antitrust Laws (as defined below) ("Antitrust Action") and (i) the Governmental Authority issues an order, decree, or ruling against Forest, which order, decree, or ruling is final and non-appealable or (ii) Forest enters into a consent decree with a Governmental Authority to resolve or settle such Antitrust

Action; in any case, having the effect of permanently restraining, enjoining, or otherwise prohibiting Forest to Develop and Commercialize FDC Products, then Forest shall notify Adamas in writing of such requirement and, to the extent permitted by Laws, Adamas shall have the right to terminate this Agreement with respect to all FDC Products upon written notice to Forest and the provisions of Section 11.6 below shall apply. In such event, if Adamas is required to cooperate in connection with any investigation in connection therewith, either at Forest's request or as required by such Governmental Authority, then Forest shall [\*].

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

64

- "Antitrust Law" means the Sherman Act, as amended, the Clayton Act, as amended, the Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended, and all other Laws that are designed or intended to prohibit, restrict, or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade, significant impediments to or lessening of competition, or the creation or strengthening of a dominant position through acquisition of intellectual property rights, including the granting of licenses, assignment of patents, or transfer of an NDA or other regulatory filings.
- 11.3 Damages In Lieu of Termination for Cause. Except as expressly set forth in Section 11.4, Adamas may not terminate this Agreement by reason of a breach of this Agreement by Forest, but may instead bring a claim against Forest seeking damages or equitable relief (in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement), provided that Adamas first complies with the provisions of this Section 11.3, as Adamas' sole remedy for Forest's breach. In the event that Forest breaches this Agreement and Adamas desires to seek any such relief, Adamas shall give to Forest written notice requiring it to cure such breach, which notice shall specify the nature of the breach. If such breach is not cured within [\*] after receipt of such notice (or within [\*] in the case of a payment breach), Adamas shall be entitled (without prejudice to any of its other rights conferred on it by this Agreement or under applicable Law) to bring a claim against Forest for damages or equitable relief; provided, however, that if such breach is not capable of being cured within the stated period and the breaching Party uses Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cure such breach during such period and presents a mutually agreeable remediation plan for such breach, the cure period shall be extended for such period provided in the remediation plan, for a maximum of an additional [\*], as long as Forest continues to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to pursue the cure as provided in such remediation plan.
- 11.4 Termination for Cause. In the event of a material breach of this Agreement by a Party, the non-breaching Party may give the breaching Party notice requiring it to cure such default, which notice shall specify the nature of the breach. If such material breach is not cured within [\*] after receipt of such notice (or [\*] in the case of a payment breach), the non-breaching Party shall be entitled (without prejudice to any of its other rights conferred on it by this Agreement or under applicable Law) to terminate this Agreement (a) in the case of Forest as the non-breaching Party, in its entirety or with respect to one or more Products, or (b) in the case of Adamas, solely with respect to the FDC Products, solely prior to the Payment Date and solely in the case of a material breach of Forest's obligation to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts with respect to the Development of the FDC Products in the Field in the Territory under Section 4.1, in each case ((a) and (b)) by giving written notice to the breaching Party. If any breach that is the basis of a Party's termination under this Section 11.4 is not capable of being cured within the stated cure period and the breaching Party uses Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cure such breach during such period and presents a mutually agreeable remediation plan for such breach, this Agreement shall not terminate and the cure period shall be extended for such period provided in the remediation plan, for a maximum of an additional [\*], as long as the breaching Party continues to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to pursue the cure as provided in such remediation plan. In the event the breaching Party notifies the other Party that it disputes in good faith the existence of a material breach or a Party's use of Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cure such a breach, termination of this Agreement shall not be deemed to occur unless and until such dispute has been referred for resolution in accordance with Section 12.2, the applicable material breach of the Agreement or fail

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

65

established by an arbitration thereunder and, if such breach can be cured by the payment of money or the taking of specific remedial actions, the defaulting Party does not pay the amount so determined to be due within [\*] of receipt of the arbitration decision or otherwise diligently undertake and complete such remedial actions within the timeframe established by such arbitration decision. In the event of termination of this Agreement by either Party pursuant to this Section 11.4, the licenses and other rights granted to Forest (and all payment obligations to Adamas) hereunder shall remain in effect with respect to the ER Products and the Other Products and Section 11.6 shall apply with respect to the FDC Products. A Party's termination of the Agreement under this Section 11.4 shall not preclude such Party from pursuing any right or remedy it may have hereunder or at Law or in equity with respect to any breach of this Agreement, including with respect to seeking damages from the defaulting Party.

11.5 Termination for Insolvency. This Agreement may be terminated by a Party upon written notice to the other Party if (a) the other Party shall make an assignment of substantially all of its assets for the benefit of its creditors, file a petition in bankruptcy, petition or apply to any tribunal for the appointment of a custodian, receiver or trustee for it or a substantial part of its assets, or shall commence any proceeding under any bankruptcy, reorganization, readjustment of debt, dissolution or liquidation law or statute of any jurisdiction, whether now or hereafter in effect; or (b) if there shall have been filed against the other Party any such bona fide petition or application, or any such proceeding shall have been commenced against it, in which an order for relief is entered or that remains undismissed or unstayed for a period of [\*] or more; or (c) if the

other Party by any act or omission shall indicate its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any such petition, application or proceeding or order for relief or the appointment of a custodian, receiver or trustee for it or any substantial part of its assets, or shall suffer any such custodianship, receivership or trusteeship to continue undischarged or unstayed for a period of [\*] or more; or (d) anything analogous to any of the foregoing occurs in any applicable jurisdiction. Termination shall be effective upon the date specified in such notice.

- 11.6 Effect of Termination; Accrued Rights and Obligations.
- (a) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Adamas shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement with respect to ER Products or Other Products.
- (b) In the event of termination of this Agreement with respect to the FDC Products, the provisions of Schedule 11.6 shall apply.
- (c) In the event of a termination by Adamas under Section 11.2(c), Adamas shall pay to Forest an amount equal to the fair market value of the rights that revert to Adamas under this Section 11.6. In the event that the Parties are unable to reach agreement as to the fair market value of such rights within [\*] of such a termination, the Parties shall select and agree upon a mutually acceptable independent Third Party expert who is neutral, disinterested and impartial, and has expertise in pharmaceutical valuations, to determine the fair market value of the rights that revert to Adamas under this Section 11.6, which determination shall be binding on the Parties and Adamas shall pay to Forest such amount within [\*] after the determination is provided to both Parties. Forest shall have no obligation under this Section 11.6 (other than those set forth in this paragraph), and the rights and licenses granted to Adamas under this Section 11.6
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

66

(including those set forth in Schedule 11.6) shall not be effective, until such payment is made to Forest.

- (d) Expiration or termination of this Agreement in its entirety for any reason shall not release either Party from any liability that, at the time of such termination, has already accrued or that is attributable to a period prior to such expiration or termination (including payment obligations accrued prior to the effective date of termination pursuant to ARTICLE VI) nor preclude either Party from pursuing any right or remedy it may have hereunder or at Law or in equity with respect to any breach of this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties agree that no Milestone Payment under Section 6.3 shall be due if the Milestone Event is not achieved or met prior to the date a notice of termination under this ARTICLE XI is provided by the terminating Party. It is understood and agreed that monetary damages may not be a sufficient remedy for any breach of this Agreement and that the non-breaching Party may be entitled to seek injunctive relief as a remedy for any such breach (including any breach of Section 2.4 by Adamas (or its Affiliates or (sub)licensees)).
- 11.7 Survival. The rights and obligations set forth in this Agreement shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement in its entirety only to the extent expressly provided for in this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it is agreed that the provisions of [\*] shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement in its entirety for any reason.

# ARTICLE XII

### **MISCELLANEOUS**

- 12.1 Governing Law; Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York, without regard to its conflicts of laws rules. Subject to Section 12.2, each Party (a) irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction in the [\*] (collectively, the "Courts"), for purposes of any action, suit or other proceeding arising out of this Agreement, and (b) agrees not to raise any objection at any time to the laying or maintaining of the venue of any such action, suit or proceeding in any of the Courts, irrevocably waives any claim that such action, suit or other proceeding has been brought in an inconvenient forum and further irrevocably waives the right to object, with respect to such action, suit or other proceeding, that such Court does not have any jurisdiction over such Party. Either Party may serve any process required by such Courts by way of notice under this Agreement.
- 12.2 Dispute Resolution; Arbitration.
- (a) Dispute Resolution. In the event of a dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement, either Party shall provide written notice of the dispute to the other, in which event the dispute shall be referred to the Senior Executives of each Party, for attempted resolution by good faith negotiations within [\*] after such notice is received. In the event the Senior Executives do not resolve such dispute within the allotted [\*], or a Party reasonably believes such matter will not be so resolved, either Party may seek to resolve the dispute through arbitration in accordance with Section 12.2(b). For clarity, a disagreement regarding the manner in which a Party exercises any of its consent or final decision-making rights under Section 4.2(b)
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

is not a "dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement" if such exercise was consistent with the terms of this Agreement.

### (b) Arbitration

- (i) Claims. Any claim, dispute, or controversy of whatever nature arising between the Parties out of or relating to this Agreement, or concerning the interpretation, effect, termination, validity, performance or breach of this Agreement ("Claim") that is not resolved under Section 12.2(a) within the required [\*] time period, shall be resolved by final and binding arbitration before a panel of three (3) experts with relevant industry experience (the "Arbitrators"). Each of Adamas and Forest shall promptly select one Arbitrator each, which selections shall in no event be made later than [\*] after the notice of initiation of arbitration. The third Arbitrator shall be chosen promptly by mutual agreement of the Arbitrator chosen by Adamas and the Arbitrator chosen by Forest, but in no event later than [\*] after the date that the last of such Arbitrators was appointed. The Arbitrators shall determine what discovery will be permitted, consistent with the goal of reasonably controlling the cost and time that the Parties must expend for discovery, provided that the Arbitrators shall permit such discovery as he or she deems necessary to permit an equitable resolution of the dispute. The arbitration shall be administered by the Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services (or its successor entity) ("JAMS") under its rules of arbitration then in effect, except as modified in this Agreement (the "Rules"). The arbitration shall be held in [\*], and the Parties shall use reasonable efforts to expedite the arbitration if requested by either Party.
- (ii) Arbitrators' Award. The Arbitrators shall, within [\*] after the conclusion of the arbitration hearing, issue a written award and statement of decision describing the essential findings and conclusions on which the award is based, including the calculation of any damages awarded. The decision or award rendered by the Arbitrators shall be final and non-appealable, and judgment may be entered upon it in accordance with applicable Law in the State of New York or any other court of competent jurisdiction. The Arbitrators shall be authorized to award compensatory damages, but shall not be authorized to reform, modify or materially change this Agreement or any other agreements contemplated hereunder.
- (iii) Costs. Each Party shall bear its own counsel fees, costs, and disbursements arising out of the arbitration described in this Section 12.2(b), and shall pay an equal share of the fees and costs of the Arbitrators and all other general fees related to the arbitration; provided, however, the Arbitrators shall be authorized to determine whether a Party is the prevailing Party, and if so, to award to that prevailing Party reimbursement for its reasonable counsel fees, costs and disbursements (including expert witness fees and expenses, photocopy charges, or travel expenses), or the fees and costs of the Arbitrators.
- (iv) Compliance with this Agreement. Unless the Parties otherwise agree in writing, during the period of time that any arbitration proceeding is pending under this Agreement, the Parties shall continue to comply with all those terms and provisions of this Agreement that are not the subject of the pending arbitration proceeding.
- (v) Injunctive or Other Equity Relief. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall deny any Party the right to seek injunctive or other equitable relief from a court
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

68

of competent jurisdiction in the context of a bona fide emergency or prospective irreparable harm (including a breach by Adamas or its Affiliate or (sub)licensee of Section 2.4), and such an action may be filed and maintained notwithstanding any ongoing arbitration proceeding.

- (vi) Confidentiality of Proceedings. All arbitration proceedings and decisions of the Arbitrator under this Section 12.2 shall be deemed Confidential Information of both Parties under ARTICLE VIII.
- 12.3 Waiver. Waiver by a Party of a breach hereunder by the other Party shall not be construed as a waiver of any succeeding breach of the same or any other provision. No delay or omission by a Party to exercise or avail itself of any right, power or privilege that it has or may have hereunder shall operate as a waiver of any right, power or privilege by such Party. No waiver shall be effective unless made in writing with specific reference to the relevant provision(s) of this Agreement and signed by a duly authorized representative of the Party granting the waiver.
- 12.4 Notices. All notices, instructions and other communications hereunder or in connection herewith shall be in writing, shall be sent to the address specified in this Section 12.4 and shall be: (a) delivered personally; (b) sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid; (c) sent via a reputable nationwide overnight courier service; or (d) sent by facsimile transmission. Any such notice, instruction or communication shall be deemed to have been delivered upon receipt if delivered by hand, three (3) Business Days after it is sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, one (1) Business Day after it is sent via a reputable nationwide overnight courier service, or when transmitted with electronic confirmation of receipt, if transmitted by facsimile (if such transmission is on a Business Day; otherwise, on the next Business Day following such transmission).

Notices to Forest shall be addressed to:

Forest Laboratories Holdings Limited

Cumberland House

Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda
Attention: Chairman
Facsimile: [*]
with a copy to:
Forest Laboratories, Inc.
909 Third Avenue
New York, NY 10022
Attention: General Counsel
Facsimile: [*]
[*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
69
Notices to Adamas shall be addressed to:
Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
2200 Powell Street, Suite 220
Emeryville, CA 94608
Attention: Chief Financial Officer
Facsimile: [*]
with a copy to:
Cooley LLP
3175 Hanover Street
Palo Alto, CA 94304
Attention: Robert L. Jones, Esq.
Facsimile: 650-849-7400
Either Party may change its address by giving notice to the other Party in the manner provided above.
12.5 Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including Schedules) contains the complete understanding of the Parties with respect to the Development and Commercialization of Products and supersedes all prior understandings and writings between the Parties relating to such subject matter. In particular, and without limitation, it supersedes and replaces the Confidentiality Agreement and any and all term sheets relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and exchanged between the Parties prior to the Effective Date.
12.6 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held unenforceable by a court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction because it is invalid or conflicts with any Law of any relevant jurisdiction, the validity of the remaining provisions shall not be affected. In such event, the Parties shall negotiate a substitute provision that, to the extent possible, accomplishes the original business purpose.

12.7 Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any right or obligation hereunder may be assigned or otherwise transferred, whether by operation of law or otherwise, by either Party without the consent of the other Party; provided, however, that (a) either Party may, without such consent, assign this Agreement or any of its rights or obligations hereunder to any of its respective Affiliates, provided that such Party shall remain jointly and severally liable with such Affiliate in respect of all obligations so assigned and such Affiliate has acknowledged and confirmed in writing that effective as of such assignment or other transfer, such Affiliate shall be bound by this Agreement as if it were a party to it as and to the identical

9th Floor

1 Victoria Street

extent applicable to the transferor; and (b) either Party may, without such consent, assign this Agreement, including its rights and obligations hereunder, to any successor in interest by way of merger or acquisition, or other Change of Control (other than an asset sale, which shall be covered by clause (c)), including by operation of law, provided that such successor has acknowledged and confirmed in writing that effective as of such assignment or other transfer such successor shall be bound by this Agreement as if it were a party to it as and to the identical extent applicable to the applicable Party; and (c) a Third Party acquirer of all or substantially all of its assets of such Party; provided

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

70

that such acquirer has acknowledged and confirmed in writing that effective as of such assignment or other transfer such acquirer shall be bound by this Agreement as if it were a party to it as and to the identical extent applicable to the applicable Party and such Party shall remain bound by [\*] and ARTICLE VIII. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Adamas may assign its rights to payments to an entity owned by the stockholders of Adamas, which entity shall be a permitted assignee of such rights; provided, that no other rights of Adamas shall be assigned to such entity and that such assignment shall not affect the rights of Forest under this Agreement, including by the imposition of any lien or other encumbrance on any Adamas Intellectual Property. In the event Forest assigns or otherwise transfers any [\*] or Forest Patent Rights to the extent necessary for the Development, Manufacture or Commercialization of the Products to any of its Affiliate or Third Party, Forest shall (A) condition such assignment or transfer upon an express written agreement of such Affiliates or Third Party to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement to the same extent as Forest with respect to such [\*] or Forest Patent Rights, as applicable (including terms and conditions of termination of this Agreement in accordance with Section 11.2); (B) be responsible for such Affiliate's or Third Party's compliance with such terms and conditions; (C) promptly provide to Adamas written evidence of compliance with the obligation set forth in subsection (A) above; and (D) cooperate with Adamas regarding the enforcement of such terms and conditions. Any purported assignment in violation of this Section 12.7 shall be void. Any permitted assignee shall assume all obligations of its assignor under this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Adamas shall have the right to, without Forest's consent, assign, sell, pledge, contribute or otherwise transfer to one or more Third Party(ies), in whole or in part, its rights to receive any of the payments under this Agreement, together with the right to receive reports pertaining to such payments and other information relating to the calculation of such payments, including any audit reports; provided, however, that if [\*], Adamas shall [\*].

- 12.8 Counterparts; Exchange by Facsimile. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and that together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Such counterparts may be exchanged by facsimile or PDF (provided that each executed counterpart is transmitted in one complete transmission or electronic mail message). Where there is an exchange of executed counterparts by facsimile or PDF, each Party shall be bound by this Agreement notwithstanding that original copies of this Agreement may not be exchanged immediately. The Parties shall cooperate after execution of this Agreement and exchange by facsimile or PDF to ensure that each Party obtains an original executed copy of this Agreement with reasonable promptness.
- 12.9 Force Majeure. No Party shall be liable for failure of or delay in performing obligations set forth in this Agreement, and no Party shall be deemed in breach of its obligations, if such failure or delay is due to a natural disaster, explosion, fire, flood, tornadoes, thunderstorms, earthquake, war, terrorism, riots, embargo, losses or shortages of power, labor stoppage, substance or material shortages, damage to or loss of product in transit not due to a failure by such Party or its Affiliates to exercise reasonable care, events caused by reason of Laws of any Governmental Authority, events caused by acts or omissions of a Third Party not induced or solicited by such Party or its Affiliates, or any other cause reasonably beyond the control of such Party or its Affiliates.
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

- 12.10 Third-Party Beneficiaries. None of the provisions of this Agreement shall be for the benefit of or enforceable by any Third Party except for ARTICLE X with respect to an Indemnified Party. No such Third Party shall obtain any right under any provision of this Agreement or shall by reason of any such provision make any claim in respect of any debt, liability or obligation (or otherwise) against either Party.
- 12.11 Relationship of the Parties. Each Party shall bear its own costs incurred in the performance of its obligations hereunder without charge or expense to the other, except as expressly provided in this Agreement. Neither Party shall have any responsibility for the hiring, termination or compensation of the other Party's employees or for any employee compensation or benefits of the other Party's employees. No employee or representative of a Party shall have any authority to bind or obligate the other Party for any sum or in any manner whatsoever, or to create or impose any contractual or other liability on the other Party without said other Party's approval. For all purposes, and notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the legal relationship under this Agreement of each Party to the other Party shall be that of independent contractor. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to establish a relationship of partners or joint venturers between the Parties. For purposes of this Agreement, except as expressly provided otherwise, in no event shall the conduct of activities hereunder (a) by Adamas or any of its Affiliates be deemed to be "on behalf of" Forest or its Affiliates or (b) by Forest or any of its Affiliates be deemed to be "on behalf of" Adamas or its Affiliates.
- 12.12 Performance by Affiliates. Each Party shall have the right to exercise its rights and perform its obligations under this Agreement either itself or through any of its Affiliates. To the extent that this Agreement imposes obligations on Affiliates of a Party, such Party agrees to cause its

Affiliates to perform such obligations. 12.13 Further Assurance. Each Party shall perform all further acts and things and execute and deliver such further documents as may be necessary or as the other Party may reasonably require to implement or give effect to this Agreement. {Signature page follows} [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 72 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have signed this Agreement as of the Effective Date. FOREST LABORATORIES HOLDINGS LIMITED ADAMAS PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. By: /s/ David Solomon By: /s/ Gregory T. Went Name: David Solomon Name: Gregory T. Went Title: **Assistant Secretary** Title: CEO [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. TABLE OF CONTENTS Schedule 1.6 Certain Adamas Know-How Schedule 1.7 Adamas Memantine Patent Rights Schedule 1.9 Adamas Product Trademark Rights

© 2024 Biopharma Research Ltd. All rights reserved.

Schedule 1.31

Schedule 1.59

Schedule 1.80

Memantine

Donepezil

Regulatory Plan
Schedule 2.6
Transferable Contracts
Schedule 6.8
Wiring Instructions
Schedule 7.3(h)
CREATE Act Subject Matter
Schedule 8.5
Form of Joint Press Release
Schedule 9.1
Adamas Schedule of Exceptions
Schedule 9.1(t)
Material Contracts
Schedule 9.2
Forest Schedule of Exceptions
Schedule 9.2(e)
rt en
Schedule 9.2(h)
rt en
Schedule 11.6
Reversion of Certain FDC Products
[*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
1
Schedule 1.6
Certain Adamas Know How(1)
Document
Document Name
ra constant and the con
ra constant and the con
(1) Note: The documents set forth in this Schedule 1.6 and the data contained therein constitute Adamas Know-How to the extent they are proprietary or non-public and otherwise satisfy the definition of Know-How.
[*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Schedule 1.7

Adamas Memantine Patent Rights
Case
Application No.
Patent No.
Status
Country
[*]
[*]
[*]
[*]
២
[*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
3
Schedule 1.9
Adamas Product Trademark Rights
ARIMENDATM
http://www.arimenda.com
http://www.arimenda.net
http://www.arimenda.org
[*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
4
Schedule 1.31
Donepezil
Donepezil hydrochloride
[*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
5
Schedule 1.59
Memantine
Memantine hydrochloride
[*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
6
Schedule 1.80

[*]
[*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
7
Schedule 2.6
Transferable Contracts
·[*]
[*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
8
Schedule 6.8
Adamas Wiring Instructions
DOMESTIC WIRE TRANSFER:
TO:
[*]
ROUTING #:
[*]
FOR CREDIT OF:
Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CREDIT ACCOUNT #:
rt en
BY ORDER OF:
[Name of Sender]
INTERNATIONAL WIRE TRANSFER:
TO:
rt en
ROUTING #:
[*]
SWIFT CODE:
SVBKUS6S
FOR CREDIT OF:
Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
CREDIT ACCOUNT #:
[*]

Regulatory Plan

BY ORDER OF:
[Name of Sender]
Forest Wiring Instructions
[\*]

IBAN: [\*]

SWIFT: [\*]

Intermediary SWIFT: [\*]

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

9

Schedule 7.3(h)

**CREATE Act Subject Matter** 

To facilitate CREATE Act filings pursuant to Section 7.3(h), the Parties agree that each Party may include a reference to this Agreement in a patent application in order to exercise its rights under Section 7.3(h), which reference consists essentially of the following statement:

"The contents of this application are under a joint research agreement within the meaning of 35 U.S.C. § 103(c) and 37 C.F.R. § 1.104(c)(4)(ii) (or after March 16, 2013, 35 U.S.C. § 100(h) and § 102(c) and corresponding regulations) entered into by and between Forest Laboratories Holdings Limited and Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. on November 13, 2012 (the 'Joint Research Agreement'). The Joint Research Agreement was in effect on or before the date that the invention claimed in this application was made as a result of activities undertaken within the scope of the Joint Research Agreement."

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

10

Schedule 8.5

Form of Joint Press Release

Forest Laboratories and Adamas Pharmaceuticals Enter into Licensing Agreement for the Development and Commercialization of a Fixed Dosed Combination of Namenda XR® and Donepezil for Alzheimer's Disease

NEW YORK & EMERYVILLE, CA — Forest Laboratories, Inc. (NYSE: FRX), an international pharmaceutical company, and Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc. announced today that they have entered into an agreement for the development and commercialization of a fixed dosed combination (FDC) of Namenda XR® (memantine HCI extended release) and donepezil HCI as a once daily therapy for the treatment of moderate to severe dementia of the Alzheimer's type in the United States. Under the agreement, Forest and Adamas will collaborate on the development of the FDC and Forest will have exclusive US commercialization rights. Forest is responsible for all development and commercialization activities. Namenda XR® is Forest's FDA approved, once daily formulation of its successful Alzheimer's therapy Namenda®. Based on a development plan agreed to by Adamas and the FDA, the FDC is expected to launch in 2015 following FDA approval. The product will be covered by multiple Adamas patents that extend to 2029. Forest sells Namenda in the US under a 2000 license from Merz + Co. GmbH & Co.

Pursuant to the agreement, Forest will pay Adamas \$65 million upfront and up to \$95 million in future development and FDA approval milestones. Adamas will receive royalties on US net sales beginning 5 years after launch for FDC products and any additional memantine products for which Adamas' patents are listed in the FDA's Orange Book.

"We are pleased to enter into this partnership with Adamas, which will enable us to enhance our life cycle program for Namenda," said Howard Solomon, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President of Forest. "Adamas has made impressive progress with its combination extended release memantine and donepezil program. Forest is the ideal company to complete the development of this product and commercialize it in the US, in light of our successful track record in the field of Alzheimer's disease with Namenda. Over 60% of Namenda patients already take Namenda together with an acetylcholinesterase inhibitor like donepezil, which creates a substantial market opportunity for this fixed dose combination product. Namenda and donepezil work in different ways and studies support that when used together they improve cognition, function, and behavior in some patients with moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease. This new fixed combination, which reduces the pill requirement from three tablets to one and the dosing frequency from two times per day to once per day, can benefit physicians, caregivers, and

patients."

Gregory T. Went, Chief Executive Officer of Adamas Pharmaceuticals said: "We are pleased to partner with Forest, the market leader in Alzheimer's products, to bring our fixed dose combination of extended release memantine and donepezil — the first such combination therapy for Alzheimer's disease — to the US market. This collaboration will accelerate this innovative product's development towards a 2014 US NDA filling, and allow Adamas to focus our attention

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

11

on the ex-US market for the product and to continue the ongoing development of NurelinTM, our late-stage product candidate for the treatment of CNS disorders, including Parkinson's disease."

About Adamas Pharmaceuticals

Adamas Pharmaceuticals, based in Emeryville, California with operations in Bangalore, India, is the leading developer of aminoadamantane-based therapeutics for CNS disorders. The company's research and development platform is focused on developing controlled release versions and optimized fixed dose combinations of aminoadamantanes to address major dosing and titration challenges that limit the use of currently available therapeutics. Adamas is advancing two programs from this platform. Nurelin (amantadine HCl extended release capsules) is currently in Phase 3 clinical studies, initially for levodopa-induced dyskinesia in patients with Parkinson's disease. A registration program is also underway for the fixed dose combination of memantine HCl extended release and donepezil HCl for Alzheimer's disease. Both products are designed to improve tolerability and clinical efficacy, and to provide superior clinical and health economic benefits. For more information about Adamas, please visit www.adamaspharma.com.

**About Forest Laboratories** 

Forest Laboratories' (NYSE: FRX) longstanding global partnerships and track record developing and marketing pharmaceutical products in the United States have yielded its well-established central nervous system and cardiovascular franchises and innovations in anti-infective, respiratory, gastrointestinal, and pain management medicine. Forest's pipeline, the most robust in its history, includes product candidates in all stages of development across a wide range of therapeutic areas. Forest is headquartered in New York, NY. To learn more, visit www.FRX.com.

Except for the historical information contained herein, this release contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements involve a number of risks and uncertainties, including the difficulty of predicting FDA approvals, the acceptance and demand for new pharmaceutical products, the impact of competitive products and pricing, the timely development and launch of new products, and the risk factors listed from time to time in Forest Laboratories' Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and any subsequent SEC filings. Forest assumes no obligation to update forward looking statements contained in this release to reflect new information or future events or developments.

Contacts:

Forest Laboratories, Inc.

Adamas Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Frank J. Murdolo, 212 224-6714

Kim Kraemer, 510 450-3572

Vice President — Investor Relations

Corporate Communications

media.relations@frx.com

press@adamaspharma.com

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

12

Schedule 9.1

Adamas Schedule of Exceptions

This Schedule of Exceptions and the information and disclosures contained herein are intended only to qualify and limit the representations, warranties and covenants of Adamas contained in the Agreement, and shall not be deemed to expand in any way the scope or effect of any of such representations, warranties or covenants. The section numbers in this Schedule correspond to the section numbers in the Agreement. The headings used in this Schedule are for reference only and shall not be considered when interpreting the scope of disclosure. Disclosure of any information or document herein is not a statement or admission that it is material or required to be disclosed herein. Nothing in this Schedule of Exceptions constitutes an admission of any liability or obligation of Adamas to any third party, or an admission to any third party against the interests of Adamas. No disclosure in this Schedule of Exceptions relating to any possible breach or violation of any agreement, law or regulation shall be construed as an admission or indication to any third party that any such breach or violation exists or has actually occurred. References to any document do not purport to be complete and are qualified in their entirety by the document itself. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the same meanings given them in the Agreement.

[\*]

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

13

Schedule 9.1(t)

Material Contracts

Reference is made to those Transferable Contracts set forth in Schedule 2.6.

Contracted Party

**Document Description** 

[\*]

[\*]

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

14

Schedule 9.2

Forest Schedule of Exceptions

[\*]

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

15

Schedule 9.2(e)

[\*]

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

16

Schedule 9.2(h)

[\*]

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

17

Schedule 11.6

© 2024 Biopharma Research Ltd. All rights reserved.

#### Reversion of Certain FDC Products

In the event of termination of this Agreement with respect to the FDC Products, the following provisions shall apply upon the effective date of such termination of this Agreement (or such later date as applies pursuant to Section 11.6(c) of the Agreement) ("Termination Effective Date"):

- (a) Regulatory Filings. Forest shall, and shall cause each of its Affiliates and Sublicensees to, promptly assign and transfer to Adamas all filings with Regulatory Authorities in the Territory, including copies of all correspondence, written minutes of meetings and memoranda of conversations with such Regulatory Authorities, and all Regulatory Approvals in the Territory, in each case made or obtained in connection with the Development, Manufacture, and Commercialization of FDC Products that are then being Developed or Commercialized by Forest or its Affiliates or Sublicensees [\*] or, if no FDC Products are then being Developed or Commercialized by Forest or its Affiliates or Sublicensees, the FDC Product most recently Developed or Commercialized by Forest or its Affiliates or Sublicensees (such products, as well as any improvements or modifications made by Adamas thereafter, the "Reverted FDC Products") (including INDs and NDAs), in each case, that are Controlled by or under the authority of Forest or its Affiliates as of the Termination Effective Date and pertain solely to the Reverted FDC Products ("Reverted FDC Product Regulatory Filings"), and for clarity such transfer of rights under the Reverted FDC Product Regulatory Filings shall include an irrevocable right to access and reference any filings referenced in such Reverted FDC Product Regulatory Filings (together with [\*] to the extent related to the Reverted FDC Products). Forest shall, and shall cause its Affiliates and Sublicensees to, take such actions and execute such other instruments, assignments and documents as may be necessary to effect the transfer of rights under such Reverted FDC Product Regulatory Filings to Adamas. Forest shall also promptly transfer all safety information and data with respect to the Reverted FDC Products as they exist as of the Termination Effective Date that are Controlled by or under the authority of Forest or its Affiliates as of Termination Effective Date. If applicable Law prevents or delays the assignment of any such Reverted FDC Product Regulatory Filings to Adamas, Forest shall grant (and shall cause each of its Affiliates and Sublicensees to grant), and does hereby grant, to Adamas an exclusive and irrevocable right of access and reference to such Reverted FDC Product Regulatory Filings (including any filings referenced in such Reverted FDC Product Regulatory Filings, together with [\*] to the extent related to the Reverted FDC Product) for the purpose of Developing and Commercializing Reverted FDC Products in the Territory, and shall cooperate fully to make such benefits of such Reverted FDC Product Regulatory Filings available to Adamas or its designee(s). In each case, unless otherwise required by any applicable Law, the foregoing assignment and transfer shall be made within [\*] after the Termination Effective Date, including providing to Adamas copies of all such Reverted FDC Product Regulatory Filings. The activities under this Paragraph (a) shall [\*]. Adamas acknowledges that, unless and until the execution of a Sublicense Agreement (as defined below), Forest shall have no obligation under this Paragraph (a) with respect to any information or other intellectual property [\*] and all rights under this Paragraph (a) are subject to [\*].
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

- (b) Licenses.
- (i) Termination and Grant of Licenses.
- (A) All rights and licenses granted to Forest under Article 2 shall terminate solely with respect to the FDC Products, but shall remain in effect with respect to the Reverted FDC Products to the extent and for so long as necessary to allow Forest to perform its obligations under this Schedule 11.6. Forest shall return to Adamas all Confidential Information of Adamas related solely to the FDC Products within [\*] after the Termination Effective Date.
- (B) Forest, on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, agrees to grant to Adamas, effective upon the Termination Effective Date, an exclusive (subject to any (sub)licenses granted by Forest consistent with this Agreement as of the Termination Effective Date), irrevocable ([\*] or the [\*]), perpetual right and license, with the right to grant and authorize sublicenses, in the Territory under (1) the Forest Know-How and Forest Patent Rights and (2) all other Patent Rights and Know-How Controlled by Forest or its Affiliates ([\*], which is [\*]) (provided that such exclusivity shall be limited to the extent that any of such rights [\*] for so long as [\*]), in each case of (1) and (2), that are necessary to Develop, Manufacture and Commercialize the Reverted FDC Products as they exist as of the Termination Effective Date in the Territory (the "Forest Reversion Intellectual Property") solely for use to Develop, Manufacture and Commercialize the Reverted FDC Products in the Territory in accordance with this Schedule 11.6 and the surviving terms of the Agreement. Such license shall be royalty-free and fully paid except as provided in Section 2.1(d), the terms of which such Section 2.1(d) shall apply to Forest with respect to the Forest Reversion Intellectual Property as if it were Adamas and to Adamas as if it were Forest, mutatis mutandis. In the event that [\*], such license shall be granted pursuant to the Sublicense Agreement (as defined in Paragraph (b)(i)(C)). The Parties' rights and obligations with respect to the prosecution, maintenance and enforcement of the Forest Reversion Intellectual Property, including any Patent Rights and Know-How that may be [\*], shall [\*] Article 7 of the Agreement with respect to the Forest Reversion Intellectual Property.
- (C) Adamas acknowledges that the Development and Commercialization in the Territory of the Reverted FDC Product [\*] and that the license described in Paragraph (b)(i)(B) [\*], and Forest shall [\*] to Adamas, [\*] and [\*], provided that, if, [\*], [\*] without [\*], then [\*]. If [\*], the Parties shall [\*] to the terms of [\*], including any obligation of [\*], in each case as such terms exist as of the Termination Effective Date (any such agreement, the "Sublicense Agreement").
- (ii) Adamas Memantine Patent Rights.

(A) If [\*] the Agreement, [\*] and [\*] (1) the Adamas Memantine Patent Rights that solely relate to the FDC Products (the "Adamas FDC Patent Rights") and (2) unless [\*], the Adamas Product Trademark Rights, in each case ((1) and (2)) that [\*] the Agreement, and shall [\*] in order to [\*] and [\*] and [\*] pursuant to this clause (b)(ii)(A), including [\*]. Further, in the case of any such termination, [\*], on behalf of itself and its Affiliates, [\*], effective upon the Termination Effective Date, [\*] and [\*] and [\*] any Adamas Memantine

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

19

Patent Rights [\*] (the "Adamas FDC and ER Patent Rights") [\*] (but for clarity, [\*] such patents with respect to any Products other than FDC Products).

- (B) The Adamas FDC Patent Rights shall for purposes of this Agreement be [\*]. Adamas shall have the sole right to enforce the Adamas FDC Patent Rights with respect to an infringement by FDC Products under Section [\*] of the Agreement, subject to any other applicable terms of this Agreement, including the [\*] provisions of Sections [\*]. For purposes of clarity, the Parties agree that the Adamas FDC Patent Rights existing as of the Effective Date are as follows: [\*].
- (C) Without limiting the Parties' obligations under Section 7.3, with regard to any Adamas FDC and ER Patent Rights, the Party that has the right to prosecute or maintain such Patent Rights shall notify the other Party in advance of any prosecution or maintenance action with respect to such Patent Rights that would be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect on the other Party's Products in the Territory. Notwithstanding Section [\*], [\*] shall [\*] any Adamas FDC and ER Patent Right in the Territory with respect to the FDC Products under Section [\*], with [\*] and [\*], in each case subject to [\*]. If [\*], (A) any such [\*] shall [\*] with respect to the other Adamas FDC and ER Patent Rights (including with respect to a [\*] Adamas FDC and ER Patent Right); and (B) [\*] shall (1) keep [\*] reasonably informed of the status of [\*] activities that pertain to such Adamas FDC and ER Patent Right, and (2) [\*] reasonable proposals or comments as part of such [\*].
- (c) Trademark Rights. If the Termination Effective Date occurs after the launch of the Reverted FDC Product(s) in the Territory, then, subject to any required consents of [\*], Forest agrees to grant to Adamas [\*] an exclusive, irrevocable, perpetual right and (sub)license, with the right to grant and authorize sublicenses, in the Territory in and to (i) any Trademarks Rights under which the Reverted FDC Products were being Commercialized in the Territory as of the Termination Effective Date ([\*], if applicable), and (ii) all Internet domain names containing only such Trademark Right and no other Trademark Rights as its URL address or any part of such address, in each case ((i) and (ii)) Controlled by Forest or its Affiliates, subject to customary trademark conditions, including the trademark conditions set forth in [\*]. Such license shall be royalty-free and fully paid except that Adamas shall be responsible for any payment owed to any Third Party by Forest that arises from the use of the Trademark Rights licensed to Adamas under this Paragraph (c). It is understood that the license set forth in this Paragraph (c) do not include the name of Forest or any of its Affiliates or any Third Party, nor the corporate logo, service mark, or trademark for Forest or for any of its Affiliates or any Third Party as a corporate entity, nor any Trademark Rights used in connection with any Products other than the Reverted FDC Products.
- (d) Data and Know-How. Forest shall, at the request of Adamas, provide Adamas access to, and/or copies of, all Know-How in its or its Affiliates' possession and Control pertaining to any Reverted FDC Product, or the Manufacture or use thereof, to the extent actually used in connection with a Reverted FDC Product during the Term, in each case as necessary for Adamas to Develop, Manufacture and Commercialize the Reverted FDC Products as of the date of such termination (including all Know-How pertaining to the Manufacture of the Reverted FDC Product(s) as so used (including active pharmaceutical ingredients or other raw materials or
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

20

work-in-process related thereto)), to the extent such Know-How has not been provided previously to Adamas under this Agreement, except that any disclosures of Know-How [\*] shall be made solely pursuant to the Sublicense Agreement.

(e) Development; Clinical Trials. Subject to the provisions set forth below relating to safety risks, the following shall apply. Adamas may, at its election, assume the conduct of any or all Development activities set forth under the then-current Development Plan for the Reverted FDC Products [\*]. In addition, if any clinical trial (including any Phase IV Clinical Trial) has been initiated (i.e., first patient dosed) and is being conducted as of the Termination Effective Date for a Reverted FDC Product (each, an "On-Going Clinical Study") by or under authority of Forest or its Affiliate, Forest agrees, as Adamas may request, to (i) promptly transition to Adamas or its designee some or all of such On-Going Clinical Studies (including all results and data generated therefrom) and the activities related to or supporting such trials, (ii) continue to conduct such On-Going Clinical Studies and provide to Adamas any and all results and data generated therefrom for a period requested by Adamas [\*], or (iii) terminate such On-Going Clinical Studies in a manner consistent with applicable Laws; provided, however, that in the event that Forest reasonably determines that an On-Going Clinical Study being run by Forest or its Affiliate would pose an unacceptable safety risk for subjects participating in such On-Going Clinical Study, then Forest shall not be obligated to continue such On-Going Clinical Study or to transfer control of such On-Going Clinical Study to Adamas, and Forest shall provide Adamas with a full explanation of Forest's safety issue concern and, if requested by Adamas, reasonable documentation thereof and such additional information in the Control of Forest or its Affiliates as of the Termination Effective Date (i.e., Forest shall not be required to generate or collect any new data) as may be necessary to permit Adamas to fully understand and assess the safety issue raised by Forest. Forest shall be responsible for all of its own costs and expenses associated with

Forest's activities under this Paragraph (e) for a period of [\*] after the Termination Effective Date and Adamas shall be responsible for all of its own costs and expenses (including all out-of-pocket costs and FTE Costs) associated with Adamas' activities under this Paragraph (e) and for all of Forest's costs and expenses after the specified [\*] period.

(f) Supply. If Forest or its Affiliate is Manufacturing, itself or through a Third Party, any Reverted FDC Product(s) (including any active pharmaceutical ingredient(s) related thereto) as of the Termination Effective Date, then Forest (or its Affiliate) shall, or shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cause such Third Party to, at Adamas' request, continue to provide such Reverted FDC Product(s) (and/or any active pharmaceutical ingredient(s) included therein solely for use in Manufacturing such Reverted FDC Product(s)) for sale in in the Territory to Adamas, at a price equal to (i) in the case of supply by Forest or its Affiliate, [\*] or (ii) in the case of supply by such Third Party, [\*], in each case ((i) and (ii) from the Termination Effective Date until such time as Adamas is able to secure an acceptable alternative manufacturing source from which sufficient quantities of such Reverted FDC Product may be procured, but in any event [\*] after the Termination Effective Date (or for a longer period if agreed upon by the Parties in writing); provided that Adamas shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to secure an acceptable alternative manufacturing source for the Reverted FDC Product(s) as promptly as practicable; provided further that the provisions of this Paragraph

[\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

21

- (f) shall be subject to [\*] and [\*] arising from the sale of such Reverted FDC Product(s) pursuant to this Paragraph (f) or any subsequent sale of such Reverted FDC Product(s) by Adamas.
- (g) Commercialization Wind-Down. To avoid disruption of supply of any Reverted FDC Product(s) to patients if this Agreement is terminated after the launch of such Reverted FDC Product(s) in the Territory, subject to the last sentence of this Paragraph (g), Forest and its Affiliates and Sublicensees shall continue to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to distribute and sell such Reverted FDC Product(s) in the Territory, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, until the date on which Adamas notifies Forest that Adamas has arranged for an alternate method for distributing the Reverted FDC Product(s) in the Territory, but [\*] from the Termination Effective Date (the "Wind-Down Period"), provided that Adamas may terminate such activities upon [\*] notice to Forest; provided further that Adamas shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to secure such alternate arrangements as promptly as practicable. If Adamas requests that Forest and its Affiliates and Sublicensees distribute and sell such Reverted FDC Product(s) during the Wind-Down Period, Adamas shall grant, and hereby grants, to Forest for the duration of the Wind-Down Period, a non-exclusive license under any and all applicable Patent Rights and Trademark Rights Controlled by Adamas or its Affiliates to use, sell, offer to sell, have sold, import and otherwise Commercialize such Reverted FDC Product(s) in the Field in the Territory, solely to perform such distribution and sale with respect to such Reverted FDC Product(s) as requested by Adamas during the Wind-Down Period. For the avoidance of doubt, during the Wind-Down Period, Adamas shall have the right to engage one or more other partner(s) or distributor(s) for Reverted FDC Products in the Territory during the Wind-Down Period. Any Reverted FDC Products sold or disposed by Forest or its Affiliates or Sublicensees during the Wind-Down Period shall constitute Net Sales of FDC Products and shall be subject to any applicable payment obligations under Article VI. Within [\*] following the expiration of the Wind-Down Period, Forest shall notify Adamas of any quantities of such Reverted FDC Product(s) (including any active pharmaceutical ingredients or other raw materials or work-in-process inventory specifically allocated by Forest or its Affiliates or Sublicensees to the Manufacture of such Reverted FDC Product(s)) remaining in Forest's or its Affiliate's or Sublicensee's inventory for the Territory, and Adamas shall purchase such quantities of such Reverted FDC Product(s) and such raw materials or work-in-process inventory from Forest at a price equal to [\*]. Upon receipt of payment therefor, Forest shall promptly transfer to Adamas such quantities of inventory. Notwithstanding anything in this Paragraph (g), Forest may immediately cease Commercialization of any Reverted FDC Product in the Territory for a safety reason at any time.
- (h) Agreements. Upon Adamas' request, any agreement to which Forest or its Affiliate or Sublicensee is a party and which relates solely to one or more Reverted FDC Product(s) in the form existing as of the Termination Effective Date shall (subject to obtaining any Third Party's consent to such assignment) be assigned to Adamas, and if not so assigned, the Parties shall coordinate to ensure that Adamas obtains the benefits under such contracts as reasonably necessary to exercise its rights and licenses hereunder until Adamas is able to execute a written agreement directly with the other party to such agreement providing such benefits or a comparable alternate arrangement, but in no event more than [\*] from the Termination Effective Date; provided that Adamas shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to execute a written agreement directly with the other party to such agreement during such [\*] period. Forest shall
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

22

use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to assist Adamas in negotiating and executing such an agreement with such counterparty. Without limiting the foregoing, Forest's (and any of its Affiliates') sublicenses to Third Parties with respect to the Reverted FDC Products shall be assigned to Adamas to the extent possible under the terms of the applicable sublicense and to the extent that the applicable sublicense solely relates to the Reverted FDC Products, subject to such Sublicensee's prior written consent (in which case, such Sublicensee shall be exempt from the other provisions of this Schedule 11.2(e)).

- (i) Transition. With respect to matters not already covered above in Paragraphs (a) through (h), the Parties agree, and agree on behalf of their Affiliates, at each Party's expense, to reasonably cooperate with each other (and their designees) as necessary to facilitate a smooth, orderly and prompt transition of the ongoing Development, Manufacturing and Commercialization of the Reverted FDC Products in the Territory within [\*] of the Termination Effective Date.
- (j) Additional Matters. Upon the Termination Effective Date, the Parties' rights and obligations under this Agreement shall terminate with respect to the FDC Products (including any license granted to Forest hereunder with respect to such FDC Products), except that (A) those provisions expressly set forth in this ARTICLE XI as surviving such termination shall survive; and (B) the following provisions shall survive with respect to the FDC Products (until expiration of this Agreement, after which such provisions shall survive solely as set forth in Section 11.7): [\*]. In addition, [\*] survives as set forth therein, including for clarity with regard to Development of FDC Products by Adamas, its Affiliates and (sub)licensees for the Territory if [\*] or [\*], and [\*] survives as set forth therein, [\*] or [\*] with regard to the FDC Products [\*] or [\*]. Finally, for clarity, Adamas' obligations in Section [\*] shall apply with respect to the Adamas FDC Patent Rights. Subject to the foregoing, all provisions of this Agreement with respect to Products other than FDC Products shall, for clarity, survive such a termination and in no event shall such a termination be construed to modify or limit any rights or obligations of a Party with respect to any Product other than an FDC Product.
- [\*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 406 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.